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DEFINED TERMS

Deutsche Telekom AG is a private stock corporation organized under the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany

(the “Federal Republic™). As used in this annual report on Form 20-F (“Annual Report”), unless the context otherwise
requires, the term “Deutsche Telekom” refers to Deutsche Telekom AG, and the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “Gr
refer to Deutsche Telekom and, as applicable, Deutsche Telekom and its direct and indirect subsidiaries as a group.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information contained in this Annual Report has been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are statements that are not
historical facts. Examples of forward-looking statements include statements concerning:

¢ plans, objectives and expectations relating to future operations, products and services;
® our prospective share of new and existing markets;

e plans, objectives and expectations for our cost savings and workforce reduction programs and the impact of other
significant strategic, labor or business initiatives, including acquisitions, dispositions and business combinations,
and our network upgrade and expansion initiatives;

¢ the potential impact of regulatory actions on our financial condition and operations;

our shareholder remuneration policy and the payment of dividends and/or conduct of possible share
repurchases;

¢ the possible outcomes and effects of litigation, investigations, contested regulatory proceedings and other disputes;
e future general telecommunications sector and macroeconomic growth rates; and

e our future revenues, expenditures and performance.

99 ¢ 99 e

Forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “estimate,” “aim,
“plan,” “will,” “will continue,” “seek,” “outlook,” “guidance” and similar expressions. The “Risk Factors” discussion in Item 3
“Management Overview” and “Outlook” discussion in Item 5, the "Dividend Policy" discussion in Item 8 and the
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk™ discussion in Item 11, in particular, contain numerous
forward-looking statements, although such statements also appear elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Forward-looking statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections. You should consider them with
caution. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statement in light of new information or future events. Forward-looking statements
involve inherent risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and are generally beyond our control.
We caution you that a number of important factors could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from
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those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. These factors include, among others:

e changes in general economic and business conditions, including a continuous deterioration in the economic
environment, in the markets in which we and our subsidiaries and associated companies operate;

e the level of demand for telecommunications services in the markets we serve, particularly for wireless

telecommunications services, broadband access lines, voice and data traffic, new higher-value products and
services, and new rate offerings;

e changes in government policies and new legislation;
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regulatory developments and changes, including with respect to the levels of tariffs, terms of interconnection,
customer access and international settlement arrangements;

our ability to secure and retain the licenses needed to offer new and existing services and the cost of these licenses
and related network infrastructure build-outs, particularly with respect to advanced services;

competitive forces, including pricing pressures, technological developments and alternative routing developments,
all of which affect our ability to gain or retain market share and revenues in the face of competition from existing

and new market entrants;

the effects of our customer acquisition and retention initiatives, particularly in the fixed-line voice telephony
business, the mobile telecommunications business and our interconnection business;

e the effects of industry consolidation on the markets in which we operate, particularly with respect to our
mobile and leased lines businesses;

the success of new business, operating and financial initiatives, many of which involve substantial start-up costs
and are untested, and of new systems and applications, particularly with regard to the integration of service

offerings;

our ability to achieve cost savings and realize productivity improvements, particularly with respect to our
workforce-reduction initiatives, while at the same time enhancing customer service quality;

e our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, particularly in view of our cost reduction efforts;

concerns over health risks associated with the use of wireless mobile devices and other health and safety risks
related to radio frequency emissions;

risks of infrastructure failures or damage due to external factors, including natural disasters, intentional
wrongdoing, sabotage, acts of terrorism or similar events;

¢ the outcome of litigation, disputes and investigations in which we are involved or may become involved;

risks and uncertainties relating to the benefits anticipated from our international expansion, including in the United
States;

risks and costs associated with integrating our acquired businesses and with selling or combining businesses or
other assets;

e the progress of our domestic and international investments, joint ventures, partnerships and alliances;

the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, particularly in connection with subsidiaries operating outside the
euro zone;

¢ instability and volatility in worldwide financial markets;
the availability, terms and deployment of capital, particularly in view of our financing alternatives, actions of the

rating agencies, developments in the banking sector and the impact of regulatory and competitive developments on
our capital outlays; and
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¢ the level of demand in the market for our debt obligations, and for the debt obligations of our subsidiaries and
associated companies, and our shares, as well as for assets that we may decide to sell, which may affect our
financing and acquisition strategies.
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Certain of these factors are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this Annual Report, including, without limitation,
in Item 3, Item 4 and Item 5. We caution investors that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive.
If these factors or other risks and uncertainties materialize, or if the assumptions underlying any of these statements
prove incorrect, our actual performance and future actions may materially differ from those expressed or implied by
forward-looking statements. We can offer no assurance that our estimates or expectations will be achieved or that we
will be able to achieve our policy aims. When reviewing forward-looking statements contained in this document,
investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors, as well as other uncertainties and events and their
potential impact on our operations and businesses.

Certain information in this Annual Report has been provided by external sources. Due to the rapid changes in our
industry, it is possible that some of this information is no longer accurate. Assessments of market share in particular

involve the use of information released or estimated by regulatory authorities, our competitors, third parties or us.

World Wide Web addresses contained in this Annual Report are for explanatory purposes only and they (and the
content contained therein) do not form a part of, and are not incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report.

3
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PART 1
ITEM 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisors

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. Key Information

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected consolidated financial and operating information. This selected consolidated
financial and operating information should be read together with “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto that are included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

The selected consolidated financial information as of and for each of the five years ended December 31, 2005 through
2009 are extracted or derived from our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, which have been
audited by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (“E&Y’) and PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (“PwC”).

4
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data of the Deutsche Telekom Group

% Change
2009/2008(1)(2) 2009 2008 2007 2006

(billions of €, except as otherwise indicated)
Income Statement Data
Net revenues 4.8 64.6 61.7 62.5 61.3
Domestic 2.9 ) 28.0 28.9 30.7 324
International 11.6 36.6 32.8 31.8 28.9
Profit from operations (14.6 ) 6.0 7.0 53 5.3
Profit attributable to owners of
the parent (76.2 ) 04 1.5 0.6 3.2
Statement of Financial Position
Total assets 3.8 127.8 123.1 120.7 130.2
Total financial liabilities (in
accordance with the
consolidated statement of
financial position) 9.9 51.2 46.6 42.9 46.5
Shareholders’ equity 2.7 ) 419 43.1 45.2 49.7
Cash Flow Data(3)
Net cash from operating
activities 2.8 15.8 15.4 13.7 14.2
Net cash used in investing
activities 24.0 (8.6 ) (114 ) (8.1 ) (143
Net cash used in financing
activities (65.4 ) (5.1 ) (3.1 ) (6.1 ) (2.1
Ratios and Selected Data
Additions to intangible assets
(including goodwill) and
property, plant and equipment 13.3 11.5 10.1 9.1 13.4
Capital expenditures(3) (5.7) 9.2 ) (8.7 ) (8.0 ) (11.8)
Number of employees averaged
over the year (full-time
employees excluding trainees)
(thousands) 9.7 258 235 244 248
Revenues per employee
(thousands of euro)(4) 4.5 ) 250.8 262.5 256.5 246.9
Earnings per share/ADS—basic
and diluted euro)(5) (76.5 ) 0.08 0.34 0.13 0.74
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding
(basic) (millions) 0.0 4,340 4,340 4,339 4,353
Total number of ordinary shares
at the reporting date (millions) 0.0 4,361 4,361 4,361 4,361
Dividend per share/ADS
(euro)(5)(6) 0.0 0.78 0.78 0.78 0.72
Dividend per share/ADS (U.S.
dollar)(5)(6)(7) 2.8 1.12 1.09 1.21 0.98
€] Percentage change based on figures expressed in millions.
)

2005

59.6
34.2
254
7.6
5.6

128.5

46.7
48.6
15.1
(10.1

8.0

11.1
9.3)

244
244.3

1.31

4,335
4,198
0.72

0.91

12
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In this Annual Report, increases in the size of negative numbers are expressed in percentage terms with negative
percentage amounts, and decreases in the size of negative numbers are expressed with positive percentage
amounts.

3) In accordance with the statement of cash flows.

(4)Calculated on the basis of the average number of employees for the year, excluding trainees, apprentices and
student interns.

(5) ADS refers to the Deutsche Telekom’s American Depositary Shares, which are traded on the New York Stock
Exchange, NYSE. One ADS corresponds to one ordinary share of Deutsche Telekom AG.

(6)Dividends per share are presented on the basis of the year in respect of which they are declared, not the year in
which they are paid. The proposed 2009 dividend per share amounts are subject to approval by the shareholders at
the annual shareholders’ meeting.

(7)Dividend amounts have been translated into U.S. dollars (using exchange rates published by the European Central
Bank) for the relevant dividend payment date, which occurred during the second quarter of the following year,
except for the 2009 amount, which has been translated using the applicable rate on December 31, 2009. As a result,
the actual U.S. dollar amount at the time of payment may vary from the amount shown here.

13
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Exchange Rates
Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts in this Annual Report are expressed in euros.

As used in this document, “euro,” “EUR” or “€” means the single unified currency that was introduced in the Federal
Republic and ten other participating Member States of the European Union on January 1, 1999. “U.S. dollar,” “USD” or “$”
means the lawful currency of the United States. “Pound sterling” or “GBP” means the lawful currency of the United
Kingdom.

So that you may more easily ascertain how the trends in our financial results might have appeared had they been
expressed in U.S. dollars, the following table shows, for the periods indicated, the average, high and low exchange
rates for euros, expressed in U.S. dollars per EUR 1.00, as published by the European Central Bank:

Average

Year or Month (D) High Low
(in $ per €)

2005 1.2380
2006 1.2630
2007 1.3797
2008 1.4726
2009 1.3963
2009
August - 1.4410 1.4072
September - 1.4783 1.4220
October - 1.5020 1.4537
November - 1.5083 1.4658
December - 1.5120 1.4276
2010
January - 1.4563 1.3966
February (through February 23) - 1.3984 1.3519
1 The average of the exchange rates on the last business day of each month during the relevant period.

On February 23, 2010, the exchange rate was USD 1.377 per EUR 1.00.

Our shares trade on German stock exchanges, including the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, in euros. Fluctuations in the
exchange rate between the euro and the U.S. dollar will affect the U.S. dollar equivalent of the euro price of the shares
on the German stock exchanges and, as a result, are likely to affect the market price of our ADSs on the New York
Stock Exchange. When we declare cash dividends, they are declared in euros, and exchange rate fluctuations affect the
U.S. dollar amounts you would receive if you are a holder of American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) evidencing ADSs
upon conversion of cash dividends on the shares represented by your ADSs.

14
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RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report, investors in our securities should carefully
consider the risks described below. Our financial condition or results of operations, or the trading prices of our
securities, could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks.

The following discussion contains a number of forward-looking statements. Please refer to the “Forward-Looking
Statements” discussion at the front of this Annual Report for cautionary information.

An economic downturn, a substantial slowdown in economic growth or deterioration in consumer spending could
adversely affect our customers’ purchases of our products and services in each of our operating segments, which could
have a negative impact on our operating results and financial condition.

Our business is influenced by general economic conditions in Germany, Europe and the United States. The economic
outlook for 2010 signals a slight recovery, including in our largest markets in Europe and the United States, but the
global economic situation remains fragile.

A continuous deterioration in the economic environment could have an adverse effect on the level of demand by our
individual customers for our products and services and the willingness of our business customers to invest in
information and communications technology (ICT). This could, in turn, jeopardize the attainment of our growth
targets, such as those relating to multimedia services in mobile telecommunications, or those relating to broadband
products and services based on digital subscriber line (DSL) technology.

Because we operate in heavily regulated business environments, decisions that regulatory authorities impose on us
restrict flexibility in managing our business and may force us to offer services to competitors, or reduce the prices we
charge for our products and services, either of which could have a material negative impact on our revenues, profits
and market shares.

We are subject to strict regulation in all of our fixed-line and mobile markets in Europe and the United States.
Government agencies regularly intervene in the offerings and in the pricing of our fixed-line and mobile products and
services. Regulation can impede our ability to grow and to react to the initiatives of competitors and technological
change.

Amendments to the EU Telecommunications Framework entered into force on December 17, 2009. Whether the
revised regulatory framework will increase or decrease the regulatory burden on us will depend on the manner in
which revised directives are subsequently implemented in the EU Member States, and how the revised regulatory
framework will be applied by the respective National Regulatory Authorities.

In June 2009, the European Commission also proposed a draft recommendation on regulated access to Next
Generation Access Networks, or NGA, such as access to new and existing ducts, civil engineering structures and other
elements which are not active and necessary for the roll-out of fiber-based telecommunications infrastructure. The
objective of the recommendation is to regulate fiber-based telecommunications infrastructure and access. If this
recommendation is implemented as currently drafted may cause a decrease in our revenues and may impact the extent
and timing of our NGA build-out.

The German telecommunications regulatory framework implemented by the Federal Network Agency

(Bundesnetzagentur) has an especially significant impact on our domestic business. So far, we have been exempted
from regulation on the basis of a loss of significant market power in markets of relatively minor importance only, such

15
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as the market for fixed-line international calls.

Additionally, since we are offering mobile and fixed-line triple-play services (“triple-play” includes high-speed Internet
access, communications services and entertainment offerings), media regulation may become increasingly important

to our business. This regulation might restrict our ability to provide media services, including the delivery of content,
and could also result in additional costs for technical implementation measures needed to comply with increased
regulation.

Mobile Telecommunications Operations

Regulatory authorities supervise our mobile telecommunications operations in the countries in which we operate. We
expect a tightening of regulatory control in the area of mobile telecommunications, with a probable negative effect on
pricing and revenues, for example as a result of further reductions in international roaming charges for the wholesale
and retail voice market, international data and SMS roaming charges, call termination charges and possible access
regulation in some markets. In Europe, national regulatory authorities and various EU bodies have the power to
regulate based on market investigations or reviews.

7
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With respect to international roaming charges for the wholesale and retail voice market, a European Union-wide
regulation, valid until June 2010, is presently in place. On July 1, 2009, a new EU roaming regulation came into force
and expanded the existing regulation to non-voice roaming services until June 30, 2012. Besides additional reduction
of wholesale and retail voice roaming tariffs, SMS roaming charges were reduced and furthermore, price caps for
wholesale data roaming tariffs and additional transparency measures have been introduced. This expansion of existing
regulation has an additional negative effect on our roaming revenues.

Mobile call termination charges are also subject to regulatory measures in countries with mobile telecommunications
operations that can have a negative effect on revenues. Various reviews of call termination rates and court proceedings
relating to regulatory measures are pending in several of those markets. The European Commission intends to further
reduce the termination rates significantly and has therefore issued a recommendation that defines details for the
calculation of termination rates by the National Regulatory Authorities. The recommendation neglects significant
parts of the costs of mobile operators in the termination rate calculation. Despite these serious negative consequences
for the mobile industry the recommendation was adopted in May 2009. If the European Commission were to further
reduce termination rates, it may have an adverse effect on the profitability of our mobile-telecommunications
operations in Europe.

Our operations in the United States are regulated primarily by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) and

by various other federal, state and local governmental agencies. These governmental agencies may also exercise
jurisdiction over mobile telecommunications operators. The FCC is continually considering whether to establish new
rules and policies, many of which, if implemented could impose significant costs and burdens on our business. The
most significant areas of concern include whether the FCC makes available additional spectrum for next generation
wireless offerings in a reasonable timeframe and ensures that existing spectrum holdings remain free and clear of any
radio interference concerns. The FCC is also considering imposing new “net neutrality” regulations on wireless carriers
that could, depending on how they are defined, restrict a carrier’s ability to manage its network. In addition, many state
and local governments regulate various aspects of wireless operations, affecting our business practices and the
carrier-customer relationship. In particular, consumer regulation at the federal or state level can impact a variety of
carrier practices in this area including for example early termination fees, trial periods, billing practices and

marketing. Any state or federal regulation could have a potentially adverse effect on our mobile telecommunications
business in the United States, as would any failure to comply with applicable regulations. Some U.S. states have taken
actions to regulate various aspects of wireless operations including customer billing, termination of service
arrangements and advertising. Any of those agencies could adopt regulations or take other actions that could adversely
affect our business. If we fail to comply with applicable regulations, we may be subject to sanctions, which may have
an adverse effect on our mobile telecommunications business in the United States.

Fixed-Network Operations

We believe that, for the foreseeable future, the Federal Network Agency is likely to consider us a provider with
significant market power in various German markets for public voice telephony services in the fixed-line network and
in other markets, including most of those in which we held monopoly rights in the past. Access and price regulation
apply primarily to telecommunications services that are considered to involve an operator with "significant market
power." As a result, we expect that the strict regulatory provisions of the German Telecommunications Act relating to
providers with significant market power will continue to be applied to our activities in those markets. Considering that
in many markets our competitors are unlikely to gain significant market power in the near future, we expect that we
will have to compete in important markets with providers not subject to these regulatory obligations. Therefore, these
competitors may be expected to have more flexibility than we have in terms of the types of services offered and
customers served, pricing and the granting of network access.

17
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We are required to offer an Internet Protocol (IP) Bitstream Access product in the wholesale-market and are therefore
required to offer unbundled broadband access to competitors since April 2008. According to the key elements of the
draft market analysis and regulatory order on bitstream access published on October 21, 2009, the Federal Network
Agency intends to rely on ex-post regulation but will expand the scope of regulation to include all wholesale bitstream
access products, including also new VDSL wholesale services and including the transfer of traffic to a minimum of
one point of presence (PoP) whereas until today, a carrier must connect to 73 PoP in order to provide BSA-based retail
services on a nationwide basis. The final adoption of this market analysis and regulatory order is expected in the first
quarter of 2010.

According to a regulatory order, we must grant access to competitors to ducts and street cabinets. The replication of
VDSL products, in particular by our competitors using their own infrastructures, is therefore being made easier at our
expense. This will have a negative impact on our revenue and results of operations, even if we offer our competitors a
VDSL product on a voluntary basis. The Federal Network Agency specified the obligations concerning access to cable
ducts, dark fiber and co-location within street cabinets on December 4, 2009. We applied for corresponding tariffs in
mid-January 2010 and expect a decision in the first quarter of 2010 regarding prices relating to access to ducts and
collocation within the street cabinets.

8
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We are involved in a number of pending legal proceedings regarding decisions of the Federal Network Agency that
concern access charges relating to the local loop. Unbundled local loop charges for monthly rental, as determined by
the Federal Network Agency for the period from February 1999 to March 2001, were revoked. The Court criticized
the Federal Network Agency’s calculation method for unbundled local loop costs. The Court ruling concerning
unbundled local loop charges for the period from 1999 to 2001 became effective in October 2009. As a result, the
Federal Network Agency must now decide again on our rate approval applications of 1999. Unbundled local loop
charges for monthly rental as well as for one-off services, as determined by the Federal Network Agency for the
period April 2001 to March 2003, were also revoked by the Cologne Administrative Court. These rulings are not yet
effective due to pending claims of the Federal Network Agency and Deutsche Telekom at the German Federal
Administrative Court. It is not possible at present to estimate whether these decisions will require Deutsche Telekom
to make payments or price adjustments and if so, in what amount.

Our fixed-line subsidiaries in Southern and Eastern Europe are subject to regulatory provisions and risks that are
similar to those affecting our fixed-line operations in Germany. For example, we are designated an operator with
significant market power in most fixed-line markets in which we operate, including in Hungary, Slovakia, Croatia and
Greece. The provision of telecommunications services in Greece is subject to regulation based on European Union
legislation, competition law and ex-ante sector-specific regulation transposed in 2006 in the Greek
Telecommunications Law. A second round of analysis of the markets for wholesale broadband access and wholesale
(physical) network infrastructure access (including shared or fully unbundled access) at a fixed location was
concluded by in the Greek NRA in July 2009. The Greek NRA defined the Hellenic Telecommunications
Organization S.A., (" OTE") as having significant market power and imposed additional obligations. The business
impact of increased regulation on our subsidiaries in Southern and Eastern Europe will depend on the way in which
national regulatory authorities use their powers, and the extent to which our competitors take advantage of regulatory
decisions designed to foster increased competition.

For further information regarding the matters discussed above and other aspects of the regulatory environments to
which our businesses are subject, see “Item 4. Information on the Company — Regulation” and “Item 8. Financial
Information — Legal Proceedings.”

We face intense competition in all areas of our business, which could lead to reduced prices for our products and
services and a decrease in market share in certain service areas, thereby adversely affecting our revenues and net
profit.

Germany

In Germany, fixed-line network voice telephony service revenues and prices have continued to decline, primarily due
to intense competition and adverse decisions imposed by the national regulation authorities, and also due to customers’
ongoing substitution of mobile telecommunications and VolP services for fixed-line usage.

Due to competitive pressures from cable operators, mobile operators and fixed-line carriers, we continued to lose
market share in 2009. We expect a further increase in competition from cable operators, in particular, offerings of
product bundles for telephone and broadband access lines, which are increasingly offered in more regions throughout
Germany. Furthermore, the switch of mobile operators’ focus from pure mobile services towards fixed-line offerings,
regulatory actions by the Federal Network Agency and the increasing quality and acceptance of VoIP services will
increase pressure on our market shares, revenues and margins.

Additional local and regional network operators are expanding their presence to include other major cities and regions.

In the future, we could face even fiercer competition and lose further market share if our competitors were to combine
their businesses.
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Existing mobile substitution effects are intensified by the proliferation of MVNOs. Reduced prices for mobile
telecommunications services (e.g., on the basis of lower flat rates without call-based charges and regulatory decisions
regarding mobile telephony termination rates) could further increase pricing pressure on our fixed-line services.
Furthermore, mobile operators are increasingly engaging in reselling DSL product bundles provided by other
fixed-line operators, and this continues to have an adverse effect on our fixed-line network revenues.

The German markets for Internet access and portal services, especially within the broadband market, have been, and
will continue to be, highly competitive and are increasingly saturated. Prices for broadband flat rates have been
steadily declining. Our future competitive position in the broadband/fixed-network business in Germany will be
affected by pricing, network speed and reliability, services offered, customer support and its ability to be
technologically adept and innovative. The regulatory environment can also exert a significant influence on the level of
competition. We expect that our competitors will continue to pursue new broadband customers aggressively. In the
market for portal services and content, competition is also intense due to low barriers to entry. In addition, a weaker
economy may increase pressure on our revenues and margins in these markets. Furthermore, recent regulatory
decisions have required us to offer to our competitors an IP Bitstream Access product, which enables our competitors
to expand their operations throughout Germany without building their own infrastructure.

Part of the challenge in the fixed-network business in Germany continues to be the improvement of our reputation for
customer service while implementing cost-saving measures. If we do not continue to improve our customer service
sustainably, there is a risk that we might not stop our overall continuing loss of fixed-network customers in the
German market.

9

20



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents

Competition in the German mobile telecommunications segment with established players such as Vodafone, E-Plus
and O2 is intensive and can be expected to increase further in the future. Growing competition is also fostered by
resellers and “no-frills” operators, offering discount rates without significant minimum-contract term obligations. With
our “Congstar” brand, we also participate in this market, primarily as a measure to prevent churn from our established
“T-Mobile” premium brand.

In terms of the mobile share of “total telecommunications minutes”, Germany consistently lags behind the European
average. Although the number of “mobile minutes” is still growing in Germany, the respective growth rates are
constantly declining since early 2008. This makes it all the more difficult to compensate price declines by higher
usage.

As the German market for mobile telecommunications has become increasingly saturated (we believe the overall
penetration rate to be well above 100%), the focus of competition has been shifting from customer acquisition to
customer retention, and increasing the quality and value of existing customers. Accordingly, if we are unable to offer
increased quality and better value to our customers, our market share and revenues may not grow as we have
anticipated in our plans.

United States

In the United States, each of T-Mobile USA’s three main national competitors — AT&T, Verizon Wireless and
Sprint/Nextel — is significantly larger than T-Mobile USA. Their scale could afford them significant structural and
competitive advantages in this market. This situation presents T-Mobile USA with a long-term challenge to compete
effectively in terms of pricing, products, coverage and the introduction of new technologies and services. Intense
competition from various regional and other small national operators also exists in T-Mobile USA’s markets. Partly,
these competitors operate on alternative business models within the traditional wireless space that pose potential to
negatively affect T-Mobile USA’s ability to attract and retain customers, such as low-cost unlimited prepaid offerings
(offered by, e.g., regional carriers Leap and MetroPCS, as well as Boost).

In addition to traditional competitors, the entrance and influence of non-wireless carriers, such as manufacturers,
service providers and cable providers, could cause further pressure on the wireless industry and T-Mobile USA.

The incumbent wireless industry is experiencing disruptive innovation on many fronts. For example, Apple
transformed the device market with the launch of the iPhone, and Clearwire hopes to transform the market with fixed
mobile convergence. As wireless networks open in response to consumer demand (and threatened
legislative/regulatory actions) and diverse industries converge on the wireless communications industry, the era of
limited choices (walled gardens controlled by incumbent wireless carriers) will increasingly shift to a new era of an
abundance of options in devices, providers, and services. This dynamic environment poses opportunity for companies
who identify and recognize opportunities within the threats, although a significantly higher level of inherent risk
comes with dynamism than with a stable industry landscape.

Despite the continued difficult economic context, the wireless industry is faring better than most industries (wireless
spending is becoming less discretionary in the U.S.), but the industry is not immune from the cost-reduction efforts of
consumers and changes in consumer credit-worthiness. As the overall drop in customer growth intensifies, and price
competition also in the Contract area becomes more perceptible, a comprehensive 3G coverage and attractive
“smartphone” offerings will be key to T-Mobile USA’s sustained commercial success.

Since T-Mobile USA is a significant contributor to our overall revenues and customer growth, a further slowdown or

decline in the business of T-Mobile USA could have a material adverse effect on the attainment of the growth targets
and profitability of our Group as a whole.
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Europe

Competition in the European mobile telecommunications markets run by our Europe operating segment is intense and
can be expected to increase in the future. Growing competition results, in part, from the market entry of low cost
carriers, such as mobile virtual network operators, or MVNOs, which use the networks of other operators at volume
discounts, and from market consolidation. If prices for mobile telecommunications services continue to decline
through competition and/or regulation more than anticipated and this decline is not compensated for by higher usage,
planned objectives may not be achieved. In addition, mobile network operators’ expansion of product offerings into the
fixed-line sector may result in a competitive disadvantage for our mobile telecommunications operations in countries
in which we offer only mobile communications services. Moreover, technologies such as W-LAN, WiMax and Voice
over Internet Protocol (VoIP), which can be used with existing hardware and platforms, could drive voice and data
traffic from mobile networks, which could lead to significant price and revenue reductions.

As European markets have become increasingly saturated, the focus of competition has been shifting from customer
acquisition to customer retention, and increasing the quality and value of existing customers. Accordingly, if we are
unable to offer increased quality and better value to our customers, our market share and revenues may not grow as we
have anticipated in our plans.

10
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Southern and Eastern Europe

Through our investments in OTE, our subsidiary in Greece, and Magyar Telekom, our subsidiary in Hungary, and our
subsidiaries Hrvatski Telekom and Slovak Telekom, we have market presence in various countries of the Southern
and Eastern European region, offering integrated or either mobile or fixed-network telecommunications services.

All of our Southern and Eastern European companies face intense competition and difficult economic conditions. As
in other operating segments, growing competition results, to a different extent in each regional market, from the
market entry of alternative carriers (such as Cable TV operators) or low cost carriers (such as MVNOs), technology
shifts (such as IP-based telecommunications networks) and from market consolidation.

In Greece, risk exists in the area of infrastructure roll-out, including VDSL and FTTX. The Greek government
announcement an initiative to support a passive optical network across Greece that would provide open access to all
fixed-network providers and, as a result, increase competition. The impact of this development on OTE and the related
financial risk to us cannot be quantified at this point.

Systems Solutions

Our Systems Solutions business is subject to risks associated with the general and regional economies of its customers
and the willingness and ability of its customers to invest in information and communications technology services and
products. The ICT market is shaped by long sales cycles, severe competition and declining prices. The result is
downward pressure on revenues and margins, which has been exacerbated by the global economic crisis.

Depending on the economic development and their impact on our customers in 2010, T-Systems will continue to be
affected. For example, cost-cutting programs and postponement or cancellation of investments of our customers can
have a negative impact on T-System’s revenues and margins. In this business environment, further cost reductions will
force T-Systems to rely on the development of lower cost near- and off shore capacities in both IT Outsourcing and
the System Integration business.

In addition, the international growth potential of T-Systems may be constrained by its limited brand recognition in
some national markets, at least compared to that of competitors who may be more established there, particularly as
this relates to maintaining and increasing business with multinational companies outside of Germany. Additionally the
relatively small size of some international T-Systems units may require expensive additional management resources
from Germany.

If T-Systems’ focus on multinational customers and its service offerings, such as dynamic SAP services or Cloud
Computing are not successful, T-Systems may lose market share to its competitors, suffer reduced revenues and incur
losses.

For more information, see “Item 4. Information on the Company — Description of Business.”

We may realize neither the expected level of demand for our products and services, nor the expected level or timing of
revenues generated by those products and services, as a result of lack of market acceptance, technological change or
delays from suppliers, which could adversely affect our cash flows.

There is a risk that we will not succeed in making customers sufficiently aware of existing and future value-added
services or in creating customer acceptance of these services at the prices we would want to charge. There is also a
risk that we will not identify trends correctly, or that we will not be able to bring new services to market as quickly or
price-competitively as our competitors. These risks exist, in particular, with respect to our anticipated future growth

23



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

drivers in the mobile telecommunications area, such as mobile data services or other advanced technologies (which
are supported by advanced “smartphone” products such as the iPhone and the T-Mobile G1 phone), and in the fixed-line
telecommunications area, such as triple-play services, which include telephone, Internet and television services.

Under the “Entertain” product name, we provide our customers in Germany with comprehensive triple-play offerings.
The market acceptance for these new products and services could be negatively affected by an unwillingness to pay

for additional features. Since the content and technology of the product are very complex, we may find it difficult to
convey an understanding of the product’s benefits to our customers via our traditional sales channels. In addition, some
of our competitors offer similar or pared-down products. These factors could lead to a potential reduction of the
perceived value of “Entertain” to our customers with adverse effects on our pricing models, revenues and profit margins.

11
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Further, as a result of rapid technological progress, and the trend towards technological convergence, there is a danger
that new and established information and telecommunications technologies or products may not only fail to
complement one another, but in some cases may even substitute for one another. An example of this is VoIP, a
technology that is already established in the business customer market. VoIP has now reached the consumer market as
well and, as a technology that competes directly with traditional fixed-line telephony services, VoIP has the potential
to reduce further our market share and revenues in our fixed-line business. The introduction of mobile handsets with
VolIP functionality may also adversely affect our pricing structures and market share in our mobile voice telephony
business. If we do not appropriately anticipate the demand for new technologies, and adapt our strategies and cost
structures accordingly, we may be unable to compete effectively, with the result that our business activities, financial
condition and results may suffer.

For more information, see “Item 4. Information on the Company—Description of Business.”

Some of our investments (such as in new spectrum licenses) to develop future products and services may involve
substantial cash outlays with no certainty of market acceptance or regulatory non-interference with license
requirements.

In 2010, the German Federal Network Agency is set to auction off certain recently released radio frequencies. The
terms and conditions for the award of new spectrum in the 800 MHz, 1.8 GHz, 2 GHz, and 2.6 GHz bands were
published in October 2009. In the United Kingdom, current proposals call for a combined auction of 800 MHz and
2.6 GHz spectrum in late 2010 with certain bidding restrictions, such as spectrum caps for incumbents and joint
ventures, release of spectrum already held by mobile telecommunications companies and wholesale and coverage
obligations. In the Netherlands, parliament began the discussion of new rules for the auction of 2.6 GHz spectrum in
spring 2009, and it is officially still expected to take place in the first quarter of 2010. In Austria, an auction for 2.6
GHz spectrum is now expected to take place in the second quarter of 2010. Depending on the outcome of these
auctions, a greater cash outlay than anticipated may be necessary to gain new spectrum in these countries, which
would negatively affect our cash-flow generation goals.

There is a risk that the return on our investments, in particular in new spectrum licenses and network infrastructure,
may negatively deviate from our plans. In addition to the negative impact on our cash flows, this could result in
significant write-downs of the value of spectrum or other licenses or other network-related investments.

Should we face a continuously deteriorating economic climate, we may decide, or be required, to scale back capital
expenditures. We believe that we have flexibility in terms of the amount and timing of our capital expenditure
program, but a lasting reduction in capital expenditure levels below certain thresholds could affect our future growth,
in particular in our mobile operations.

Failure to achieve our planned reduction and restructuring of personnel or our human resources-related cost-savings
goals could negatively affect our reputation and the achievement of our financial objectives and profitability.

Staff restructuring within the Deutsche Telekom Group in Germany continued on a socially conscious basis in 2009. It
was implemented essentially by means of voluntary redundancies, partial and early retirement, and employment
opportunities for civil servants and employees offered by Vivento, especially in the public sector. We will also
continue to restructure our workforce as required. If it is not possible to implement the corresponding measures to the
extent planned or not at all, this may have negative effects on our financial targets and profitability.

Deutsche Telekom and employee representatives agreed to 3,000 job cuts at T-Systems by 2010. The agreement
incorporates a series of measures, including help in searching for new jobs, a voluntary redundancy program and early
retirement options. In the first quarter of 2010, T-Systems will examine the level of take-up for the voluntary offers. If
the affected employees have not found alternative employment opportunities or accepted voluntary offers by then,
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they will be offered fixed-term employment in a transitional company. Should the desired workforce reduction targets
not be met, compulsory redundancies, which could have a negative impact on our corporate reputation in Germany,
cannot be ruled out.

The successful realization of our ongoing staff reduction program depends on a range of factors that are beyond our
control, such as the continued successful sale of non-core businesses, general developments in the labor market, the

demand for our retrained labor force, and the level of acceptance of the various severance offers and other voluntary
reduction measures. If the planned staff reduction targets are not achieved, this would have a negative effect on our

operating expenses and profitability.

For more information, see “Item 4. Information on the Company—Description of Business—Group Headquarters and
Shared Services” and “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Employees and Labor Relations—Other

Employees.”
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As a result of dispositions of certain non-core businesses in Germany, there is an increased risk of return of civil
servants transferred out of the Group, which could have a negative impact on our staff and cost reduction objectives.
Our employees who have civil servant status can, based on German civil service law, only be completely transferred
to the buyer of a business from us in exceptional cases. Therefore, as a general matter, such transferred civil servants
are placed on leave of absence while employed with the transferred business unit. Accordingly, in the event of
termination of employment with the transferred business unit, there is a risk that such civil servants will return to the
Deutsche Telekom Group. This risk of return can be reduced by an agreement on compensation payments, but it
cannot be completely eliminated. As of December 31, 2009, the total number of civil servants that can avail
themselves of this right of return to the Deutsche Telekom Group was 3,467, which represented a considerable
decrease over the 2008 year-end figure, chiefly as a result of some 400 civil servants actually returning to the
Deutsche Telekom Group from Strabag, Nokia Siemens Networks and the cable network operators.

If further Group units employing civil servants are disposed of, the risk of additional civil servants returning after the
end of their temporary leave may again increase. For further information regarding civil servants and general human
resources-related matters, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Employees and Labor Relations.”

Alleged health risks of wireless communications devices have led to litigation affecting markets with our mobile
telecommunications operations subsidiaries, and could lead to decreased wireless communications usage or increased
difficulty in obtaining sites for base stations and, as a result, adversely affect the financial condition and results of
operations of our wireless services business.

Media reports have suggested that radio frequency emissions from wireless mobile devices and cell sites may raise
various health concerns, including cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical devices, including
hearing aids and pacemakers. Research and studies are ongoing. The World Health Organization has indicated that it
will publish its recommendations for public policy in its Radio Frequency Environmental Health Criteria in 2011.
However, on the basis of current scientific knowledge, there are no known adverse effects on health from emissions at
levels below internationally recognized health and safety standards. We cannot provide assurance that research in the
future will not establish links between radio frequency emissions and health risks.

Whether or not such research or studies conclude there is a link between radio frequency emissions and health,
popular concerns about radio frequency emissions may discourage the use of wireless devices and may result in
significant restrictions on the location and operation of cell sites by our mobile telecommunications subsidiaries and
the usage of T-Home’s wireless devices, telephones or products using wireless technology. Such restrictions on use
could have material adverse effects on our results of operations.

T-Mobile USA is subject to current and potential litigation relating to these health concerns. Several class action and
individual lawsuits have been filed in the United States against T-Mobile USA and several other wireless service
operators and wireless telephone manufacturers, asserting product liability, breach of warranty and other claims
relating to radio frequency transmissions to and from wireless mobile devices. The complaints seek substantial
monetary damages as well as injunctive relief. To date, the cases filed against T-Mobile USA have been dismissed by
the trial courts, although one class action case is pending on appeal. The defense of lawsuits alleging adverse health
effects from wireless telephone use may divert management’s attention, and T-Mobile USA may be required to pay
significant awards or settlements and incur significant expenses in defending these lawsuits.

We do not know whether legislators, regulators or private litigants will refrain from taking other actions adverse to us,
based on the purported health-related risks associated with radio frequency emissions. Any such litigation, legislation
or adverse actions may result in additional costs and loss of revenues in our mobile communications businesses. For
more information, see “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.”
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We continuously engage in large-scale programs to reshape our information technology (IT) infrastructure to adapt to
changing customer needs and organizational requirements. Failure to effectively plan and monitor these activities
could lead to misallocations of resources and impaired processes with negative consequences for our operations.

The “Next Generation IT (NG IT)” program was launched in 2008 as a Group-wide framework for all IT-related
components of our transformation programs and the development of our future overall IT architecture. Its focus is on a
common platform to support IT projects and services in the future. The close cooperation between IT and business
areas plays a central role in this program. Flexibility, cost reduction, short response time to market changes and secure
management of business information are the major challenges for our future IT landscape. In order to tackle these
challenges, an architectural approach was developed to identify the necessary IT changes, taking into account
developments in business processes, in the production environment and in customer and product management.

Due to the enormous complexity of the implementation of this IT initiative, malfunctions, connectivity issues,
implementation delays, and other unforeseen problems, could result in costly process impairments and remediation,
and possible extended down-times of IT processes, and therefore frustrate the attainment of our goals in terms of cost
savings and quality improvements.
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One of our most important IT programs deals with the long-term development and implementation of a
comprehensive IP platform that will support both fixed-line and mobile telephony services. This means that the
traditional platform will be completely replaced by an IP-based system. Upon implementing this joint IP platform, we
will be subject to risks inherent in all IT systems connected to the Internet, such as hacker attacks, “spam calls” and
other disruptions. These risks could lead to a temporary interruption of our IT resources and, as a result, impair the
performance of our technical infrastructure.

System failures due to natural or man-made disruptions and loss of data could result in reduced user traffic and
reduced revenues and could harm our reputation and results.

Our technical infrastructure (including our network infrastructure for fixed-line network services and mobile
telecommunications services) and data may be damaged or disrupted by fire, lightning, flooding and other calamities,
technology failures, human error, terrorist attacks, hacker attacks and malicious actions (e.g., theft or misuse of
customer data), and other similar events. We attempt to mitigate these risks by employing a large number of measures,
including a comprehensive monitoring of our telecommunications networks, backup systems and protective systems
such as firewalls, virus scanners, and building security. In addition, we have implemented a global business continuity
management system at our corporate headquarters. We cannot, however, be certain that these measures will be
effective under all circumstances, and that disruptions (such as the network outage at T-Mobile Deutschland in April
2009 or the outage of a critical “Sidekick” user database in the U.S. in October 2009) or damages will not occur.
Disruption or damage to our infrastructure may result in reduced user traffic and revenues, increased costs, and
damage to our reputation.

Shortcomings in our supply and procurement process could negatively affect our product portfolio, revenues and
profits.

As a fully integrated ICT service provider, we cooperate with a wide range of different suppliers for technical
components and assemblies, as well as for software and other goods and information important to the conduct of our
business. Although we do not believe that we are materially dependent on any single supplier, our contractors may
want to extend delivery times, raise prices and limit supply due to their own shortages or changing business and
product strategies. Furthermore, our vendors may be subject to litigation with respect to technology that is important
for the conduct of our business. Especially in times of economic turmoil, supply chains, credit access and financial
stability of our vendors may be negatively affected, which could disturb our commercial relationship with them.

If our commercial partners fail to deliver quality products and services in a timely manner, the ensuing disruptions in
our chain of supply could negatively affect our product portfolio, cost structure, revenues and profits. We take a
variety of measures to shelter ourselves from these risks, but we cannot be sure that these measures will be effective
under all circumstances.

We are continuously involved in disputes and litigation with regulators, competition authorities, competitors and other
parties. The ultimate outcome of such legal proceedings is generally uncertain. When finally concluded, they may
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to numerous risks relating to legal and regulatory proceedings, in which we are currently a party or
which could develop in the future. Litigation and regulatory proceedings, including patent infringement lawsuits, are
inherently unpredictable. Legal or regulatory proceedings in which we are or come to be involved (or settlements
thereof) may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. For information
concerning some of the litigation in which we are involved, including with respect to Polska Telefonia Cyfrowa Sp.z
0.0 (“PTC”) and Toll Collect, see “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.” For information concerning our
regulatory environment, see “Item 4. Information on the Company—Regulation.”
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We face allegations of data misuse and flaws in our security systems. Despite diverse measures taken to protect
customer data, damage to our reputation remains a significant risk, which may also affect our business.

The Bonn public prosecutor's office is still investigating the circumstances surrounding the illegal monitoring of
phone calls and the theft of data relating to several million mobile customers. As a result of these events, we
implemented several measures to further improve data security and transparency, including the creation of a new
Management Board position relating to data privacy, compliance and legal affairs, which has the right to veto
Management Board business decisions related to data privacy. A first voluntary annual progress report, prepared by
the Group Privacy Officer, was published in April 2009 and submitted to the Federal Commissioner for Data
Protection, our Supervisory Board and the public. A newly established Data Privacy Advisory Board advises our
Management Board on all issues related to data privacy. The Advisory Board closely consults with leading data
privacy experts from outside the Group with regard to the handling of customer and employee data, data privacy
audits, IT security and the consequences of the introduction of new legal provisions. Data privacy contacts were
nominated at each level of the organization to ensure an intense cooperation with our operating segments.
Additionally, we established a dedicated website to keep the public informed of ongoing developments in this area.
However, despite extensive testing by internal and external audits, there can be no assurance that the current
investigations will not result in the imposition of additional remedial measures or that further breaches relating to our
customer data will not materialize in the future.
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Future sales of our shares by the Federal Republic or KfW Bankengruppe (“KfW”) may adversely affect the trading
prices of our shares and ADSs.

The Federal Republic (which, together with KfW, owns approximately 31.7% of our outstanding shares) has
previously indicated an intent to continue with its privatization policy. In this regard, we cannot predict if and when
the Federal Republic will further reduce its holdings of its equity interest in Deutsche Telekom AG. The reduction in
the Federal Republic’s direct or indirect holdings may involve KfW. For shareholders, there is a danger that the market
offering of a significant volume of our shares by either the Federal Republic or KfW, or speculation to this effect on
the markets, could have a negative impact on the price of our shares and ADSs.

Certain of KfW’s debt instruments are exchangeable into shares of Deutsche Telekom AG, which, upon exchange,
could also have a negative impact on the price of our shares. KfW issued a class of exchangeable bonds on May 16,
2008 that matures in June 2013. Exchangeable bonds are debt securities that the holder may exchange for shares in
another company during a predefined period and at a predefined price. When the exchange price is exceeded and
when the holder exercises the exchange right, KfW will be obligated to exchange the bonds offered for Deutsche
Telekom AG shares. When the exchangeable bonds mature in June 2013, KfW has the right to settle them in Deutsche
Telekom AG shares. These exchangeable bonds in the aggregate amount of EUR 3.3 billion have a share exchange
price of EUR 14.9341 per ordinary share. Accordingly, approximately 221 million shares may be delivered by KfW in
exchange for the outstanding bonds maturing in June 2013. The delivery to debt holders by KfW of a significant
amount of our shares could have a negative impact on the market price of our shares.

Exchange-rate, interest-rate and rating risks have had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our revenue and
cost development.

We are exposed to currency risks related to our international business activities. Generally, our Central Treasury

hedges currency risks that may have an impact on our cash flows (so called, known as a transaction risk), although
there can be no guarantee that our hedging strategies will succeed. Currency risks may have a negative impact on our
results of operations when amounts in local currencies are translated into euros, particularly in connection with U.S.
dollar- and pound sterling-denominated results. For more information with respect to the impact of exchange rates and
currency translation, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Consolidated Results of Operations.”

We are also exposed to interest-rate risks, primarily in the Euro and U.S. dollar currencies. Interest-rate risks arise as a
result of fluctuations in interest rates affecting the level of interest payments due on indebtedness at variable rates in
each of these currencies. Once per year, our Management Board specifies ratios of fixed and variable debt in these two
currencies. Our Central Treasury then takes measures, using derivative instruments and other measures, to implement
the interest-risk management decisions of the Management Board. For more information about our hedging activities
and interest-rate and market risks, see “Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”.

In 2009, Fitch changed our long-term rating from A- to BBB+ with a stable outlook. Moody’s Investor Service and
Standard and Poor’s maintained our long-term rating at Baal and BBB+ respectively with a stable outlook. A further
decrease in our credit ratings below certain thresholds by various rating agencies would result in an increase in the
interest rates on certain of our bonds and medium-term notes due to step-up provisions and could raise the cost of our
debt refinancing activities generally. For more information, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capital Resources — Step-up Provisions.”

We aim to solely place our financial investments at financial institutions that have high credit ratings. As a result of
international M&A transactions, the investment portfolio of newly acquired entities may not always meet this
requirement. In individual cases, we thus may face a risk of unplanned write offs.

Risky financial exposures to financial institutions by subsidiaries in Southern and Eastern Europe in particular
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exist on account of transfer restrictions or shareholder resolutions. With our investment in OTE, exposures to credit
risks associated with deposits with various, mostly regional banks in Southern and Eastern Europe became part of our
exposure. The goal is to spread these exposures in order to achieve a higher degree of diversification.

As a result of a major restructuring program, we will bring together our domestic fixed-network business and our
domestic mobile business within a new Germany company. Failure to achieve a smooth transition to “One Company”
could negatively affect our business processes, operational systems and customer service.

On November 19, 2009, an extraordinary shareholders meeting approved the spin-off of the fixed-network business in
Germany into “T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH”. The "new" company will be responsible for almost 27 million
fixed-network lines — of which some 13 million support DSL — and more than 39 million mobile lines. In total, just
under 85,000 employees will work in this company. With this move, we plan to be in a better position to offer
integrated solutions and services for fixed network and mobile communications from a single source. In addition, we
project to reinforce customer service, safeguard jobs, and tap the potential for additional revenue and cost synergies.
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A successful completion of creating “One Company” in the course of the second quarter of 2010 will require major
organizational efforts, and the realignment of numerous people, processes and IT-systems. If the planned targets are
not achieved, there is a risk that the transition period will last longer than expected, and that our operational
performance in Germany will be periodically disturbed.

Developments in the telecommunications sector have resulted, and may in the future result, in substantial write-downs
of the carrying value of certain of our assets.

We review on a regular basis the value of each of our subsidiaries and their assets. In addition to our regular annual
impairment reviews, whenever indications exist that goodwill, intangible assets or fixed assets may be impaired due to
changes in the economic, regulatory, business or political environment, we consider the necessity of performing
certain valuation tests, which may result in impairment charges. The recognition of impairments of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and financial assets could cause us to take large, non-cash charges against net profit,
which could lead to a reduction in the trading price of our shares and ADSs.

For more information, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Ceritical Accounting Estimates.”

Potential breaches of compliance requirements or the identification of material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting may have an adverse impact on our corporate reputation, financial condition and the trading price
of our securities.

In general, compliance requirements for publicly traded companies and, in particular, the investigation of potential
breaches and corporate misconduct are increasing and leading to major financial implications for the companies
concerned. At the same time, the legal framework governing the monitoring of companies is becoming more
comprehensive, which increases the liability risks for executive bodies and associated costs.

While we believe that we have established an appropriate compliance organization to detect, assess, reduce and
manage these risks, the global and diverse nature of our operations means that these risks and their related
consequences will continue to exist. Although we intend to take prompt measures to remediate any identified
shortcomings in our internal controls over financial reporting, activities of this kind may involve significant effort and
expense, and disclosure of any failures, material weakness or other conditions, may result in a deterioration of our
corporate image and negative market reactions.

For more information with regard to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, see “Item 15.Controls and
Procedures — (b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.”
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ITEM 4. Information on the Company
INTRODUCTION

The legal and commercial name of our company is Deutsche Telekom AG. We are a private stock corporation
organized under German law. Our registered office is located at Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140, 53113 Bonn, Germany,
and our telephone number is +49 (228) 181-0. Our agent for service of process in the United States is Deutsche
Telekom, Inc., 14 Wall Street, Suite 6B, New York, NY 10005.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

We are an integrated telecommunications provider offering our customers around the world a comprehensive portfolio
of state-of-the-art services in the areas of telecommunications and IT.

The provision of public telecommunications services in Germany was long a state monopoly, as formerly provided in
the constitution of the Federal Republic. In 1989, the Federal Republic began to transform the postal, telephone and
telegraph services administered by the former monopoly provider of such services into market-oriented businesses,
and divided the former monopoly into three distinct entities along their lines of business, one of which was our
predecessor, Deutsche Bundespost Telekom. At the same time, the Federal Republic also began the liberalization of
the German telecommunications market. We were transformed into a private stock corporation effective January 1,
1995.

The operation of networks (including cable networks) for all telecommunications services, other than public fixed-line
voice telephony, was opened to competition in Germany on August 1, 1996, when the new legal framework for the
regulation of the telecommunications sector in Germany, the Telecommunications Act, became effective. As required
by the Telecommunications Act, and mandated by the directives of the EU Commission, the telecommunications
sector in Germany was further liberalized on January 1, 1998, through the opening of the public fixed-line voice
telephony services to competition. Since then, we have faced intense competition and have been required, among
other things, to offer competitors access to our fixed-line network at regulated interconnection rates. For more
information on the regulatory effects on competition in our fixed-line business, see “—Regulation.”

Important events in the development of our business since January 1, 2009 have included:
¢ the announcement of a joint venture between T-Mobile UK and Orange UK in the United Kingdom:;
¢ the creation of a more regional and integrated structure for third-party domestic carriers and service providers as
well as our company, including the integration of our sales and customer service functions at our fixed-line and

mobile operations in Germany;

¢ the acquisition in 2009 of an additional 5% in the Greek telecommunications company OTE for EUR 0.7 billion;
and

o the first-time full consolidation of OTE.
Additional information regarding the foregoing events and other developments is contained throughout this Item 4.
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Since July 1, 2009, our organizational structure has reflected the realigned management structure approved by our
Supervisory Board on April 29, 2009. The new structure reflects a more regional focus, with a greater emphasis on
integrating our fixed-network and mobile communications business. In addition, we centralized the responsibility for
product development, IT and technology for our European operations.

This realignment resulted in a change to the structure of our operating segments from July 1, 2009. The business
activities in four of these five operating segments are assigned by regions. In the fifth segment, the business activities
are assigned by customers and products as described below. Since July 1, 2009, we have reported on the following
five operating segments:

e Germany, which combines all fixed-network and mobile activities in Germany and also includes wholesale
telecommunications services for third-party domestic carriers and service providers as well as our Group’s other
operating segments;

¢ the United States, which comprises all mobile activities in the U.S. market;
e Europe, which covers all activities of the mobile communications companies in the United Kingdom, Poland, the
Netherlands, the Czech Republic and Austria, as well as the International Carrier Sales and Solutions unit, which

mainly provides wholesale telecommunications services for our Group’s other operating segments;

e Southern and Eastern Europe, which comprises all of our fixed-network and mobile communications operations in
Hungary, Croatia, Slovakia, Greece, Romania, Bulgaria, Albania, the F.Y.R.O Macedonia, and Montenegro; and

e Systems Solutions, which bundles business with ICT products and solutions for large multinational corporations
and public institutions under the T-Systems brand.

We also report on Group Headquarters and Shared Services, which includes our service headquarters and our
subsidiaries that are not allocated to the operating segments.
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Fixed-Network and Mobile Communications Services
Fixed-Network Services

Our fixed-network business includes all voice and data communications activities based on fixed-network and
broadband technology. These product offerings are marketed as basic telephony services, or single-play, telephony
and high-speed Internet access, or double-play, and packages comprising voice communication, high-speed Internet
access and television with interactive television-based services, or triple-play. Our fixed-network business also
includes the sale of terminal equipment and other hardware, as well as the sale of services to resellers.

Mobile Communications Services

Our mobile communications business offers digital mobile telephony voice services and data services, such as Short
Message Service, or SMS, Multimedia Messaging Service, or MMS, mobile Internet and other data services, to retail
and business customers. Terminal equipment and other hardware are sold in connection with the services offered. In
addition, our mobile communications services are sold to resellers and to companies that buy network services and
market them independently to third parties, such as MVNOs. Through our mobile communication subsidiaries, we
also operate one of the largest carrier-owned networks of W-LAN (WiFi) HotSpots in Europe and the United States.

We offer mobile voice and data services on both a contract basis and a prepay basis. Our mobile communications
customers generally purchase contract services on the basis of fixed monthly fees, and pay time-based airtime and
per-message fees. Some contract service offerings include a specified amount of airtime, data volume or messages in
the monthly fee. Prepay services are purchased on the basis of monetary increments that are recorded on the customers’
Subscriber Identity Module, or SIM, cards and then deducted, based on airtime or messaging usage fees, as the cards
are used. Usage fees can vary according to the rate plan selected by the customer, the day and time when a call is
made, the destination of the call, the location where the call originates and, in some cases, other terms applicable to
the rate plan, such as whether the called party is also a customer of the same network. Furthermore, some contracts
allow unlimited usage at a set monthly rate. We offer national and international roaming services to our customers
through a number of roaming agreements with third-party operators, which allow customers to access mobile services
while outside their home network service area. W-LAN services are sold on both a monthly subscription basis and
through various usage-based plans. Our mobile communications subsidiaries provide their customers with access to
our specific and third-party content services as well as to the open Internet. Content provided to customers is either at
no additional charge, in which case the customer only has to pay the normal connection charges to view the content,
or it is premium content, where a customer pays a specific charge through the customer’s mobile telephone bill to
access the content. Our goal is to provide our mobile customers with an integrated portfolio of voice and data services,
using the most appropriate technologies available depending on local market conditions.

We count our mobile communications customers by the number of SIM cards activated and not churned. Our
customer figures include the SIM cards with which machines can communicate automatically with one another, or
M2M cards. Our mobile communications subsidiaries count contract customers as customers for the length of their
contracts, and count prepay customers as customers as long as they continue to use our services, and then for a
prescribed period thereafter, which differs according to the particular market. Generally, at the end of this period, or in
the case of payment default or voluntary disconnection, the customers are cancelled or “churned.” The churn rate for any
given period represents the number of customers whose service was discontinued during that period, expressed as a
percentage of the average number of customers during the period, based on beginning and period-end figures. Our
competitors may calculate their churn rates using methods different from ours. In addition, because we use different
calculation methodologies in different jurisdictions, our own churn figures are not comparable across all of our
national operations. Our churn methodologies are described in greater detail in the discussion of our operating
segments below.

Sales Channels
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Our Germany and Southern and Eastern Europe operating segments offer their fixed-line and mobile products and

services through a broad range of direct and indirect sales channels. The direct distribution channels include our:

e retail outlets, including our Telekom shops in Germany, and throughout Southern and Eastern Europe such
as OTEShops, Germanos and Cosmote shops in Greece and T-Home Shops in Hungary;

¢ toll-free service hotlines that allow potential and current customers to obtain information about, and place orders
for, our various products and services;

¢ various Internet websites, which provide a variety of online ordering options; and
e sales force, organized into various units that focus on our retail customers, small- and medium-sized business
customers, domestic carrier services customers and services offered to network operators and other third-party

providers.
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Indirect distribution channels include national retailers and independent distributors, such as Internet and IT
equipment retailers.

In addition, our mobile communications subsidiaries in Europe and the United States use various direct and indirect
distribution channels to market their voice and data products and services to their customers. In the United States, the
United Kingdom, Austria, Poland , the Netherlands and Czech Republic, our mobile communications subsidiaries sell
their products and services to retail customers through networks of direct retail stores, including some franchise-like
exclusive dealer operations. Other direct sales channels include a direct sales force dedicated to business customers
and sales through toll-free service hotlines and local websites, which are used for customer-relationship management
as well as for sales transactions. In addition, third-party distributors, who typically market the products and services of
multiple mobile network operators, play a significant role in distribution. Our mobile telecommunications subsidiaries
use a variety of incentives to encourage third-party vendors to sell our products and services, such as payment of
associated marketing expenses and commissions.

Mobile telecommunications resellers and MVNOs are also an important distribution channel for our mobile
communications products and services, especially in Germany and the United Kingdom. In the United States, MVNOs
are currently a growing distribution channel for T-Mobile USA products and services. In general, mobile
telecommunications resellers and MVNOs purchase minutes and data at wholesale rates and mobile devices at a
discount from network operators, resell packaged services and mobile devices under their own brands through their
own distribution channels, charge their customers at retail rates that they set independently and provide customer
service and technical support.

For more information on our marketing sales channels in our Systems Solutions operating segment, see Systems
Solutions.

Seasonality
In general, our operations are not affected by any major seasonal variations.

However, certain seasonal factors are noticeable in our mobile operations in our Germany, the United States, Europe
and Southern and Eastern Europe operating segments. Our mobile operations in our Germany, Europe and United
States operating segments generally experience an increase in sales of products and services occurring during the
fourth calendar quarter, due to holiday purchases. As a result, performance during the fourth quarter can have a
significant influence on full-year performance. In addition, our mobile operations in our Europe, Southern and Eastern
Europe operating segments generally experience an increase in visitor roaming revenues during the third calendar
quarter, due to the number of tourists who spend part of their summer vacations in this area.

The revenues of our Systems Solutions operating segment may be subject to quarterly fluctuations depending on sales
cycles (currently ranging between 6 and 18 months) and the purchasing patterns and resources of its customers, which
are subject to general economic conditions and, therefore, difficult to predict. Accordingly, revenues received in a
particular quarter by our Systems Solutions operating segment may not be indicative of future revenues to be received
in any subsequent quarter.

Suppliers

Although we do not believe we are dependent on any single supplier due to our multiple-supplier strategy, there may
be occasions when a particular product from a certain supplier is delayed or back-ordered. We believe that we have
reduced our technological risks and the risk of delays in the supply of equipment and other technologies, both by
contracting with multiple suppliers having significant market share in the network infrastructure, IT services and
mobile device businesses, and by negotiating contractual penalties to be enforced in the event a supplier does not meet
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its obligations with respect to timeliness and quality. However, these penalty provisions may not fully mitigate the
harm to our business caused by any such contractual breaches.

The principal types of equipment purchased by our fixed-network operations in our Germany and Southern and
Eastern Europe operating segments are network components, such as switching systems, transmission systems, access
network components, and customer premises equipment, such as telephones, fax machines, broadband modems and
similar items. The major suppliers to our fixed-network operations are Siemens AG, Deutsche Post DHL,
Alcatel-Lucent Deutschland AG, Grey Global Group (MediaCom), AVM Computersysteme, Cisco Systems Inc.,
Corning Cable Systems GmbH & Co. KG, and IBM.

Our mobile operations mainly purchase IT and network components, as well as mobile devices for purposes of resale,
from a number of different suppliers.

The principal goods and services purchased by our Systems Solutions operating segment are computer hardware for
client servers and mainframes, operating systems and applications software, network capacity, network services,

telecommunications network components and IT consulting services.

20

39



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
Dependence on Patents, Licenses and Industrial, Commercial or Financial Contracts

We do not believe that we are materially dependent on any particular patent or other intellectual property rights. In
addition, we do not believe that we are dependent on any individual third-party customer or on any industrial,
commercial or financial contracts.

Our mobile communications subsidiaries own a large number of registered patents and generally have a number of
patent applications outstanding at any given time for technical innovations in the area of mobile telecommunications
applications as a consequence of our continuous development activities. Patent protection activity is focused on
countries where we have mobile operations. In addition, to enable us to offer mobile telecommunications services in
the different jurisdictions in which we operate, we require, and therefore are dependent on, telecommunications
licenses from the relevant authorities in each of these jurisdictions. For further information, see “—Regulation.”

For a description of patent infringement litigation relating to certain DSL-related technology that is relevant to our
fixed-network business in our Germany operating segment, “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings—Other
Proceedings.”

Our Systems Solutions operating segment is subject to third-party software licenses in connection with the services it
provides to its customers. Any breach, violation or misuse of third-party software licenses could result in additional
costs with respect to the particular projects that are the subject of such licenses.

Our Systems Solutions operating segment intends to become less dependent on other Deutsche Telekom Group
companies and to improve its market position with respect to external customers. In 2009, other Deutsche Telekom
Group companies accounted for approximately 30.9% of Systems Solutions’ total revenues, compared to 23.2% in
2008 and 25.1% in 2007. No other customer accounted for a significant portion of Systems Solutions’ total revenues in
2009.
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Significant Subsidiaries

The following table shows the significant subsidiaries that we owned, directly or indirectly, as of December 31, 2009.

Name and registered office % Held
T-Mobile USA, Inc., Bellevue, Washington, United States 100.00
T-Systems International GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00
T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, Germany 100.00
Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (OTE), Athens, Greece 30.00
T-Mobile Holdings Ltd., Hatfield, United Kingdom 100.00
Magyar Telekom Nyrt., Budapest, Hungary 59.20
T-Mobile Netherlands Holding B.V., The Hague, Netherlands 100.00
PTC, Polska Telefonia Cyfrowa Sp.z 0.0., Warsaw, Poland 97.00
T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s., Prague, Czech Republic 60.77
HT-Hrvatske telekomunikacije d.d., Zagreb, Croatia 51.00
T-Mobile Austria Holding GmbH, Vienna, Austria 100.00
Slovak Telekom a.s., Bratislava, Slovakia 51.00

A list of our subsidiaries as of December 31, 20009, is filed as Exhibit 8.1 to this Annual Report.
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SEGMENT REVENUE BREAKDOWN
The following table presents total revenues (the sum of external (net) revenues and intersegment revenues), net
revenues and intersegment revenues of our segments for the years indicated.

Inter—
Net segment Total
millions of € Year revenue  revenue  revenue
Germany 2009 23,813 1,610 25,423

2008 24,754 1,646 26,400
2007 26,134 1,982 28,116

United States 2009 15,457 14 15,471
2008 14,942 15 14,957
2007 14,050 25 14,075

Europe 2009 9,486 548 10,034
2008 10,798 556 11,354
2007 10,675 559 11,234

Southern and

Eastern

Europe 2009 9,510 175 9,685
2008 4,497 148 4,645
2007 4,458 142 4,600

Systems

Solutions 2009 6,083 2,715 8,798
2008 6,368 2,975 9,343
2007 6,911 3,660 10,571

Group Head-

quarters and

Shared

Services 2009 253 2,157 2,410
2008 307 2,474 2,781
2007 288 2,855 3,143

Total 2009 64,602 7,219 71,821
2008 61,666 7,814 69,480
2007 62,516 9,223 71,739

Reconciliation 2009 - (7,219 ) (7,219 )
2008 - (7,814 ) (7,814 )
2007 - (9,223 ) (9,223 )

Group 2009 64,602 - 64,602
2008 61,666 - 61,666
2007 62,516 - 62,516

For more information regarding our revenues on a segment and geographical basis, see “Item 5. Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Analysis.”
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Germany

The following table reflects the number of fixed-network and broadband lines in operation and mobile customers in
Germany.

% Change % Change
As of Dec.  As of Dec. Dec. 31, As of Dec. Dec. 31,
31, 31, 2009/ 31, 2008/
2009 2008 Dec 31, 2007 Dec. 31,
millions millions 2008 millions 2007
Fixed Network Germany
Fixed-network lines(1) 26.2 28.3 (7.4 ) 30.8 (8.1 )
Retail broadband lines(1) 11.5 10.6 8.5 9.0 17.8
Wholesale bundled access lines(2) 1.6 2.5 (36.0 ) 3.5 (28.6 )
ULLs(3) 9.1 8.3 9.6 6.4 29.7
Wholesale unbundled access lines(4) 0.6 0.2 n.a. 0.0 n.a.

Mobile communications Germany
Mobile customers(5) 39.1 39.1 0.0 36.0 8.6
n.a.—not applicable

Totals were calculated on the basis of precise figures and rounded to millions. Percentages are calculated on the basis
of figures shown.

(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines and congstar, but excluding internal use and public
telecommunications systems. Congstar is our broadband and mobile brand aimed at younger, more price sensitive
customers.

(2) Wholesale bundled access lines: Sale of broadband lines based on DSL technology to alternative providers outside
Deutsche Telekom, including bundled IP Bitstream Access, or IP-BSA. In the case of IP-BSA, we lease DSL lines
to our competitors and transport the datastream carried over the lines.

(3) Unbundled local loop lines (ULL): Wholesale service that can be leased by alternative telecommunications
operators without upstream technical equipment in order to offer their own customers a telephone or DSL line.

(4)Wholesale unbundled access lines: Wholesale service not bundled with an analog telephone line. Allows
competitors to offer an all-IP product range, for example IP- BSA Stand Alone.

(5) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer. Due to various rulings on the expiry of prepaid
credit and the limited validity of prepaid cards, T-Mobile Deutschland changed its terms of contract and therefore
its deactivation policy in the first quarter of 2007 in favor of its prepay customers. These customers can now use
their prepaid credit longer than before. As a result of the change in the terms of contract, prepaid contracts no
longer end automatically, but run for an unlimited duration and can be terminated by the customer at any time and
by T-Mobile with one month's notice. T-Mobile Deutschland reserves the right to make use of this right of
termination and to deactivate cards in the system.

The Germany operating segment comprises our fixed network and mobile operations in Germany. Since January 1,
2009, fixed network has been responsible for the small- and medium-sized business customers that were previously
included in our System Solutions operating segment. Our Germany operating segment also includes certain of our
telecommunications facilities operations, including the operation, management and servicing of our radio transmission
sites in Germany. For more information on our related network infrastructure, including our access and transmission
networks and service platforms, see “—Description of Property, Plant and Equipment.”
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We intend to use convergence products that bring together mobile communications, Internet and the fixed network in
the context of connected life and work to enhance our product portfolio and increase the number of high-value
customer relationships over the long term.
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Fixed Network
Network Communications

Through our fixed network business, we offer network access, including analog, universal/ISDN and IP Access, as
well as calling services to individual, business and wholesale customers.

Analog access lines, which we market under the name “Standard”, permit the customer to use a single
telecommunications channel for voice, data or facsimile transmission. The number of analog access lines decreased
year on year, from 22.2 million in 2007 to 20.0 million in 2008 and 18.3 million in 2009. ISDN/Universal access
lines, which we market under the name “Universal”, permit a customer to use simultaneously two telecommunication
channels to provide multiple products and services, including voice, data and facsimile transmission. The number of
ISDN/Universal access lines decreased year-on-year, from 8.6 million in 2007 to 8.3 million in 2008 and 7.9 million
in 2009. IP-Based access lines provide services such as telecommunication, IPTV and data transfer, as well as other
services to retail customers at home and elsewhere.

The number of fixed-network access line losses in Germany decreased, as expected, in 2009. The number of line
losses includes fixed-network lines previously operated by us but now operated as IP-based lines by other service
providers using the unbundled local loop line (ULL). In addition, the decrease in the number of fixed-network access
lines is mainly attributable to customers switching to alternative cable, local network and mobile operators. In 2009,
line losses also resulted from the technology driven migration of Wholesale bundled customers to the all-IP network.
We expect the number of fixed-network access lines in operation to continue to decrease in the future due to increased
competition, fixed-to-mobile substitution, as well as increased migration to IP-based products.

Through the network access product offerings described above, we provide comprehensive national and international
calling services and dial-up Internet access, and also offer services such as three-way calling, call-waiting and caller
ID. In addition, our portfolio of integrated products, called “Complete Packages” (Komplettpakete), includes an access
line and a variety of flat-rates and services for telephony and Internet access. Our Complete Packages with a national
voice flat-rate component have led to an increase in unbilled calling minutes by customers using those plans. The
trend towards flat-rate components in Complete Packages continued to increase in 2009 and we believe that this trend
will continue in the future. Consequently, we expect calling revenues in the future to decrease due to the decreasing
proportion of billed minutes as a result of customer acceptance of Complete Packages, continued loss of
fixed-network access lines and fixed-to-mobile substitution.

IP/Internet

Broadband services allow customers to access the Internet and Internet-related services at significantly higher speeds
than traditional dial-up services. Broadband access is used to refer to ADSL (asymmetric digital subscriber line),
ADSL?2 and ADSL2+ (advanced ADSL) and VDSL (very high-speed digital subscriber line) technologies, for which
the downstream data rate is greater than 128 Kbit/s. We believe that broadband growth in Germany, particularly in the
retail market, is largely dependent on the acceptance of double-play and triple-play products and services and
improved customer services.

We offer broadband and IP services based on ADSL, ADSL2+ and VDSL technologies, which combine a high-speed
data download transmission speed with a lower upload transmission speed, primarily to retail customers. We also

offer our Complete Packages with a flat-rate component including offerings for voice communication and high-speed
data access. The total number of retail broadband lines operated by us increased in 2009, due to the offer of Complete
Packages with additional features and options. For example, we offer our Complete Packages with television services
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under the brand “Entertain”. Our Entertain products are offered in a basic version, which includes voice, data and
television services, and an enhanced version, which includes a variety of additional services, including HDTV,
timeshift, Program Manager and TV-archive. In addition, we introduced a new Entertain product in 2009 known as
“Entertain pure”, which comprises a telephone and TV connection without Internet access. The number of Entertain
lines in operation, which are included within the number of retail broadband lines in the table above, increased to
806,000 by the end of 2009 from 352,000 in 2008. In 2009, we also launched a new LIGA total! product range. With
Entertain, customers can now watch all first- and second-division Bundesliga soccer matches on television for an
additional charge. We expect that our Entertain product portfolio will continue to expand with the inclusion of new
features and new rates in response to customer demand. A topic for 2010 will be the further development of Entertain
products available to the retail market through a combination of broadband lines and attractive content and features,
including flat-rate packages.

Our broadband product portfolio also includes a variety of Internet website services provided by the Scout-Group as
well as the "Load" product portfolio, which includes video, game, software and music offerings available for

download.
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Wholesale Services

Through our wholesale services business, we provide products and services, including access, interconnection, IP and
network services, to third-party domestic carriers and service providers as well as other Group companies in
accordance with regulatory guidelines stipulated by the Federal Network Agency. Network operators and service
providers implement their own business models based on our wholesale services, such as unbundled local loop (ULL)
lines, bitstream access or resale, including the Wholesale Internet Access (WIA) and WIA Gate product options. We
expect that the results of regulatory decisions will continue to have an effect on demand for our wholesale products.

Unbundled local loop lines (ULL), can be leased by third-parties to provide their customers with telephone and
Internet services or DSL-based products. In 2009, the number of ULLSs rose compared to the end of 2008, mainly as a
result of the migration of competitors to all-IP lines. We expect that the number of ULLSs in operation will increase in
the future. However, the rate of growth is expected to decrease. In 2008, we were required by the Federal Network
Agency to offer wholesale unbundled access line products. Wholesale unbundled access lines in operation increased to
0.6 million in 2009 compared to 0.2 million lines in 2008.

Through our wholesale bundled product, we lease DSL lines combined with one of our standard access lines to
third-party providers and then transport the data from our network to the third-party’s network. In 2008, we introduced
regulatorily mandated Wholesale bundled and unbundled products, including transport services and symmetric DSL
access, or SDSL. We also sell broadband access to competitors through our Wholesale bundled products, which
enable third-party operators to offer an integrated service combining access and IP services to their retail customers
under their own brands. The growth in ULLs in 2009 mentioned above primarily came at the expense of our
Wholesale bundled products. The number of wholesale bundled access lines in operation decreased from 3.5 million
in 2007 to 2.5 million in 2008 and 1.6 million in 2009.

Our interconnection wholesale services primarily consist of call origination and the transit and termination of switched
voice traffic. The terms under which we interconnect our telephone network with the networks of other domestic
carriers and service providers are either bilaterally negotiated or imposed by the Federal Network Agency. At
December 31, 2009, we had 117 national bilateral interconnection agreements and 45 national interconnection orders
issued by the Federal Network Agency. The Federal Network Agency mandated interconnection prices from
December 1, 2008 until June 30, 2011.

We provide additional wholesale services, including:

e [P-Services: Internet transport services for broadband and fixed network service providers, such as virtual ISP
services, as well as transport services for carrier interconnection;

e Network Services: leased lines, which can be used both for the transmission of data and for voice traffic and are
tailored to fit the specific needs of carriers and mobile network operators; and

e Carrier Services Networks, which combine leased lines with network management services.
Other Services
Other services primarily includes:
¢ value-added telephone services, which include toll-free numbers and shared-cost numbers, such as 0180,
T-VoteCall for customer-relationship management, directory-assistance numbers, the provision and administration
of directory databases and public payphones as well as premium-rate services (which use the 0190 and 0900

exchanges);
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our terminal equipment business, through which we distribute, for purchase or lease, an extensive range of
telecommunications equipment that is either manufactured by third-parties for us or sold under third-party brand
names;

data communications solutions, such as Telekom Design Networks, platform management, Internet solutions and
IP-related services as well as dedicated customer line products connecting two customer networks (located up to 50
kilometers apart) with transmission speeds of up to one Gbit/s;

support services and publishing services, which include the sale of marketing and advertising services to small- and
medium-sized companies via our telephone directories, such as DasTelefonbuch, GelbeSeiten, and DasOrtliche;
and

the sale of products and services through our Telekom Shop outlets and services for energy-based products used to
reliably operate telecommunications systems.
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Mobile Communications

Through T-Mobile Deutschland, we offer mobile telecommunications services to individual and business customers in
Germany. The following table summarizes certain information regarding our customers and the German mobile

communications market.
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Customers As of As of As of
(millions) December December December
D 31, 2009 31,2008 31,2007
Total 39.1 39.1 36.0
M2M 1.0 0.9 0.7
Contract 17.2 17.0 16.1
Prepay 21.9 22.1 19.9
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
Monthly December December December
churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 1.5 % 1.0 % 1.1 %
Contract
2) 1.2 % 1.1 % 1.2 %
Prepay (3) 1.7 % 0.9 % 1.0 %

(1) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

(2)In general, a contract customer of T-Mobile Deutschland is churned either after voluntary termination upon the
lapse of the customer’s contract or after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill
contractual obligations.

(3)Due to various rulings on the expiry of prepaid credit and the limited validity of prepaid cards, T-Mobile
Deutschland changed its terms of contract and therefore its deactivation policy in the first quarter of 2007 in favor
of its prepay customers. These customers can now use their prepaid credit longer than before. As a result of the
change in the terms of contract, prepaid contracts no longer end automatically, but run for an unlimited duration
and can be terminated by the customer at any time and by T-Mobile Deutschland with one month's notice.
T-Mobile Deutschland reserves the right to make use of this right of termination and to deactivate cards in the
system.

T-Mobile Deutschland offers mobile telecommunications services, including voice, SMS, MMS, Mobile Internet and
other data services to consumer and business customers in Germany.

At December 31, 2009, T-Mobile Deutschland had approximately 39.1 million customers, including approximately
1.0 million M2M cards in use. With an overall penetration rate of well over 100%, the focus in our German mobile
operations has been on the higher-value contract customer business. In 2009, the share of contract customers in our
overall customer base was 44% of the total customer base.

T-Mobile Deutschland’s total average churn rate for 2009 was 1.5% per month, compared to an average churn rate of
1.0% per month in 2008, mainly due to an increase in prepay churn rates. The average contract customer churn rate
was 1.2% per month in 2009, which is a slight increase compared to 1.1% per month in 2008. The average prepay
churn rate during 2009 was 1.7% per month, compared to the average prepay churn rate of 0.9% per month during
2008. T-Mobile Deutschland’s total average churn rate for 2008 was 1.0% per month, compared to an average churn
rate of 1.1% per month in 2007, due to a decrease in both contract and prepay churn rates. The average contract
customer churn rate was 1.1% per month in 2008, which is a slight decrease compared to 1.2% per month in 2007.
The average prepay churn rate during 2008 was 0.9% per month, compared to the average prepay churn rate of
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1.0% per month during 2007, which was primarily caused by a change in the churn policy in 2007.

Competition

Our fixed-network operations in Germany face intense competition based primarily on price in the market for
fixed-line network voice telephony and broadband services. Competitors include cable operators, such as Kabel
Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG, other fixed-line carriers, such as Vodafone, Versatel AG or NetCologne Gesellschaft
fiir Telekommunikation mbH, and mobile operators. Average consumer prices for telecommunications services in the
fixed-network and in mobile communications in Germany were once again lower than in the prior year. The price
index for fixed-network and Internet telephony was down 2.3 percent, while rates for mobile telephony were

2.5 percent lower. Aside from pure call charges, prices for mobile data services also decreased.

However, continued competition in these markets resulted in higher service levels being provided for these product
packages, for example, increased broadband access widths and higher number of flat-rate minutes. The increased use
of complete packages with a flat-rate component and a decrease in the overall prices for these packages by our
competitors have intensified the downward pricing pressure on our own products, services and pricing packages. In
particular, competition through bundled offers from other fixed-line carriers has intensified. Competition from local
network operators, on the basis of ULLs or the competitor’s own infrastructure is increasing, particularly from entities
owned by large European telecommunications companies, such as HanseNet (a subsidiary of Telefonica). We expect
that competition from cable operators will also continue to increase. Depending on the degree to which alternative
technologies, such as VolIP, cable broadband and the Internet, gain market acceptance, the usage of our network may
be adversely affected.
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The growing appeal of cable TV lines is due to the very large bandwidths that are already available — in some cases up
to 100 Mbit/s — at attractive prices.

Competitors have invested in their own infrastructure. Given the significant competitive advantage that high-speed
networks offer in the broadband access market, we expect that our competitors will continue to invest in their own
network infrastructure to offer their own IP-based products to compete with our products and services.

The impact of mobile substitution on our fixed-network operations in Germany is also increasing, in part because of
the increased market entry of Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs). In addition, as prices for mobile
telephony decline, local and other calling services, as well as access services, face increasing competition from mobile
telephone operators, due to mobile substitution. These factors, combined with the continued implementation of
regulatory policies intended to foster greater competition, are expected to yield similar trends in the future.

T-Mobile Deutschland faces intense competition from mobile network operators Vodafone, E-Plus and O2. We
believe that T-Mobile Deutschland maintained its market leadership position, in terms of number of customers, at
December 31, 2009. The German mobile communications market is saturated in terms of customers with a penetration
rate of well over 100 percent. T-Mobile Deutschland will focus mainly on value-driven growth, sustainable customer
growth and customer retention in the higher-value contract customer business.

United States

The United States operating segment offers mobile voice and data telecommunications services to individual and
business customers in the United States through T-Mobile USA.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 33.8 32.8 28.7
Contract 26.8 26.8 23.9
Prepay 7.0 6.0 4.8
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 3.2 % 2.9 % 2.8 %
Contract 2.3 % 2.1 % 1.9 %
Prepay 7.0 % 6.9 % 1.2 %

(1) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

At December 31, 2009, T-Mobile USA had approximately 33.8 million customers, an increase of 1.0 million
customers during the year. Of the total customers at December 31, 2009, approximately 79 percent, were contract
customers (including machine-to-machine customers), compared to approximately 82 percent at December 31,
2008. The number of contract customers decreased as a proportion of the customer base due to a decline in the
number of T-Mobile USA branded customers (wireless customers excluding MVNO and machine-to-machine
customers), offset by growth in wholesale customers.
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At December 31, 2008, T-Mobile USA had approximately 32.8 million customers, compared to approximately

28.7 million at December 31, 2007. Included in the increase of 4.1 million customers in 2008 were 1.1 million
customers related to our acquisition of SunCom Wireless in February 2008. Of the total customers at December 31,
2008, approximately 26.8 million, or 82 percent, were contract customers, compared to approximately 23.9 million, or
83 percent, at December 31, 2007, and approximately 6.0 million were prepay customers at December 31, 2008,
compared to approximately 4.8 million at December 31, 2007.

T-Mobile USA’s average churn rate for 2009 was 3.2 percent per month, up from 2.9 percent in 2008. The contract
customer churn rate increased to 2.3 percent in 2009, from 2.1 percent in 2008. This was due in part to competitive
intensity, including competition based on handset innovation. T-Mobile USA’s average churn rate for 2008 was 2.9
percent per month, up from 2.8 percent in 2007. The contract customer churn rate increased to 2.1 percent in 2008,
from 1.9 percent in 2007. This was largely due to the second anniversary of the introduction of two-year customer
contracts in the second quarter of 2006, and competitive intensity particularly in the second half of the year.
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Competitive differences, differences in features and services due to the use of multiple wireless technologies, and
general differences in consumer behavior between the United States and Europe factor into the higher industry churn
rates in the United States compared to Europe. However, the churn rate of T-Mobile USA’s operations is higher than
the U.S. industry average due in part to the higher proportion of prepay customers in T-Mobile USA’s customer base
relative to most of its U.S. competitors, competitive intensity particularly relating to handset innovation and due to the
greater focus on individual consumers than other U.S. carriers (who have a larger focus on lower-churn enterprise and
government customers). Prepay customers in the United States typically churn at substantially higher rates than
contract customers.

Generally, a contract customer of T-Mobile USA is churned either after voluntary termination or after forced contract
termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. A prepay customer in the United States is
churned after a period of 90 days of inactivity (i.e., the customer has neither originated nor received a voice
communication, and has not originated a data communication in that period).

Through the acquisition of SunCom Wireless Holdings, Inc. on February 22, 2008, T-Mobile USA expanded its
network in the southeastern United States, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands.

During 2009, T-Mobile USA invested in network infrastructure in certain markets to utilize the Advanced Wireless
Services spectrum in the 1700 MHz and 2100 MHz frequency bands it acquired in 2006. By the end of 2009,
T-Mobile USA’s 3G network covered over 205 million people compared to 107 million people at the end of 2008.

Marketing and Sales

The United States operating segment comprises all of Deutsche Telekom’s wireless activities in the U.S. market and
offers mobile voice and data services to consumers and business customers through T-Mobile USA. Mobile devices
and accessories are usually sold in connection with the services offered. In late 2009, T-Mobile USA introduced its
Even More rate plans, which feature unlimited nationwide voice, text, and data services. In addition, T-Mobile USA
offers its customers a number of service options, including rate plans with and without contracts, the ability to pay in
advance or in arrears, and rate plans with and without subsidized handsets.

T-Mobile USA uses a mix of direct and indirect distribution channels to market its mobile voice and mobile data
products and services to its customers. T-Mobile USA sells its products and services to retail customers through a
network of direct retail stores. Additionally, T-Mobile USA has a direct sales force dedicated to business customers
and sales through customer service and the T-Mobile USA website. In addition, third-party distributors, who may
market the products and services of one or multiple mobile network operators, play a significant role in distribution.
T-Mobile USA uses a variety of incentives to encourage third-party vendors to sell T-Mobile products and services,
such as payment of associated marketing expenses and commissions.

Wholesale entities such as MVNOs and machine-to-machine operators are a growing distribution channel for
T-Mobile USA unbranded products and services. In general, wholesale entities purchase minutes and data at
wholesale rates, resell packaged services and mobile devices under their own brands through their own distribution
channels, charge their customers at retail rates that they set independently, and provide customer service and technical
support.

T-Mobile USA provides its customers with access to T-Mobile USA specific and third-party content services as well
as to the open Internet. Content provided to customers is either at no additional charge, in which case the customer
only has to pay the normal connection charges to view the content, or it is premium content, where a customer pays a

specific charge, e.g., a charge is added to the customer’s mobile telephone bill to access the content.

Competition
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General

The United States operating segment faces intense competition in the United States mobile telecommunications
market from the three other large national mobile providers, Verizon, AT&T and Sprint, and from MVNOs and two
growing regional operators offering low-priced unlimited services. In addition to competitive factors, the three largest
national mobile providers have been involved in more significant acquisition activity in the last five years than
T-Mobile USA.

Verizon, AT&T and Sprint have potential advantages through size, scale and bundling with other non-wireless
communication services. These advantages could allow them to deliver services in a more cost-efficient manner and
disproportionately increase their customer base, thereby negatively affecting T-Mobile USA’s competitive position.

Furthermore, AT&T has had a competitive advantage in the past two years with the exclusive distribution of the
Apple iPhone. Verizon and AT&T, in particular, achieved proportionately higher net customer additions in 2009,
which combined with pressure from the regional unlimited discount operators, resulted in T-Mobile USA’s slight
decline in market share in 2009.
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The United States mobile telecommunications market is quite different in a number of respects from the European
mobile telecommunications markets. For example, there is no single communications standard. In addition, licenses
used to provide wireless services do not cover the entire country and different frequency ranges may be required
within a nationwide footprint. It can therefore be difficult for network operators to obtain the spectrum needed in some
localities to expand customer base, upgrade the quality of service and add new services, particularly in
densely-populated urban areas. Low population density in other areas can cause problems with network efficiency and
result in geographic areas with no or limited coverage. For these and other reasons, penetration levels for mobile
telecommunications services in the United States are generally lower than penetration levels in western European
countries, although the difference continues to decrease over time. Mobile telecommunications operators in the United
States generally continue to invest heavily in their networks in order to generate customer and revenue growth.
Slowing wireless industry customer growth expectations indicate that the market is maturing, with focus moving
towards data services growth.

Usage and pricing practices in the United States mobile market also differ significantly from typical usage and pricing
in European markets. Average voice usage per customer per month is generally much higher in the United States than
in Europe primarily due to lower priced plans for usage and the increasing popularity of unlimited plans, resulting in a
higher number of postpay plans in the United States. Contract pricing in the United States is typically in the form of a
fixed monthly charge at various price points for specified bundles of features and services, which permit usage up to
prescribed limits with no incremental charges. Usage in excess of the limits results in incremental charges. The
majority of prepay service is priced solely on a usage basis, similar to Europe, but the percentage of prepay customers
is significantly smaller in the United States than Europe. Typically, both inbound and outbound usage counts against
the contract usage limits, and both are subject to incremental charges for excess contract usage and prepaid usage.
Monthly average revenue per user (ARPU) is typically higher in the United States than in Europe. However, average
revenue per minute of use is substantially lower in the United States than in Europe. Furthermore, in the United States
unlimited voice and data services offerings have expanded, eliminating incremental usage charges at certain price
points. In late 2009, T-Mobile USA introduced its Even More rate plans, which feature unlimited nationwide voice,
text, and data services. These plans also allow customers the option of being on a service contract and receiving a
subsidized handset, or a no-contract option at lower rates but without a discounted handset. The no-contract plan also
includes the option of no-interest handset financing over a period of up to 20 months.

The differences between the United States and European mobile telecommunications markets result in different
competitive pressures. Like the European market, handset lineup and the perceived value of bundles of voice,
messaging, and data services are key competitive factors in the United States. In addition, 3G network coverage and
quality in the United States has recently become a more important factor than in the past. To the extent that the
competitive environment requires T-Mobile USA to decrease prices, or increase service and product offerings, there
could be significant adverse impacts to revenues, costs and customer retention.

Europe
United Kingdom

T-Mobile UK offers mobile telecommunications services to individual and business customers in the United
Kingdom.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 17.2 16.8 17.3
Contract 4.1 4.1 3.9
Prepay 13.1 12.7 13.4
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Thereof : Virgin Mobile 4.3 4.8 5.2

For the For the For the
yearended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 2.6 % 3.4 % 3.2 %
Contract 2.1 % 2.1 % 2.0 %
Prepay 2.8 % 4.0 % 3.8 %

In 2009, T-Mobile UK’s total customer base increased compared to 2008. The number of prepay customers (not
including Virgin Mobile customers) increased by 0.8 million, which was mainly caused by focusing on SIM card only
sales. At December 31, 2008, T-Mobile UK had approximately 16.8 million customers, compared to approximately
17.3 million at December 31, 2007.
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The number of Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, or Virgin Mobile, customers decreased by 0.5 million year on year.
Customers of Virgin Mobile, an MVNO, are included in T-Mobile UK’s reported customer base as prepay customers
because it is currently impossible for T-Mobile UK to differentiate between Virgin Mobile customers as contract
customers or prepay customers. As an MVNO, Virgin Mobile purchases airtime minutes and basic mobile services
from T-Mobile UK and resells these minutes and services under the “Virgin Mobile” brand name.

Of the total number of T-Mobile UK customers at December 31, 2008 and 2007, approximately 4.8 million and 5.2
million, respectively, were customers of Virgin Mobile. M2M cards are also included in the T-Mobile UK customer
base. M2M cards account for one percent of the overall customer base.

On November 5, 2009, we and France Télécom entered into an agreement to merge their mobile units in the UK. The
closing of the transaction is expected during the course of 2010, depending on the approval of the respective
authorities. The outcome of the merger will be a 50:50 joint venture with a balanced governance structure. Through
this merger, we and France Télécom are creating a company in the UK mobile market that will serve a combined
customer base of approximately 32.7 million customers (as of the end of third quarter 2009 and including Virgin
Mobile customers). The transaction also has synergy potential through costs savings that we expect to realize through
integration and scale and includes the Orange broadband activities.

Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, if a third party were to take a controlling stake in Deutsche Telekom,
France Télécom would be relieved of all restrictions imposed on the shareholders relating to the transfer of their
shares for a period of one year. However, even in this situation, transferring shares to competitors would remain
prohibited.

In December 2007, “3” (a brand name of Hutchison 3G UK Limited) and T-Mobile UK entered into a network sharing
agreement to consolidate their 3G Radio Access Networks to provide customers with enhanced network coverage and
faster access to high-speed mobile services at a lower cost. In early 2008, the joint venture they established, Mobile
Broadband Network Limited, or MBNL, introduced its first integrated cell site using the new network consolidation
technology. With the continued strong cooperation with our joint venture partner, Hutchison 3G, MBNL has
significantly advanced the progress of its network roll out. We expect considerable further progress in the expansion
of the 3G network in 2010 to provide the UK's largest 3G network to our customers in terms of number of sites.

During 2009, T-Mobile UK’s average monthly churn rate (not including Virgin Mobile customers) was 2.6%,
compared to 3.4% in 2008. This decrease in churn rate was predominantly caused by the decrease in T-Mobile UK’s
prepay churn rate of 2.8% per month in 2009, compared to 4.0% per month in 2008. This positive development was
caused mainly by improved prepay retention programs. The contract churn rate remained unchanged.

During 2008, T-Mobile UK’s average monthly churn rate (not including Virgin Mobile customers) was 3.4%,
compared to 3.2% in 2007. The increase in churn was predominantly caused by an increase in T-Mobile UK’s prepay
churn rate of 4.0% per month in 2008, compared to 3.8% per month in 2007, which was mainly caused by an intense
focus on the contract customer base. The contract churn rate was 2.1% per month in 2008, which slightly increased
compared to 2007

Generally, a contract customer of T-Mobile UK is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of a
contract or after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. A prepay
customer in the United Kingdom is churned after a period of 180 days of inactivity, i.e., the customer has neither
originated nor received a voice or data communication in that period. Virgin Mobile reports to T-Mobile UK the
number of customers using a churn policy whereby a customer is churned after a period of 180 days of inactivity.

In the UK, T-Mobile UK faces intense competition from mobile network operators Vodafone, O2, Orange and “3”. In
addition, in the retail market, T-Mobile UK competes against resellers and MVNOs.
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Poland

Through PTC, we offer mobile telecommunications services to individual and business customers in Poland. We hold
a 97% interest in PTC.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 13.5 13.3 13.0
Contract 6.7 6.3 5.4
Prepay 6.8 6.9 7.6
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 2.7 % 3.1 % 3.1 %
Contract 0.8 % 0.6 % 0.7 %
Prepay 4.6 % 5.2 % 4.6 %

In 2009, the customer base of PTC increased compared with 2008 due to a positive development in the number of
contract customers, as a result of successful retention campaigns.

The monthly churn decreased in 2009 compared with 2008. This reduction was due to a high prepay churn in 2008 as
a result of disconnections of SIM cards that were being used improperly at that time.

PTC’s average churn rate during 2008 and 2007 was 3.1% per month. The average contract churn rate during 2008 was
0.6% per month, which represents a decrease from 0.7% per month in 2007, primarily due to intensive retention
campaigns. The average prepay churn rate increased from 4.6% per month in 2007 to 5.2% per month in 2008,
primarily due to disconnections of improperly used SIM cards.

In general, a contract customer of PTC is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of a contract or
after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. PTC’s prepay churn
policy generally states that a customer can originate calls or data traffic and receive data or voice communications
during the relevant validity period. The length of the validity period can be up to 12 months depending on the recharge
amount (account validity). The validity period can be extended by additional top-up credits. If a customer exceeds the
account validity date, the customer will receive a grace period depending on the applicable tariff. During the grace
period, the customer can only receive voice and data communications. The grace period is either 3 months or 12
months depending on the tariff plan. If the prepay account has not been topped-up during this grace period, the
customer is churned.

PTC includes in its customer base machine-to-machine cards. M2M cards account for 1.4% of the overall customer
base in 2009.

In Poland, PTC faces competition from network operators Polkomtel, Centertel and P4 and in addition from MVNOs.

For information regarding a dispute concerning our investment in PTC, including challenges to our ownership of PTC
shares, see “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.”
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The Netherlands

Through T-Mobile Netherlands, we offer mobile telecommunications and broadband fixed-line services to individual
and business customers in The Netherlands.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 4.6 5.3 4.9
Contract 2.4 2.3 2.1
Prepay 2.2 3.0 2.8
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 3.8 % 2.5 % 2.8 %
Contract 1.5 % 1.6 % 1.4 %
Prepay 5.6 % 3.1 % 4.1 %

At T-Mobile Netherlands, the overall customer base decreased in 2009 compared with 2008. This decline was
attributable to a reduction in the prepay customer base as a result of an increase in prepay churn. The contract
customer base increased in 2009, despite a highly competitive market situation in The Netherlands.

In 2009, the overall churn rate increased sharply as a result of an increase in the prepay churn rate. The increase of
prepay churn was caused by an initiative resulting from the Orange customer migration. Prepay customers of Orange
Nederland N.V. who had been migrated to the T-Mobile Netherlands customer base in the middle of 2009, but who
did not show any activity within 180 days after the migration, were churned by the end of 2009. This led to a
significant decrease of customer base in the prepay segment. The churn rate in the contact customer segment
decreased in 2009 compared with 2008 as a result of enhanced initiatives for customer retention.

T-Mobile Netherlands’ average churn rate for 2008 (including Orange Nederland for a full year) was 2.5% per month,
compared to an average churn rate of 2.8% per month in 2007. This decrease in 2008 was due to a decrease in prepay
churn rate.

In general, a contract customer of T-Mobile Netherlands is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the
lapse of a contract or after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. If
a prepay customer of T-Mobile Netherlands has neither originated nor received voice or data activity (or received only
SMS/MMS messages) for a period of 180 days, the customer is churned and removed from the customer base.

In the Dutch retail market, in addition to competition from the mobile network operators KPN Mobile and Vodafone,
T-Mobile Netherlands competes with an increasing number of MVNOs.
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Czech Republic

Through T-Mobile Czech Republic, we offer mobile telecommunications services to individual and business
customers in the Czech Republic and since December 2009 fixed line services. We hold an interest of approximately
61% in T-Mobile Czech Republic.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 5.5 5.4 5.3
Contract 2.7 2.5 2.2
Prepay 2.8 2.9 3.0
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 1.4 % 1.4 % 1.4 %
Contract 0.5 % 0.5 % 0.6 %
Prepay 2.2 % 2.1 % 1.9 %

In 2009, the overall customer base of T-Mobile Czech Republic slightly increased compared with 2008. As a result of
our strategy to focus on high value contract customers, the contract customer base increased year-over-year, while the
prepay customer base slightly decreased.

The slight increase in the prepay churn rate in 2009 was the result of a stable level of prepay disconnections relative to
a smaller average customer base due to lower prepay customer gross additions.

T-Mobile Czech Republic’s average churn rate during 2008 was 1.4% per month, which is approximately the same as
in 2007. The average contract churn rate during 2008 was 0.5% per month, compared to the average contract churn
rate of 0.6% per month during 2007. The average prepay churn rate during 2008 was 2.1% per month, compared to the
average prepay churn rate of 1.9% per month during 2007. The year-over-year changes of contract and prepay churn
are caused by an ongoing trend of migration to prepay segment instead of deactivation the customer in contract
segment, which allows T-Mobile Czech Republic to save part of contract customers in prepay segment. Nevertheless
it is also increasing the prepay churn.

At T-Mobile Czech Republic, generally, a contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the
lapse of a contract or after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. In
the absence of re-charging, a prepay customer is churned 30 days after completing a period of 12 months without
charged voice or data communications activity.

In the Czech Republic, T-Mobile Czech Republic faces competition from Telefénica O2 Czech Republic (formerly

Eurotel Praha), Vodafone Czech Republic (formerly Oskar Mobil) and since mid-2008 MobilKom under its brand
“U:Fon”.
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Austria

Through T-Mobile Austria, we offer mobile telecommunications services to individual and business customers in
Austria.

As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 34 34 33
Contract 2.3 2.3 2.1
Prepay 1.1 1.1 1.1
For the For the For the

year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December

Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 1.8 % 1.8 % 2.0 %
Contract 1.1 % 1.0 % 1.2 %
Prepay 3.5 % 3.3 % 3.4 %

In 2009, the customer base of T-Mobile Austria remained unchanged compared with 2008, both in the contract and
the prepay customer segment. This result was achieved despite intense competition in the Austrian mobile
communication market. M2M cards account for one percent of T-Mobile Austria’s overall prepay customer base at the
end of 2009.

The overall churn rate at T-Mobile Austria remained stable in 2009 compared with 2008, despite a slight churn rate
increase in prepay and contract. This effect was attributable to a slightly higher average contract customer share in the
overall average customer base in 2009 compared with 2008. The prepay churn rate increased as a result of intense
competition in the Austrian mobile communication market.

T-Mobile Austria’s average churn rate during 2008 slightly decreased to 1.8% per month (tele.ring’s average churn rate
was 2.1% per month during 2008), as compared to the average churn rate of 2.0% per month during 2007. The

average churn rate for contract customers during 2008 decreased to 1.0% per month compared to 1.2% per month in
2007 (tele.ring’s average contract churn rate was 1.2% per month during 2008) due to increased retention measures.
The average prepay churn rate during 2008 was 3.3% per month, compared to the average prepay churn rate of 3.4%
per month during 2007.

In general, a contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of a contract or after
forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations. Since the beginning of
September 2007, T-Mobile Austria has generally churned prepay customers if they had 13 months and two weeks
without any charged data or voice communication.

tele.ring, which we manage as a separate brand within T-Mobile Austria, generally churned prepay customers after
three months without any charged data or voice communication. Beginning in January 2010, the churn policy of
T-Mobile Austria for prepay customers will also be used for tele.ring prepay customers. The alignment of the churn
policies will result in a higher reported subscriber base and thus, a lower amount of average revenue per customer.
In Austria, T-Mobile Austria primarily faces competition from mobilkom austria, Orange (formerly ONE) and “3”.
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Southern and Eastern Europe

Our Southern and Eastern Europe (SEE) operating segment includes the fixed-network and mobile communications
subsidiaries of T-Hrvatski Telekom, Slovak Telekom, Magyar Telekom, Makedonski Telekom, Crnogorski Telekom
and the OTE group: OTE, COSMOTE, Romtelecom, COSMOTE Romania, Globul (Bulgaria) and AMC (Albania).

As of As of As of
December  December  December
31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Fixed-network lines (1) 11.9 12.8 13.6
Retail broadband lines 3.5 3.0 2.1
Wholesale bundled lines (2) 0.2 0.3 0.4
ULLs (3) 1.1 0.7 0.3
Mobile customers (4) 34.6 31.6 26.2

OTE has been consolidated since February 2009. Prior-year figures in all tables have been adjusted accordingly on a

pro forma basis.

@) Lines in operation excluding internal use and public telecommunications, including IP-based lines.
(2) Wholesale bundled lines: sale of broadband lines based on DSL technology to alternative providers outside
Deutsche Telekom, including bundled IP-Bitstream Access (IP-BSA). In the case of IP-BSA, we lease DSL lines

to the competitor and transport the datastream carried over these lines.

(3) Unbundled local loop line: Deutsche Telekom wholesale service that can be leased by alternative
telecommunications operators without upstream technical equipment in order to offer their own customers a

telephone or DSL line.
)

Hungary

One mobile communications card corresponds to one customer.

We hold a 59.2% interest in Magyar Telekom, the leading full-service telecommunications provider in terms of
customers and revenues in Hungary. The following table summarizes our key customer information for Hungary.

Fixed network

As of As of As of
December December December
Lines (millions)(1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Broadband access lines 0.8 0.8 0.7
Fixed network access lines 1.8 2.0 2.2
Mobile communications
As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions)(2) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 5.1 5.4 4.9
Contract 2.3 2.1 1.8
Prepay 2.8 33 3.1
For the For the For the
year ended  yearended  year ended
December December December
Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 2.1 1.3 1.3
Contract (3) 1.1 0.9 0.8
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Prepay (4) 2.8 % 1.6 % 1.8

(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines, but excluding internal use and public telecommunications systems.
Broadband include bundled and unbundled resale and retail services.

(2) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

(3) A contract customer of T-Mobile Hungary is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his
contracted loyalty period or after forced contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill payment
obligations.

(4)In the absence of re-charging, a prepay customer is suspended after a period of 12 to 16 months depending on the
amount charged on the prepay card.
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Magyar Telekom offers telecommunications services, such as fixed-line and mobile telephone services, data
communications services, wholesale services, IP/Internet services, multimedia broadcast services and other services
for customers throughout Hungary. Magyar Telekom’s systems integration and IT operations are reported under our
operating segment Systems Solutions.

In 2009, the number of Magyar Telekom's fixed-network access lines in operation decreased compared to 2008 and
2007 mainly due to ongoing fixed-mobile substitution. The positive development of the broadband market and high
demand for broadband solutions influenced Magyar Telekom's number of broadband access lines in

operation. Broadband access lines in operation increased in 2009 to 789,000, compared to 761,000 at December 31,
2008 and 715,000 at December 31, 2007.

In September 2008, Magyar Telekom decided to roll-out a fiber-optic network that would enable it to offer innovative
products, including television services. Magyar Telekom’s multimedia services business primarily consists of its cable
television business. The number of Magyar Telekom’s cable television customers decreased to 407,000 at December
31, 2009 from 423,000 at December 31, 2008 and 419,000 at December 31, 2007, mainly driven by the entry of new
competing technologies. As part of Magyar Telekom’s strategy to provide international network and carrier services in
southeastern Europe, Magyar Telekom currently offers wholesale services in Romania, Bulgaria and the Ukraine.

T-Mobile Hungary, the mobile brand of Magyar Telekom, offers mobile telecommunications services to individual
and business customers in Hungary. At December 31, 2009, the number of T-Mobile Hungary’s customers declined
compared with 2008 due mainly to the impact of the economic crisis and the churn of inactive SIM cards. Growth in
the number of contract customers, as a result of attractive tariff packages, sales commission schemes and loyalty
programs, partially offset the decline in prepay customers.

T-Mobile Hungary’s average churn rate during 2009 was 2.1% per month, which represents an increase from 2008.
The average contract churn rate in 2009 was approximately 1.1% per month, compared to approximately 0.9% per
month in 2008 due to continued competitive pressure in the Hungarian market. The corresponding prepay customer
churn rate was approximately 2.8% in 2009 compared to approximately 1.6% in 2008 due to increased churn of
inactive customers and cancellations related to the economic crisis.

Croatia

We own 51% of T-Hrvatski Telekom, the leading full-service telecommunications provider in the Croatia in terms of
revenues. The following table summarizes our key customer information for Croatia.

Fixed network

As of As of As of
December December December
Lines (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Broadband access lines 0.6 0.5 0.3
Fixed network access lines 1.5 1.6 1.6
Mobile communications
As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) (2) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 2.9 2.7 2.4
Contract 0.9 0.8 0.7
Prepay 1.9 1.9 1.7
Monthly churn rate For the For the For the
yearended  yearended  year ended
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December December December
31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007

Total 1.9 % 14 % 1.3 %
Contract (3) 0.8 % 0.7 % 0.7 %
Prepay (4) 2.3 % 1.7 % 1.5 %

(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines, but excluding internal use and public telecommunications systems.
Broadband access lines include bundled and unbundled resale and retail services.
2) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.
(3) A contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his contract or after forced
contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations.
4 A prepay customer is churned after a period of 270 days without recharging.
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T-Hrvatski Telekom offers access and local, long-distance and international fixed-line telephone services, data
communications services, IP/Internet services, including IPTV, and wholesale services and mobile
telecommunications services through T-Mobile Hrvatska d.o.o., or T-Mobile Croatia, to individual and business
customers in Croatia. As of January 1, 2010, T-Hrvatski Telekom merged its fixed network and mobile
communication businesses to improve customer service and operational efficiencies.

T-Hrvatski Telekom operates a digitalized fixed-line telecommunications network and started the commercial roll-out
of a fiber network in 2008. In 2009, the number of T-Hrvatski Telekom’s fixed network access lines in operation
decreased slightly compared to 2008 and 2007. The number of broadband access lines provided by T-Hrvatski
Telekom continued to increase in 2009. The number of broadband access lines in operation at December 31, 2009 was
555,000 compared to 473,000 at December 31, 2008 and 345,000 at December 31, 2007. The fixed-line business
continues to be characterized by increasing competition, particularly the broadband business, as a result of the
unbundled local loop. However, mobile substitution is the main competitive challenge in Croatia.

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, T-Mobile Croatia, T-Hrvatski Telekom offers mobile telecommunications
services to individual and business customers in Croatia. At December 31, 2009, T-Mobile Croatia had approximately
2.8 million customers, an increase compared to 2008. Of the total customers at December 31, 2009, approximately
0.9 million were contract customers, a slight increase over 2008 primarily as a result of attractive tariffs. The number
of prepay customers slightly increased in 2009 compared with 2008.

T-Mobile Croatia’s average monthly churn rate during 2009 increased to 1.9% from 1.4% per month in 2008, primarily
as a result of increased contract and prepay churn. The average contract churn rate was 0.8% per month in 2009, a
slight increase compared with 2008 primarily as a result of increasing competition. The average prepay churn rate
during 2009 was 2.3% per month compared with 1.7% per month in 2008, mainly as a result of increased competition
in the lower-margin prepay segment.

Slovakia

We hold a 51% interest in Slovak Telekom, a leading full-service telecommunications provider in the Slovak

Republic. The following table summarizes our key customer information for Slovakia.

Fixed network

As of As of As of
December December December
Lines (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Broadband access lines 0.4 0.3 0.3
Fixed network access lines 1.1 1.1 1.1
Mobile communications
As of As of As of
December December December
Customers (millions) (2) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 2.4 2.3 2.4
Contract 1.4 1.4 1.2
Prepay 1.0 1.0 1.2
For the For the For the
yearended  yearended  year ended
December December December
Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 1.4 % 1.8 1.5 %
Contract (3) 1.0 % 0.8 0.8 %
Prepay (4) 2.0 % 3.0 2.1 %
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(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines, but excluding internal use and public telecommunications systems.
Broadband access lines include bundled and unbundled resale and retail services.

(2) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

(3) A contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his contract or after forced
contract termination due to the customer’s failure to fulfill contractual obligations.

(4) A prepay customer is churned after a period of 12 months without re-charging since the most recent use.

Slovak Telekom offers access and local, long-distance and international fixed-line telephone services, data

communications services, wholesale services, and IP/Internet services. In January 2010, Slovak Telekom officially

launched satellite TV services. Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, T-Mobile Slovensko, Slovak Telekom offers

mobile telecommunications services to individual and business customers in Slovakia. In December 2009, the Boards

of Directors of Slovak Telekom and T-Mobile Slovensko approved a plan to combine the fixed-line and mobile

businesses into one integrated company in 2010 with the objective of improving customer service and internal

efficiency.

38

70



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents

Slovak Telekom’s total number of fixed-network access lines decreased slightly in 2009 by 2.2% compared to 2008.
The decrease in traditional fixed network lines was partially offset by an increase in the number of All-IP access lines
compared to previous year. Slovak Telekom’s total number of fixed-network access lines decreased in 2008 by 1.3%
compared to 2007, despite a substantial increase in demand for All-IP access lines. In 2009, Slovak Telekom
continued to increase its triple-play services offering and believes that triple-play is one of the main drivers for the
success of its broadband business. The number of broadband access lines in operation in Slovak Telekom’s network
continued to increase in 2009. The number of broadband access lines in operation at December 31, 2009 was 391,000
compared with 339,000 at December 31, 2008 and 261,000 at December 31, 2007. Mobile substitution remains one of
the main competitive challenges for Slovak Telekom’s fixed-network business.

At December 31, 2009, T-Mobile Slovensko had approximately 2.4 million customers, compared with 2.3 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2.4 million at December 31, 2007. The slight increase in the number of customers in 2009
compared to 2008 was primarily a result of overall market growth. T-Mobile Slovensko’s average churn rate during
2009 was 1.4% per month, which represents a decrease from 1.8% in 2008, primarily as a result of the decline in
prepay churn, which was partially offset by an increase in contract churn. The average prepay churn decreased from
3.0% per month in 2009 to 2.0% per month in 2008, primarily as a result of less competition. The average contract
churn rate increased from 0.8% per month to 1.0% per month in 2009, primarily as a result of increasing competition.

Greece

We currently own 30% plus one share in OTE and control additional shares through a shareholders’ agreement with

the Hellenic Republic or HR, pursuant to which we have assumed management control of OTE. We have consolidated

OTE since February 2009. The Hellenic Republic also has a put option with respect to its current holdings in OTE.

For more information, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments—Contractual Cash Obligations.” In addition to its presence in
Greece, OTE also has subsidiaries in Romania, Bulgaria and Albania.

The following table summarizes our key customer information for Greece.

Fixed network

As of As of As of
December December  December
Lines (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Broadband access lines 1.1 1.0 0.8
Fixed network access lines 4.2 4.6 5.0
Mobile communications
As of As of As of
December December  December
Customers (millions) (2) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 9.2 7.9 6.3
Contract 2.3 2.2 2.0
Prepay 6.9 5.7 4.2
For the For the For the
yearended  year ended year ended
December December  December
Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 3.2 % n.a. n.a.
Contract (3) 2.0 % n.a. n.a.
Prepay (4) 3.6 % n.a. n.a.
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n.a.—not applicable

(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines, but excluding internal use and public telecommunications systems.
Broadband access lines include bundled and unbundled resale and retail services.

(2) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

(3) A contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his contract or after forced
contract termination due to the customer's failure to fulfill contractual obligations.

(4) A prepay customer gets suspended in the sixth or twelfth month after the last recharge depending on the tariff. The
suspension period is one month. During this period, the subscriber is barred from making calls but can accept
incoming calls. Seven or thirteen months after the last recharge the customer gets deactivated and is considered as
churned.

OTE is the leading full-service telecommunications provider, based on revenues, of fixed-line voice telephony and
IP/Internet access services to residential and business customers in Greece. It also provides data communication
services, wholesale services and satellite telecommunications services.
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The number of fixed-network access lines decreased as a result of increasing competition and fixed-mobile
substitution. Increased access to the unbundled local loop has increased competition in Greece. In 2009, the number of
broadband lines increased compared with 2008 due to the efforts of OTE to promote its broadband business through
investment in infrastructure covering the needs of both retail and wholesale customers, as well as through extensive
sales promotions. These actions, combined with the initial low penetration levels of broadband access lines in Greece,
led to strong growth, which continued despite the economic environment.

The number of mobile customers increased in 2009 compared to 2008 mainly as a result of a larger number of prepay
customers. In addition, customer growth resulted from numerous innovative and competitive products offered during
2009, improved and successful marketing and communication strategy, sales activities of GERMANOS retail stores
and the integration of GERMANOS operations. During 2009, COSMOTE expanded its leadership in the Greek
market based on the number of customers, reaching 9.2 million customers. COSMOTE has been gaining market share
over the past few years by focusing on the enhancement of the services offered, the upgrade of the network, the
improvement of customer service, its distribution network, the strengthening of its corporate image and through
competitive products and services. In 2009, average churn increased, due to a significant increase in prepay churn,
which was mainly a result of newly introduced prepay customer registration and several aggressive market offers by
our competitors.

Romania

OTE holds a 54.01% interest in the share capital of RomTelecom S.A., the incumbent telecommunications services
provider in Romania. RomTelecom offers fixed-line, data communication, IP/Internet, wholesale and satellite TV
services. OTE’s subsidiary, Cosmote S.A., holds an interest of 70% in the share capital of the mobile operator Cosmote
Romania, with RomTelecom holding the remaining 30%. Cosmote Romania is currently one of the three GSM (2G)
mobile telecommunications providers in Romania. As further described below, in 2009 Cosmote acquired Telemobil
S.A. (Zapp), the oldest mobile communications provider in Romania.

The following table summarizes our key customer information for Romania.

Fixed network

As of As of As of
December December  December
Lines (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Broadband access lines 0.8 0.7 0.4
Fixed network access lines 2.8 3.0 3.1
Mobile communications
As of As of As of
December December  December
Customers (millions) (2) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 7.3 59 3.6
Contract 1.5 1.1 0.6
Prepay 5.7 4.8 3.0
For the For the For the
yearended  year ended year ended
December December  December
Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 3.8 % n.a. n.a.
Contract (3) 2.1 % n.a. n.a.
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Prepay (4) 43 % n.a. n.a.

n.a.—not applicable

(1)Lines in operation, including IP-based lines, but excluding internal use and public telecommunications systems.
Broadband access lines, including bundled and unbundled resale and retail services.

(2) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer. Figures of Zapp have been included in the 2009
customer data, but were not included in 2008 or 2007 customer data.

(3) A contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his contract or after forced
contract termination due to the customer's failure to fulfill contractual obligations.

(4) A prepay customer gets suspended in the twelfth month after the last recharge for one month. During this
one-month suspension period, the subscriber is barred from making calls but can accept incoming calls. Thirteen
months after the last recharge, the customer is deactivated and is considered as churned.
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The number of fixed-network access lines in Romania decreased in 2009 due to general trends such as fixed-mobile
substitution and the high level of competition, which resulted in a strong pressure on prices. The growing broadband
market in Romania is expected to generate demand for a number of newly-introduced applications, such as IPTV.
RomTelecom is considering a number of options for responding to the increase in demand for broadband based
products, including investing in VDSL or fiber networks.

The number of mobile customers increased in 2009 as a result of growth in both contract and prepay customers
despite intense competition and the effects of the global economic crisis. The increase in contract customers was
partially a result of the acquisition of Zapp. On October 29, 2009, the Romanian authorities approved the acquisition
of 100% less one share of Zapp, the oldest mobile communications provider in Romania, by Cosmote. OTE has
consolidated Zapp since November 2009. At the end of 2009, Zapp had approximately 360,000 customers and its 3G
network covered 23 cities in Romania. The acquisition of Zapp was made to enhance the business’ outlook, as
Cosmote Romania will be able to offer new mobile broadband services through its 3G and CDMA licenses.

The total number of mobile subscribers in Romania reached 7.3 million in 2009, an increase of 23.7% compared to
2008.

Bulgaria

Cosmote S.A. (Greece) owns 100% of Globul, a mobile telecommunications operator in Bulgaria. Globul also holds a
license for the construction, maintenance and use of a public telecommunications network for data transmission and
the provision of public telecommunications services in Bulgaria, and has been awarded the right to use microwave
frequencies and the right to provide leased lines.

The following table summarizes our key customer information for Bulgaria.

Mobile communications

As of As of As of
December December  December
Customers (millions) (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 3.9 4.1 3.9
Contract 2.1 2.1 1.7
Prepay 1.8 2.0 2.2
For the For the For the
year ended  year ended year ended
December December  December
Monthly churn rate 31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2007
Total 3.8 n.a. n.a.
Contract (2) 2.5 n.a. n.a.
Prepay (3) 5.3 n.a. n.a.

n.a.—not applicable

(1) Total number of contract and prepay customers at year-end for the periods presented based on the number of
activated SIM cards. One SIM card corresponds to one customer.

(2) A contract customer is churned either after the voluntary termination upon the lapse of his contract or after forced
contract termination due to the customer's failure to fulfill contractual obligations.

(3) A prepay customer is suspended for one month after the twelfth month after the last recharge. During this
suspension period, the subscriber is barred from making calls but can accept incoming calls. Thirteen months after the
last recharge, the customer gets deactivated and is considered as churned.

75



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Globul is the second largest operator in the Bulgarian mobile market in terms of the number of customers. By the end
of 2009, Globul had 3.9 million customers, down by 4.8% compared to 2008, mainly due to the decline in prepaid
customers. Contract subscribers exceeded 54% of the total customer base compared to 51% in 2008, while the
company’s total market share remained stable at approximately 38% despite the aggressive competition. In 2009,
Globul continued upgrading its telecommunication infrastructure, maintaining its competitiveness both in terms of
geographical coverage and quality of its 2G and 3G networks. The company has been introducing new innovative and
competitive products to meet the needs of the consumers.
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Other includes our operations in Albania, the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia and Montenegro. Through the 97 % owned
COSMO-Holding Albania, and the acquisition of a 12.5% stake during 2009 directly by Cosmote, Cosmote indirectly
holds a majority (effective 95%) of the share capital of AMC, a mobile telecommunications subsidiary in Albania.
AMC’s network operates on the GSM 900 and GSM 1800 frequencies in Albania. In the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia, we
offer fixed network communications through Makedonski Telekom, which is majority owned by Magyar Telekom.
We offer mobile telecommunications services through T-Mobile Macedonia, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Makedonski Telekom. In addition, Magyar Telekom has a stake of 76.5% in Crnogorski Telekom, which provides
fixed-network and mobile telecommunications services in the Republic of Montenegro.

As of As of As of
December  December  December
Other (1) 31, 2009 31, 2008 31,2007
Fixed-network lines (2) 0.5 0.6 0.6
Broadband lines (3) 0.2 0.1 0.1
Mobile customers (4) 5.9 5.4 4.4

(1)Other includes the companies AMC (Albania), Makedonski Telekom (the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia), T-Mobile
Macedonia (the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia) and Crnogorski Telekom (Montenegro: mobile communications and fixed
network).

(2)Lines in operation excluding internal use and public telecommunications, including IP-based lines.

(3) Total of retail and resale broadband lines.

(4)One mobile communications card corresponds to one customer.

Other includes our operations in Albania, the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia and Montenegro. Through the 97 % owned
COSMO-Holding Albania, and the acquisition of a 12.5% stake during 2009 directly by Cosmote, Cosmote indirectly
holds a majority (effective 95%) of the share capital of AMC, a mobile telecommunications subsidiary in Albania.
AMC’s network operates on the GSM 900 and GSM 1800 frequencies in Albania. In the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia, we
offer fixed network communications through Makedonski Telekom, which is majority owned by Magyar Telekom.
We offer mobile telecommunications services through T-Mobile Macedonia, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Makedonski Telekom. In addition, Magyar Telekom has a stake of 76.5% in Crnogorski Telekom, which provides
fixed-network and mobile telecommunications services in the Republic of Montenegro.

Competition

Competition in the fixed-line network business in Southern and Eastern Europe increased in 2009. Mobile substitution
and regulation requiring access to the unbundled local loop led this development. Competition in the fixed-line
network business is primarily based on price. In addition, the mobile telecommunications market is highly
competitive, with the operators competing primarily based on price. T-Mobile Hungary faces competition from
Pannon and Vodafone Hungary. T-Mobile Croatia faces competition from VIPnet and Tele2. T-Mobile Slovakia
mainly competes against Orange and Telefénica O2. Cosmote Greece faces competition from Vodafone and Wind
Hellas while in Romania, COSMOTE faces competition mainly from Orange and Vodafone. In Bulgaria, Globul faces
competition from M-Tel and Vivatel. In Hungary, Croatia, and Greece we are the mobile telecommunications
market-leader in terms of customers.

Systems Solutions

Through T-Systems, our Systems Solutions operating segment provides Information and Communications
Technology, or ICT, services worldwide, primarily to multinational companies, government agencies and non-profit
organizations. The mission of T-Systems is to shape the networked future of business and society and add value for
our customers and employees with innovative ICT solutions. Beginning in 2009, we transferred responsibility for our
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small, medium and large business customers from T-Systems to our Germany operating segment.
Principal Markets

T-Systems uses its information technology and telecommunications expertise to provide ICT infrastructure and
tailored solutions to its customers. Its service offering portfolio along the entire ICT value chain has been simplified
from a few hundred to 55 offerings, which include standardized service offerings and individual solutions tailored to
the specific needs of our customers. T-Systems supports its customers through its global telecommunications and IT
infrastructure networks. T-Systems’ primary markets are located in Germany and the rest of Western Europe.

Although the majority of T-Systems’ customers are headquartered in Germany, as of December 31, 2009,
approximately 45% of T-Systems’ 46 021 employees provided services from locations outside Germany. The
German-based operations contributed approximately 70% of T-Systems’ total revenues, which include intersegment
revenues from other Deutsche Telekom Group companies and affiliates. For more information, see “Item 5. Operating
and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Analysis—Systems Solutions.”
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Organizational Structure

In 2009, T-Systems continued to improve its organization and sales and delivery processes. T-Systems is comprised of
one sales unit and two delivery units. T-Systems’ sales unit, known as Corporate Customers, is responsible for sales
and providing ICT solutions to multinational companies, large enterprises and organizations. Two delivery units, ICT
Operations and Systems Integration, complement the activities of Corporate Customers.

T-Systems’ operations are supported by the activities of Detecon International GmbH and T-Systems Multimedia
Solutions GmbH. Detecon offers its customers integrated management and technology consulting and operates
worldwide with a focus on consulting for the telecommunications market. T-Systems Multimedia Solutions develops
web based solutions for T-Systems’ customers, with a focus on e-commerce and information and knowledge
management.

Corporate Customers

Corporate Customers is the sales unit of T-Systems International GmbH serving over 400 biggest customers of
Deutsche Telekom including our customers of the public and health sector. Furthermore, Corporate Customers is also
responsible for selling ICT services to all business customers outside Germany. The Corporate Customers business
unit currently serves its multinational and other major customers with a dedicated key account management team and
large customers with a direct sales approach.

Corporate Customers formed its organization along its customers and has been structured into 5 operational units and
5 support units.

The KAM Unit is responsible for the overall global development and management of business with major customers
with headquarters in Germany. This unit has a customer base of approximately 40 customers in 9 industry segments.
Each of these customers will be served by its own key account management.

Due to their business impact, four Global Accounts, Daimler, DP DHL, Shell and VW have been organized as
separate operational units. Each of these customers will be served by its own key account management.

The Direct Sales Unit serves approximately 340 customers. Direct Sales is responsible for the overall global
development and management of business with these customers. Direct Sales bundles account management and
service management, as well as sales management capabilities, and is supported by pre-sales capabilities.

The Corporate Customers business unit also includes the Deutsche Telekom global account, which reduces IT and
telecommunications related costs for the Group. Working on the basis of a “one company” principle with shared goals
across all business units of the Group, the DTAG Global Account team aims to contribute to positive developments in
the IT landscapes, cost savings, innovation and simplicity within the Group.

Due to its specific requirements, the public and healthcare industries (including government agencies in the federal
structure, state pension funds, the armed forces of the Federal Republic, research and teaching institutions,
international organizations and the healthcare sector) are served by a separate dedicated team. The unit has been
organized in accordance with the federal structure.

Corporate Customers combines its support functions in five specific units: ICT PreSales, Big Deal Management, Sales
Operations Management, Business Operations & Excellence and International Operations & Services.

ICT PreSales is responsible for bid management and has the technical expertise to provide solutions to fit the
customers’ needs. ICT PreSales supports the operative sales units through the entire sales process until closing the deal.
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Big Deal Management is responsible for the development of large volume and strategically relevant deals in selected
geographic areas, including the initial sales phase, closing the transaction, and transition to the appropriate service and
delivery unit.

Sales Operations Management is responsible for maintaining the same methods and processes relating to the main
functions within Corporate Customers and sales operations, as well as account and sales management support.

Business Operations & Excellence bundles different tasks and projects across the Corporate Customers Unit, such as
Complaint Management, Six Sigma for enhanced quality management, support for the CSO, interaction among
employees, management and our KAM, etc.

The International Operations and Services unit has been established to support the international operations of
T-Systems’ customers and the international activities of T-Systems. This unit supports the account, sales and bid
management activities and oversees the roll-out of management and strategic programs globally. The unit manages
international activities together with the management of the countries.

43

80



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
ICT Operations

The ICT Operations delivery unit is responsible for providing services relating to customer ICT infrastructure,
including computing services, desktop services, application services and telecommunications services. ICT Operations
integrates the solution and process design, with responsibility for standardization of delivery of services. As of
December 31, 2009, ICT Operations had a total of more than 20,000 employees, of whom approximately half were
based in Germany. ICT Operations provides the personnel, servers and infrastructure necessary to operate the ICT
functions of T-Systems’ customers. ICT Operations is represented in a large number of locations throughout Germany
and the world. ICT Operations has three main service lines, Desktop Services & Solutions, Computing Services &
Solutions and Telecommunications Services & Solutions.

Desktop Services & Solutions

The Desktop Services & Solutions service line is responsible for the development and implementation of complete
office systems solutions with wide-ranging responsibility for IT infrastructure. Other core services include stand-alone
office systems solutions, including desktop operations, call-center and help-desk services, as well as the operation of
computing services infrastructure, consulting and IT design. These services may include sales or leasing contracts
relating to desktop computer hardware supplied by third parties. Through Desktop Services & Solutions, T-Systems
provides cost-effective desktop services primarily to large customers. Such services cover the entire lifecycle of the
workstations provided to the customer, and also include the remote configuration, troubleshooting and debugging of
software running on workstations serviced through Desktop Services & Solutions.

Through Desktop Services & Solutions, ICT Operations also ensures the proper operation of the workstations and
services hardware and software products provided. As of December 31, 2009, more than 1,800,000 workstations were
serviced through Desktop Services & Solutions. Help-desk services are primarily provided through the Services
Office platform and the Call Center Platform Management (CCPM) services. The Services Office platform supports
one of the largest and most sophisticated Microsoft Exchange applications worldwide, with more than 270,000
mailboxes as well as file, fax and SMS services. CCPM includes services that are required for the smooth operation of
a call-center platform. In general, desktop services contracts have an average duration of two years. Customers pay for
managed desktop services based on contractually agreed service levels. These agreements describe quantities of
goods, such as the number of computers leased and maintained, as well as customer-specific availability and quality
requirements for the services provided.

Computing Services & Solutions

Computing Services & Solutions provides customers with the ability to outsource their entire I'T operations. The
services offered include the operation of data centers, application management, user support and network
management. Other services offered include the installation, operation and administration of central and open
computer systems, data center infrastructure services and business applications. Generally, contracts involving
computing services have an average duration of four years or more. Customers pay for computing services based on
contractually agreed service levels. These agreements describe the quantity, quality and extent of services to be
provided.

CSS possesses the server equipment, software tools and expertise employed in the operation of the computer network
infrastructure described above. As of December 31, 2009, CSS’ global mainframe systems performance had a
combined total computing power of more than 100,000 millions of instructions per second (MIPS).

T-Systems’ mainframe computing equipment in Germany and Switzerland (more than 70% of T-Systems’ total

worldwide computing power) is based on a leasing contract with IBM. T-Systems only purchases the computing
capacity actually required, according to a flexible, demand-driven business agreement. In addition to these mainframe
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systems, as of December 31, 2009, a total of approximately 50,000 servers (most of which are owned by T-Systems)
were operated worldwide, in particular in Europe.

Telecommunications Services & Solutions
Telecommunications Services & Solutions manages the development, construction and operation of T-Systems’
German and international service platforms, based on transport capacity leased primarily from our Germany operating
segment and, to a lesser extent, from other providers. T-Systems’ service platforms include:
e [P MPLS, which provides advanced IP services and features, including VPNs for business customers;
e ATM/Frame Relay, which supports our portfolio of specific services for customer networks;
® Voice over IP, which supports VoIP products and acts as a gateway to analog or ISDN networks; and

¢ Ethernet Platform, which supports ethernet VPN services and LAN-to-LAN connections.
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Telecommunications Services & Solutions also provides value-added services through IP-based platforms, including
remote dial-in, client encryption and other security services, share internet access services and managed hosting
services.

Systems Integration

The Systems Integration delivery unit focuses on IT integration projects, application management and application
development. Systems Integration provides advice and assistance for a company’s entire “plan-build-run” lifecycle.
Through its ICT solutions, Systems Integration increases the flexibility of its customers’ business processes. Its
primary focus is on solution design and architecture, I'T projects and solution and application development, including
testing and application lifecycle services. Systems Integration focuses on the introduction of uniform processes,
general standards, methods and tools and enhancing the re-usability of modular solutions. In addition, Systems
Integration supports T-Systems international activities through its delivery network, which provides sales and services
to international customers by offering them tailored, efficient solutions and service components.

Systems Integration’s offshore resources have been significantly increased through T-Systems’ cooperation with
Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation that started in March 2008. Joint activities target mainly European
enterprises in order to meet their demands for global services. T-Systems and Cognizant have bundled their respective
consulting businesses to obtain projects primarily for customers with locations in Asia and Europe that require global
IT solutions.

Competition

T-Systems operates in markets that are subject to intense competitive pressures. The overall market for T-Systems’
services has been characterized by consolidation and increased concentration during the past year. T-Systems faces a
significant number of competitors, ranging in size from large IT and telecommunications providers to an increasing
number of relatively small, rapidly growing and highly specialized organizations. T-Systems believes that the specific
ICT service and solutions offered, performance, quality, reliability and price are important factors in maintaining a
strong competitive position.

T-Systems holds different market positions (based on total revenues) in different regions of the world. In Germany,
T-Systems believes it was the market leader in 2009 in the IT and telecommunications areas. In Western Europe, on a
revenues basis (counting its intersegment revenues), T-Systems was one of the largest I'T services vendors in 2009,
together with IBM Global Services, Accenture, CapGemini, and HP Services. In the telecommunications area, it was
one of the four largest companies, together with BT Global Services, France Telecom and Telefénica. Globally,
T-Systems ranked among the top 20 IT and telecommunications companies in 2009

Competition in the telecommunications markets in which T-Systems competes is very intense, both in Germany and
globally. The market is characterized by substitution of legacy services (voice and data) by IP and mobile services and
by strong pricing pressures. The competitive landscape over the past several years has been characterized by market
participants attempting to reduce their indebtedness and increase their profitability through strategic refocusing and
concentration on IP services, fixed-mobile convergence and network-centric ICT solutions. Additionally,
consolidation in the ICT market (primarily in the U.S. market) has increased competition. T-Systems expects this
strategic refocusing to continue in 2010 and therefore expects similarly fierce competition.

Competition is also intense in the information technology area. The current market is characterized by strong pricing

pressures, reduced customer I'T budgets, prolonged customer sales cycles and aggressive competition from offshore
providers. As a result of these competitive pressures, many companies, including T-Systems, are attempting to
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maintain or expand market share through improved productivity, cost-cutting and efficiency measures. This situation
has also led to a consolidation in the IT sector, which T-Systems expects to continue for the foreseeable future.
However, T-Systems expects the global IT services markets to continue to grow only Competition will remain intense
for the foreseeable future.

45

84



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
Group Headquarters and Shared Services

General

Group Headquarters and Shared Services performs strategic and cross-divisional management functions for the
Deutsche Telekom Group. Group Headquarters functions include those performed by many of our central
departments, such as treasury, legal, accounting and human resources. Operating functions not directly related to the
core businesses of our operating segments are considered Shared Services functions. These functions also include,
among others, the management and servicing of our real estate portfolio in Germany, fleet management and Vivento.
Since July 1, 2009, Group Headquarters and Shared Services also includes certain Group-wide functions in the areas
of products and innovation, technology, IT and mobile communications that are assigned to our Chief Operating
Officer. The shared services and group headquarters functions of Magyar Telekom and the shared services functions
of OTE formerly assigned to Group Headquarters and Shared Services are reported under the Southern and Eastern
Europe operating segment since July 1, 2009. Although many of the Group Headquarters and Shared Services
functions are legally part of Deutsche Telekom AG, we manage Group Headquarters and Shared Services as though it
were a separate legal entity.

Principal Activities

The real estate unit is, based on total revenues, the largest shared service within Group Headquarters and Shared
Services. The real estate unit is responsible for managing our real estate portfolio and renting commercial real estate in
Germany. Our real estate operations are conducted through various subsidiaries and affiliates and include:

e the internal and external Group leasing and rental business;

e the power supply and air conditioning solutions business related to our telecommunications facilities (since
July 1, 2009 assigned to the Germany operating segment); and

¢ the operation, management and servicing of our radio transmission sites, such as our radio towers and transmitter
masts in Germany (primarily used in mobile, radio and satellite communications, as well as for television
broadcasting; since July 1, 2009 assigned to the Germany operating segment).

For more information about our real estate portfolio and management activities, see “—Description of Property, Plant
and Equipment—Network Infrastructure—Real Estate.”

Vivento was established in 2002 with the goal of efficiently implementing our staff restructuring measures in a
socially responsible manner. Through Vivento, displaced workers are retrained and equipped with new employment
qualifications for permanent redeployment within our Group or with external employers, or for project and temporary
assignments. In addition to individual placements, Vivento staffs major projects and workforce-intensive operations
and services. To create further employment opportunities for the employees of the Group, Vivento acquires additional
external employment opportunities for civil servant and non-civil servant employees, particularly in the public sector.
At the beginning of 2004, Vivento commenced providing call center services primarily to some of our Group
companies and, to a lesser extent, to third parties. These call center operations consist of the former call center
operations of our fixed-network operations in Germany and Vivento Customer Services GmbH.

Vivento Customer Services provides customer-relationship services, including call center and back-office services,
within the Group and, to a lesser extent, to third parties. As of December 31, 2009, Vivento Customer Services
employed approximately 1,500 people. In addition, approximately 900 people from Vivento were employed by
Vivento Customer Services on a temporary basis as of that date.
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During 2009, Vivento took on approximately 3,700 of the Group’s employees. Approximately 63% were transferred
from our Germany operating segment. In the reporting period, approximately 2,300 employees left Vivento to pursue
new employment opportunities. About 50% of these employees were placed outside of the Group. At

December 31, 2009, the workforce at Vivento totaled around 9,600 employees. This included around 4,200 employees
who were deployed externally, mainly in the public sector, for example at the Federal Employment Agency.
Approximately another 2,600 people were employed within the Group, especially in call centers, and around 2,800
employees were placed in Vivento’s operational and strategic units or provided with support by Vivento.
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The following table provides information regarding Vivento’s employee structure and movements for the periods
presented:

2009(1) 2008(1) 2007(1)

Number of employees transferred to Vivento 3,700 2,600 1,700
Number of employees that left Vivento 2,300 4,600 5,000
Total number of employees in Vivento as of year-end 9,600 8,200 10,200
of which: Employees in external employment arrangements 4,200 3,300 1,600
of which: Employees in internal employment arrangements 2,600 2,300 5,600
(D Figures have been rounded to nearest 100.

Our fleet management company, DeTeFleetServices GmbH, provides fleet management and mobility services, with
approximately 37,000 vehicles provided to our Group companies and affiliates within Germany. DeTeFleetServices
also generates revenues from third parties through its sale of used fleet vehicles and, to a limited extent, through fleet
management services to third parties. The majority of third-party customers are former affiliates of Deutsche
Telekom that were sold.

Group Headquarters and Shared Services is also responsible for certain Group-wide functions in the areas of products
and innovation and includes the operation and management of our network to be used by our Group companies around
the world and the provision of carrier services to our international organization.

The Central Treasury department is primarily responsible for cash management, leasing arrangements and the

refinancing of indebtedness through a variety of financial arrangements, including, among other things, bank loans

and other credit arrangements. Furthermore, this unit is responsible for the issuance of debt in the international capital
markets, the handling of payments and clearing transactions, and foreign exchange and hedging activities. For more
information, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Item 11.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”

T-Venture Holding GmbH is also included in Group Headquarters and Shared Services. T-Venture’s mission is to
scout new products, technologies and services and to acquire access to them on our behalf. Accordingly, a central
corporate fund has been established for the purpose of making investments in these areas, in addition to the individual
investments that can be made by our operating segments.

Group Headquarters and Shared Services is also responsible for providing professional training and qualification
services for our employees within Germany. We also provided training for approximately 9,500 apprentices during
2009.

Group Headquarters and Shared Services also includes the establishment and maintenance of international intellectual

property rights for the Deutsche Telekom Group, including all Telekom brands.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research & Development

Our Product and Innovation Department is responsible for coordinating research and development activities,
innovation strategy, innovation management, innovation marketing and through T-Venture, corporate venture capital.
This department focuses primarily on issues that are relevant to all operating segments. The operating segments are
primarily responsible for product innovations that are close to market launch, usually with a development lead time of
up to 24 months.

Deutsche Telekom Laboratories

Deutsche Telekom Laboratories acts as a central research and development unit, focusing primarily on topics and new
technologies that are expected to be rolled-out in 18 months to five years. It is divided into the Innovation
Development Laboratory and the Strategic Research Laboratory. Both areas are organized to support the transfer of
knowledge and findings from academic research into product design with our operating segments.

The Innovation Development Laboratory has assumed the role of general contractor for applied research and
development. It develops and assesses innovative ideas, implements test environments, assists with demonstrations
and prototypes, and develops business models. It then transfers results to the operating segments for further review
and development.

Research and Development Expenditures

In 2009, our expenditures on experimental, and pre-production research and development were EUR 0.2 billion (2008:
EUR 0.2 billion; 2007: EUR 0.2 billion). Typical research and development activities included the development of
new data-transmission processes and innovative telecommunications products. In 2009, investment in internally
generated intangible assets to be capitalized amounted to EUR 0.2 billion (2008: EUR 0.4 billion; 2007: EUR 0.3
billion). These investments related primarily to internally developed software. The vast majority of this amount was
attributable to the Germany operating segments. In 2009, over 2,600 employees were involved in projects and
activities to create new products and market them efficiently to customers.

Intellectual Property

In 2009, we filed 713 patent applications worldwide, compared to 665 patent applications in 2008. We held 6,881
intellectual property rights (inventions, patent applications, patents, utility models, and design models) as of the end of
2009 (2008: 6,328 2007: 5,800). The portfolio of rights is reviewed on a regular basis, and those rights that are no
longer relevant are eliminated. Management of these intellectual property rights is governed by strict cost-benefit
considerations.
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ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

The following table presents each of the principal acquisitions and divestitures made by us during our last three fiscal

years:

Year

2009
2008
2008
2008
2007
2007
2007
2007

49

Segment Event

Southern and Eastern Europe Purchase of additional shares in OTE
Southern and Eastern Europe Purchase of shares in OTE

United States Acquisition of SunCom Wireless Holdings, Inc.
Systems Solutions Sale of T-Systems Media&Broadcast GmbH
Europe Acquisition of Orange Nederland

Germany Purchase of shares in Immobilien Scout GmbH
Germany Sale of T-Online France S.A.S.

Germany Sale of T-Online Spain S.A.

Amount
(billions of €)
0.7 )
3.1 )
(1.1 )
0.7
(1.3 )
0.4 )
0.5
0.3
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REGULATION
Overview

Our operations worldwide, as well as those of our subsidiaries and affiliates, are subject to sector-specific
telecommunications regulations and general competition law, as well as a variety of other regulations. The extent to
which telecommunications regulations apply to us depends largely on the nature of our activities in a particular
country, with the conduct of traditional fixed-line telephony services usually being subject to the most extensive
regulation. Regulations can have a very direct and material effect on our overall business, particularly in jurisdictions
that favor regulatory intervention.

General Licensing Requirements

To provide services and to operate our networks, either general authorizations or licenses are required from regulatory
authorities in countries in which we operate. In member states of the European Union or EU Member States, the
operation of fixed networks and the provision of public voice telephony services in the fixed network require
notification to, or registration with, regulatory authorities.

Licensing procedures also apply to our mobile network operations with respect to radio frequencies. The duration of
any particular license or spectrum usage right depends on the legal framework in the relevant country. Most countries
limit the duration of licenses or usage rights, which are generally renewable, to between three and thirty years.

The EU Regulatory Framework for Electronic Communications
General

EU Member States are required to enact EU legislation in their domestic law and to take EU legislation into account
when applying domestic law. In each EU Member State, a national regulatory authority, or NRA, is responsible for
enforcing the national telecommunications laws that are based on the EU Framework. NRAs generally have

significant powers under their relevant telecommunications acts, including the authority to impose network access and
interconnection obligations, and to approve or review the charges and general business terms and conditions of
providers with “significant market power.” In general, a company can be considered to have significant market power if
its share of a particular market exceeds 40%. NRAs also have the authority to assign wireless spectrum and supervise
frequencies and to impose universal service obligations.

The European Commission supervises the NRAs and formally and informally influences their decisions in order to
ensure the harmonized application of the EU Framework throughout the European Union. Companies can challenge
decisions of the relevant NRA before national courts. Such legal proceedings can lead to a decision by the European
Court of Justice, or ECJ, which is the ultimate authority on the correct application of EU legislation.

In 2002, the European Union completed the review of the existing EU telecommunications regulatory framework and
adopted several legislative measures, which included a general framework directive and four specific directives,
collectively constituting the “EU Framework™. Since the most significant part of our business is undertaken in the
European Union, our operations are, to a large extent, subject to this EU Framework on telecommunications
regulation.

In 2007, the European Commission issued proposals to amend the EU Framework, which must be accepted by the
European Parliament and the Council of Ministers before becoming legislation. After two years of intense
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negotiations among the Commission, the European Parliament and the Council, a revised EU Framework was finally
adopted on November 24, 2009 and entered into force on December 18, 2009.

The revised EU Framework gives NRAs the power to separate the access network operations of providers with
significant market power from the service business of such providers in certain circumstances, which is known as
functional separation. This authority is meant to be a remedy of last resort, with high thresholds to be overcome before
it can be employed. When we refer to the EU Framework in the following discussion, we are referring to the EU
Framework as revised on December 18, 2009.
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In addition, a new Body of European Regulators for Electronic Communications, or BEREC, was established in
January 2010 as part of the new EU Framework. The main function of this body will be to advise the Commission
and NRAs on regulatory issues and it will have agency status at the EU level. Decisions and recommendations of
BEREC have to be taken into account by national regulatory authorities and the Commission. BEREC will replace the
existing European Regulators’ Group.

Whether the revised EU Framework will increase or decrease the regulatory burden on us will depend on how the
revised regulatory framework will be applied by the relevant NRA. Member states have 18 months to implement the
revised EU Framework and, as a result, we currently expect that the new legislation will come into force by mid-2011.

Special Requirements Applicable to Providers with Significant Market Power

The most significant impact on our business comes from the EU Framework’s special requirements applicable to
providers with significant market power. Obligations in relation to network access, price setting, separate accounting
for interconnection services, publication, and non-discrimination, can be imposed on those operators that are
designated by the relevant NRA as having significant market power in an electronic communications market. Such
determinations are based on EU guidelines and EU competition case law. We have been designated as having
significant market power primarily in most fixed-line markets in which we operate, as well as in mobile voice call
termination markets.

In particular, an NRA may subject providers with significant market power, and their affiliates, to the following rules
and obligations:

e The prior approval or retroactive review of charges, insofar as such charges and conditions relate to a market in
which the provider holds significant market power.

e The obligation to offer other companies unbundled special network access (including interconnection) as well as
access to certain services and facilities on a non-discriminatory basis.

In addition, providers with significant market power can be obliged to maintain segregated accounting systems with
regard to access services. This obligation is intended to allow for transparency with respect to various
telecommunications services in order to prevent, among other things, the cross-subsidization of services. In this
regard, an NRA may specify the structure of a provider’s internal accounting for particular telecommunications
services, which can increase costs of compliance.

Under the EU Framework, the European Commission periodically issues a recommendation on relevant markets,
which is a list of telecommunications markets that it considers susceptible to sector-specific regulation. NRAs must
take this list of markets into account when defining the markets that are to be analyzed for the existence of

competitive restraints. If an NRA finds that a market is not competitive, it establishes which providers have significant
market power in this market and imposes certain measures prescribed by statute. NRAs may analyze additional
markets not included in the Commission’s recommendation if justified by special national circumstances. NRAs are
required to conduct market analyses on all communications markets included in the Commission’s recommendation, as
well as those that the NRAs have decided to include within the scope of sector-specific regulation in agreement with
the European Commission. All NRA market analyses are subject to the supervision of the European Commission and
can be challenged if the European Commission does not agree with the NRA’s findings.

In addition to the Commission’s recommendation, there is a separate EU regulation on unbundled access to the local
loop, which became effective in January 2001. It contains the obligations to provide full unbundled access to
copper-paired wire lines, as well as unbundled access to the high-frequency spectrum of those lines (line-sharing).
Unbundling has led to a considerable loss of our market share. For more information regarding the effects of
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unbundling obligations, see “—German Telecommunications Regulation—Interconnection” below.
Next Generation Access Recommendation

In June 2009, the European Commission published its second draft recommendation on Regulated Access to Next
Generation Access Networks for fiber based access networks or NGAs. The recommendation aims to harmonize
obligations imposed by NRAs on operators with significant market power in the markets for wholesale network
infrastructure access at a fixed location and the market for wholesale broadband access to NGA networks. According
to the draft recommendation, operators having significant market power must grant competitors access to new and
existing ducts, fiber, street cabinets and other elements. In addition, operators with significant market power must
provide fiber access unbundling and wholesale broadband access services (Bitstream Access).

Furthermore, the draft contains pricing principles for duct usage, the usage of other civil engineering works and other
elements as well as for joint cooperative network deployment and risk sharing arrangements. If the draft
recommendation would be adopted in its current form, we do not expect that the recommendation would lead to

a decrease in regulation with regard to NGA. It remains unclear whether the draft will be adopted in its existing form.
The adoption of the existing or modified recommendation is expected in the first half of 2010.
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Fixed and Mobile Termination Rate Recommendation

The European Commission recommendation on relevant markets from 2007 requires NRAs to analyze the call
termination market in order to determine whether regulatory remedies need to be imposed. The European Commission
intends to further reduce termination rates significantly. In May 2009, the Commission issued the recommendation on
the regulatory treatment of fixed and mobile termination rates in the EU that defines details for the cost calculation of
termination rates by the NRAs. With the recommendation, the Commission intends to harmonize cost standards for
mobile termination rates throughout the EU In this respect, the EU Commission stated the intention to reduce
termination rates to EUR 0.015 to EUR 0.03 EUR by the end of 2012, while also eliminating asymmetry between
operators. Although the recommendation is not legally binding, NRAs have to pay utmost account to the
recommendation while still being able to reflect national circumstances. Mobile operators could therefore be subject
to further pressure to lower termination rates in the future, which may have an additional negative impact on our
revenues.

Competition Law

The EU’s competition rules have the force of law in all EU Member States. The main principles of the EU competition
rules are set forth in Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty of the Functioning of the European Union, or TFEU, and in
the EU Merger Regulation, or Merger Regulation. In general, the TFEU prohibits concerted practices and all
agreements that may affect trade between Member States and which restrict, or are intended to restrict, competition
within the European Union. In addition, the TFEU prohibits any abuse of a dominant position in the common
European Market, or any substantial part of it, which may affect trade between Member States. The European
Commission enforces these rules in cooperation with the national competition authorities, which may also directly
enforce the competition rules of the TFEU. In addition, the national courts have jurisdiction over alleged violations of
EU competition law.

The Merger Regulation requires that all mergers, acquisitions and joint ventures involving participants meeting certain
turnover thresholds are to be submitted to the European Commission for review, rather than to the national
competition authorities. Under the Merger Regulation, concentrations will be prohibited if they significantly impede
effective competition in the common European market, or a substantial part of it, in particular as a result of the
creation or strengthening of a dominant position.

In addition, all EU Member States, and other jurisdictions in which we operate, such as the United States, have
legislation in place, which is substantially similar to the EU competition rules. Thus, in markets where we are
dominant, our ability to practice business freely and to establish our own prices can be restricted. Moreover, our
opportunities to cooperate with other companies, or to enhance our business by fully or partially acquiring other
businesses, can also be limited. In Germany, the authority responsible for the application of competition law is the
Federal Cartel Office (Bundeskartellamt). For information regarding specific competition cases in which we are
involved, see “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.”

German Fixed-Network Telecommunications Regulation

Since the most substantial part of our business is located in Germany, German telecommunications regulation has an
especially significant impact on our business. As in all EU Member States, German telecommunications regulation is
based on the EU Framework. German telecommunications regulation is mainly derived from the Telecommunications

Act (Telekommunikationsgesetz).

We believe that, for the foreseeable future, the Federal Network Agency is likely to view us as a provider with
significant market power in various German markets for public voice telephony services in the fixed network and in
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other markets, including most of those in which we held monopoly rights in the past. Additionally, we have been
determined to be a provider with significant market power in the German market for mobile voice call termination.
We expect that the strict regulatory provisions of the Telecommunications Act relating to providers with significant
market power will be applied to our activities in those markets also in the future. Considering that in many markets
our competitors are unlikely to gain significant market power in the near future, we expect that we will have to
compete in important markets with providers not subject to those regulatory obligations. Therefore, these competitors
may have more flexibility than we have in terms of the selection of services offered and customers served, pricing and
the granting of network access.
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Pricing

Under the Telecommunications Act, tariffs for telecommunications access services offered by providers with
significant market power and their affiliates can be subject to price regulation, insofar as the tariffs relate to a market
in which significant market power has been determined to exist. Other tariffs are essentially unregulated. The tariffs of
all providers in Germany are, however, subject to generally applicable EU and German laws, including competition
law and consumer protection rules.

The Telecommunications Act distinguishes between tariffs that require prior regulatory approval and those that are
subject to retroactive review. Generally, regulated wholesale pricing requires prior approval, whereas regulated retail
pricing is subject to retroactive review. Nevertheless, at present, we are required to disclose most retail pricing
measures concerning our fixed telephony network to the Federal Network Agency two months before they become
effective, which enables the Federal Network Agency to undertake a preliminary evaluation with respect to whether
our prices comply with rules prohibiting abuse of significant market power. This requirement restricts our flexibility
to react quickly to competition in the retail markets for fixed telephony.

General Network Access

Every operator of a public telecommunications network, irrespective of its market position, is obligated, upon request,
to make an interconnection offer to other network operators for interconnection with its network. If the parties cannot
agree on the interconnection terms and conditions, upon application by one of the parties, the Federal Network
Agency can compel an operator that controls access to end users to allow interconnection to its network and can
impose other access obligations.

Universal Services

The Telecommunications Act includes provisions to ensure the availability of certain basic telecommunications
services, or universal services, throughout Germany. Universal services comprise public fixed-line network voice
telephony with certain ISDN features, directory services, telephone books, public pay phones and certain categories of
transmission lines. These services must be universally available to all customers at a price determined by the Federal
Network Agency to be an affordable price. We currently provide the universal services specified by the
Telecommunications Act voluntarily and without compensation.

Media Regulation

Although regulation of broadcast media and media content has not materially affected our business to this point, as
traditional telecommunications services and media services increasingly converge through products such as
triple-play, media regulation may become increasingly important to our business. For example, in Germany we
currently offer IPTV to our high-speed broadband customers, as well as mobile TV services to customers of T-Mobile
Deutschland. There are already several regulations related to media services and platforms, such as Entertain,
including “must-carry” obligations. Legislation also regulates the contractual conditions for such transmissions.
Moreover, the legislation can be interpreted to suggest that in Germany, we are restricted in the production of our own
TV and radio programs as long as a significant part of our shares are controlled by the German government.

Other EU regulation requires TV set top boxes to be interoperable, such as with regard to encryption technology or a

common scrambling algorithm. The set top boxes we use for our German IPTV services rely on a special digital rights
management technology that might not be entirely compatible with the common scrambling algorithm. However, the
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Federal Network Agency has granted us a preliminary exemption from this regulation until April 2012. Modification
of the current digital rights management technology could prove costly and some features of our IPTV service may be
discontinued.
Fixed-Fixed Interconnection
Fixed-fixed interconnection prices require prior approval by the Federal Network Agency. The current charges were

approved on November 28, 2008 and are valid until June 30, 2011.
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Local Loop Access

We have been offering unbundled local loop access since 1998. We are obliged to publish a reference offer for access
to unbundled local loop and prices require prior regulatory, or ex-ante approval. By allowing competitors to connect to
customer access lines within our local networks, unbundling of the local loop allows our competitors to gain direct
access to customers without having to build local networks of their own. In this way, competitors are able to use our
customer access lines to offer a wide range of local services directly to customers.

The Federal Network Agency is currently conducting the next round of market analysis concerning access to physical
infrastructures, including the unbundled local loop. The related draft of the regulatory remedies is expected to be
published in the first quarter of 2010. The final adoption of the market analysis is expected in the first half of 2010.

We are involved in a number of pending legal proceedings regarding recent decisions of the Federal Network Agency
that concern access charges relating to the local loop, and which have resulted in severe reductions in our charges for
access by our competitors. We believe that the Federal Network Agency did not take into account a number of our
costs that were justifiable costs for these services, and that if it had done so, our permitted local loop access charges
would have been higher.

Unbundled local loop charges, as determined by the Federal Network Agency for the period from February 1999 to
March 2001, were revoked by the Administrative Court of Cologne. The Court criticized the Federal Network
Agency’s calculation method for unbundled local loop costs. The Court ruling concerning unbundled local loop
charges for the period from 1999 to 2001 became effective in October 2009. As a result, the Federal Network Agency
must now decide again on our rate approval applications of 1999. It is not possible at present to estimate whether these
decisions will require Deutsche Telekom to make payments or price adjustments and if so, in what amount.

Unbundled local loop charges for monthly rental as well as for one-off services, as determined by the Federal Network
Agency for the period April 2001 to March 2003 were also revoked by the Administrative Court of Cologne . These
rulings are not yet effective due to pending claims (Nichtzulassungsbeschwerde) of the Federal Network Agency and
Deutsche Telekom at the German Federal Administrative Court.

In June 2007, the Federal Network Agency updated its regulatory order relating to local loop access. In addition to
existing obligations (access to the local loop, co-location, ex ante approval), we must also provide access to cable
ducts and, under certain conditions, dark fiber and co-location within the street cabinets. We have initiated legal
proceedings against this obligation. On January 27, 2010, the Federal Administrative Court
(Bundesverwaltungsgericht) canceled the decision of the Federal Network Agency of June 2007 concerning access to
dark fiber. For further information see “Item 8. Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.”

The Federal Network Agency specified the obligations concerning access to cable ducts, dark fiber and co-location
within the street cabinets on December 4, 2009. We applied for corresponding tariffs in mid-January 2010. The
Federal Network Agency is expected to decide by March 2010, but may extend this tariff application procedure until
May 2010. We will now have to apply for corresponding tariffs. A decision on such tariffs is expected in the end of
the first quarter of 2010.

On March 30, 2009, the Federal Network Agency reduced the monthly unbundled local loop charges from EUR 10.50
to EUR 10.20. These charges are valid for the period from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 20011. On June 30, 2008, the
Federal Network Agency decided to reduce the one-time activation (takeover of an existing line) charge for the
unbundled local loop by approximately 1.4% to EUR 35.70 for the most common type of subscriber line (copper wire
pair with high bit-rate use). The corresponding cancellation charges have been reduced as well between 0.2% and
4.1%. These one-time charges for the unbundled local loop are valid until June 30, 2010.
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Since January 2001, we have been offering line sharing (using a single access line for multiple purposes, including
sharing access with competitors) in accordance with EU requirements. On June 30, 2008, the Federal Network
Agency also reduced the monthly rental charge for line sharing from EUR 1.91 to EUR 1.78 until June 30, 2010.
Further, the Federal Network Agency decided on the one-time activation charges for the provision of line sharing,
which were reduced to EUR 43.99.

Broadband Access — IP Bitstream

We are required to offer an IP Bitstream Access product in the wholesale-market and have therefore been required to
offer unbundled broadband access to competitors since April 2008. On September 14, 2009, the Federal Network
Agency decided again on new charges for IP-Bitstream Access and decreased the monthly charges to EUR 8.12 from
EUR 8.65 for the bundled variant and to EUR 18.32 from EUR 19.15 for stand-alone variant. With the stand-alone
variant the end user is no longer required to maintain a telephone access line with us. The decreases mainly trace back
to decreases for other regulated product to which the IP-BSA product structure refers, such as TAL
(Teilnehmeranschlussleitung) or ZISP (Zusammenschaltung fiir Internet Service Provider). According to the key
elements of the draft market analysis and regulatory order on bitstream access published on October 21, 2009, the
Federal Network Agency intends to rely on retroactive review, or ex-post regulation, but may expand the scope of
regulation to include all wholesale bitstream access products. The final adoption of this market analysis and regulatory
order is expected in the first quarter of 2010.

54

99



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
IP Bitstream Access enables our competitors to offer all [P-access throughout Germany. For the IP Bitstream Access
market, the Federal Network Agency issued a regulatory order in September 2006.

According to a regulatory order, we must grant access to competitors to ducts or, alternatively, to dark fiber cable. The
replication of VDSL products, in particular by our competitors using their own infrastructures, is therefore being made
easier at our expense. This will have a negative impact on our revenue generation, even if we offer our competitors a
VDSL product on a voluntary basis. The Federal Network Agency specified the obligations concerning access to cable
ducts, dark fiber and co-location within the street cabinets on December 4, 2009.

Retail Regulation

The Federal Network Agency has determined that we are a provider with significant market power for the markets for
national fixed-to-mobile calls. In December 2007, the Federal Network Agency imposed on us the obligation to
disclose to it any retail pricing measures within the market for national fixed-to-mobile calls (excluding VoIP
services) two months before they become effective. National fixed-to-mobile calls for VoIP services are still subject to
ex ante review. Therefore, in general, these obligations to provide pricing measures two months prior to effectiveness
(excluding VolIP services) will delay our ability to react quickly to market changes.

The Federal Network Agency still does not classify VoIP as a publicly available telephone service, which would
imply an emergency services obligation. However, with the further development of VolP, and the increasing use of
this nomadic service, the Federal Network Agency has requested all market participants to submit proposals for a
technical solution to the emergency services problem.

The broadband access tariffs, as well as the broadband and narrowband service tariffs, that we offer to retail customers
are not subject to regulation under the Telecommunications Act. However, these tariffs are indirectly affected by the
regulation of wholesale tariffs for these services and will be taken into account by the Federal Network Agency in a
review undertaken as part of a retroactive procedure if they form part of a product bundle that contains regulated
components. Moreover, sector-specific regulation may be extended in the future to the broadband services market,
which will depend on the results of the Federal Network Agency’s current market analyses procedures.

On August 27, 2008, the Federal Network Agency published a draft of its market analyses results for retail products
and determined that we are a provider with significant market power for the retail market “Access to the public
telephone network at a fixed location for residential and non residential customers.” All-IP Access is classified as
access to the public telephone network. The regulatory decision based on this draft from January 25, 2010 includes the
following regulatory measures:

e regulation of All-IP Access for the first time (if provided together with voice/VoIP);

e Call by Call and Preselection have to be continued to be offered even for All-IP Access; and

e prices and conditions will be subject to ex-post regulation without prior notification.

On April 22, 2009, the Federal Network Agency revoked the decision of June 23, 2006 concerning the markets for

national fixed-to-fixed and fixed-to-mobile calls with the consequence that there is no regulation in this area anymore.

Southern and Eastern European Telecommunications Regulation
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Our subsidiaries in Greece, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia are subject to the same EU Framework as our fixed-line
business in Germany. We also operate fixed-line networks in Croatia, the F.Y.R.O Macedonia, and Montenegro.
These countries are also orientating their regulatory frameworks towards the EU Framework. Therefore, all of our
subsidiaries in Southern and Eastern Europe are generally exposed to a set of regulatory risks similar to those in
Germany described above. Additional significant regulatory matters affecting specific subsidiaries are discussed
below.
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Hungary

Although some significant competition within the fixed-line network has existed in Hungary for several years, Magyar
Telekom still has a substantial market share in many telecommunications markets within Hungary. As expected, the
Hungarian NRA has found Magyar Telekom to be an operator with significant market power in a large number of the
markets currently subject to regulation, including subscriber lines and calling services.

Currently, Magyar Telekom has to comply with wholesale obligations regarding call origination and termination,
unbundling, local and national bitstream access and price regulation for the termination of wholesale leased lines. As
in previous years, Magyar Telekom also remains under the obligation to submit its reference offers for interconnection
and unbundling to the NRA for prior approval.

As competition between Magyar Telekom and cable and fiber television network providers for telephony, Internet
access and television services becomes more intense, Magyar Telekom expects to be increasingly affected by the
disparity of regulatory burdens between services provided over the fixed-line telephony network and those provided
over cable and fiber networks. Unlike Magyar Telekom, cable and fiber network providers are currently not subject to
any wholesale obligations.

Moreover, Magyar Telekom is required to pay other fixed-line network operators in Hungary call termination rates
that are between 30% and 40% higher than the regulated rates Magyar Telekom is allowed to charge competitors. This
asymmetry decreased in 2009.

In addition, the Hungarian NRA has reduced the prices of the reference offer for unbundled products. The monthly
fees of local loop unbundling, shared access and local bitstream access have decreased by 2%, 38% and 8%,
respectively, compared to the previous tariffs. Despite the continued decrease of these monthly fees, the number of
unbundled lines is still rather low and not expected to accelerate significantly in the near future due to intense
competition with cable operators with cable and fiber network operators.

In 2009, the Hungarian Government had plans to build up a state owned optical network infrastructure in rural areas
financed by reallocation of EU resources. These plans have been put on hold and it is uncertain how and when the
Government plans to resume this project. A state owned optical backbone network infrastructure may have an impact
on Magyar Telekom’s business operations.

Greece

The Greek Telecommunications Law includes the enactment of a series of ministerial decisions, a number of which
have not yet been concluded, such as the joint ministerial decision on the procedures for granting rights of way.
Although experience with the regulation of fixed-line voice telephony in Greece has increased over recent years,
delays and ambiguous secondary legislation, in addition to the lack of understanding of the regulatory issues relevant
to new technologies and new services, have influenced OTE’s business decisions and strategy.

Based on the EU Regulatory Framework as well as this national legal framework OTE has to comply with retail and
wholesale obligations. Retail obligations include regulated price caps for access to the public telephone network at a
fixed location, local and national telephone services and retail leased lines at cost oriented prices. Wholesale
obligations include call origination, termination and transit, wholesale line rental, full and shared access to local loop
services, including distant and physical collocation and backhauling services, national bitstream access and trunk and
termination of wholesale leased lines. OTE has to provide reference offers for bitstream access, unbundling of the
local loop, wholesale line rental and terminating, trunk segments of leased lines and partial circuits.
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A second round of analysis of the markets for wholesale broadband access and wholesale (physical) network
infrastructure access (including shared or fully unbundled access) at a fixed location market was concluded by the
Greek NRA in July 2009. The NRA defined OTE as having significant market power, not taking into account the
strong competition in the market by alternative providers using the unbundled local loop. The NRA imposed
additional obligations, including access to ducts and manholes and, if not available, access to dark fiber. Regarding
the wholesale broadband access market the Greek NRA, did not take into consideration the existence of distinct
geographic markets and has imposed cost orientation to national bitstream access. The price of the local loop is lower
than the European average price, while terminating rates between OTE and alternative fixed providers are asymmetric
with a price schedule that preserves asymmetry in the future.

Regarding the deployment of NGA in Greece, the previous Greek Government in power until October 2009
announced an initiative to support a passive optical network for two million homes across Greece that would provide
open access to all providers. The current Greek Government announced its intention to redesign the project, but the
details are not known yet.

A number of factors relating to the Greek Government’s network project remain unclear, including the cost of the
project, the potential allocation of this cost, and its future impact on fixed-line competition in the Greek market.
Therefore, OTE cannot predict its potential effect on technical and economic aspects of its own plans and on
competition in the Greek fixed-line market.
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Mobile Regulation

Our subsidiaries in Germany, Austria, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Netherlands, Poland, Slovakia,
Romania and in the UK are all subject to this EU Framework. We also operate mobile networks in Croatia, the
F.Y.R.O Macedonia, Montenegro, and Albania. These countries are also orientating their regulatory frameworks
towards the EU Framework. Therefore, all of our subsidiaries are generally exposed to a set of regulatory risks.
Significant regulatory matters affecting specific subsidiaries are discussed below.

European Union

The markets for access and call origination and international roaming have been deleted from the list of recommended
markets to be analyzed. However, it will be possible for NRAs to analyze and regulate further markets, if:

¢ high and non-transitory entry barriers are present in a particular market;

® a market structure does not tend towards effective competition within the relevant time horizon taking into account
the state of competition and the barriers to entry; or

e competition law alone is insufficient to adequately address the market failures concerned.

On June 30, 2007, the European Union adopted a regulation that regulates international roaming tariffs for wholesale
and retail customers on the basis of a capped pricing system. As a consequence, our mobile operations in the European
Union had to lower wholesale and retail roaming tariffs, which negatively affected our revenues. On the basis of a
price schedule mandated by this EU regulation, further reductions of wholesale and retail roaming prices were made in
mid-2008. On July 1, 2009, a new EU roaming regulation came into force and expanded the existing regulation to
SMS and data roaming services. This regulation will be valid until June 30, 2012. Besides additional reduction of
wholesale and retail voice roaming tariffs, SMS roaming charges were reduced and price caps for wholesale data
roaming tariffs and additional transparency measures have been introduced. This expansion of existing regulation has
an additional negative effect on our roaming revenues. Furthermore, the introduction of a third roaming regulation
focusing especially on data roaming retail prices is currently being discussed at the EU level. This could have an
additional material negative effect on our roaming revenues.

In October 2008, the European Commission launched a preliminary investigation and requested information from
European mobile communications operators, including T-Mobile International, regarding their respective handling of
mobile VolIP services. T-Mobile International has responded to the European Commission's information request. So
far, the European Commission has not taken further steps. The European Commission may initiate formal
proceedings, if the results of the preliminary investigation indicate a possible infringement of EU competition law. If
the European Commission ultimately finds that an infringement has occurred, it may issue a prohibition decision and
impose fines.

Germany

The Federal Network Agency has the obligation to review markets every two years. With its decision of December 5,
2008, the regulatory ex ante obligations on mobile termination for T-Mobile Deutschland remain unchanged. On
March 31, 2009, the Federal Network Agency decided that T-Mobile Deutschland had to reduce its termination rate
charges to EUR 0.0659 per minute (from EUR 0.0792 per minute) from April 1, 2009 until November 30, 2010. The
same rate also applies to Vodafone, while E-Plus and O2 are required to lower their mobile termination rates to EUR
0.0714 per minute (from EUR 0.088 per minute) for the same time period.
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The EU Commission required the Federal Network Agency to use a particular cost model for the next mobile
termination rate decision beginning in December 2010. The intention of this cost model is to determine a
comprehensive efficiency standard for all mobile network operators and to standardize the documents relating to cost
data upon which a mobile termination rate decision is made. Together with the relevant recommendation on the
regulatory treatment of fixed and mobile termination rates this could result in further termination rate reductions for
T-Mobile Deutschland.

The Federal Network Agency decided to auction a total of 360 MHz of spectrum in different bands (800 MHz (“digital
dividend”), 1.8 GHz, 2.1 GHz, 2.6 GHz) in the fourth quarter of 2009, although the dispute on limitation of bidding
rights, or the spectrum cap, for 800 MHz spectrum had not been resolved. E-Plus and O2 raised competitive concerns
against the auction rules, which allow a new entrant to bid for 2x20 MHz and which allow them to bid for 2x15 MHz
each. At the same time, a spectrum cap of a maximum of 2x10 MHz exists for T-Mobile and Vodafone. The
application phase ended on January 21, 2010 with six applications and the bidding phase is currently expected to
begin on April 12, 2010. This auction is likely to have a significant impact on the mobile market development of the
next two decades as it will be the last possibility to acquire large blocks of contiguous spectrum feasible for broadband
networks. Several legal actions against the auction rules were taken by E-Plus, O2, several cable operators and
broadcasters.
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In May 2009, the Federal Network Agency requested information from German mobile operators on the current
treatment of VolIP in each of their respective networks. In September 2009 T-Mobile launched a tariff for the use of
third-party VolP services. The Federal Network Agency responded that they will not take measures with regard to
VolIP traffic in mobile networks, but will observe the developments in this area closely. It can not be excluded that
actions will be taken, which could lead to an obligation to allow the use of third-party VoIP services in all tariffs.

United Kingdom

On October 18, 2009, the UK Government issued a consultation to the NRA setting out its proposals for a binding
Direction under the Communications Act 2004 to the NRA on spectrum liberalization, upcoming spectrum auctions
and related spectrum matters. Following passage through Parliament, the Direction may be made in April 2010 subject
to it being approved by the UK Parliament.

e T-Mobile UK and the other UK GSM operators will be able to change the use of their current GSM spectrum, for
example to use it for UMTS services;

¢ the fees associated with GSM spectrum will be increased following the auction to reflect the economic value of the
spectrum;

e T-Mobile UK and the other UK UMTS operators will have their UMTS spectrum licenses at 2.1 GHz liberalized,
made tradable and made indefinite in return for enhanced retail service obligations;

¢ the NRA will hold a spectrum auction in early 2011, in which bidders would be subject to spectrum caps and the
spectrum purchased would be subject to conditions including retail service obligations and wholesale access
conditions; and operators with 2x25 MHz or more of liberalized GSM spectrum would be required to relinquish
2x5 MHz of spectrum in order to acquire any new spectrum in the proposed auction.

T-Mobile UK is currently regulated on its average price for call termination and these regulations expire on March 31,
2011. The regulated maximum mobile voice call termination charge for T-Mobile UK for the period from April 1,
2008 to March 31, 2009 was 6.088 pence per minute and from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010 was 4.848 pence per
minute. A reduction of 11.1% will apply to the March 2010-March 2011 period. These revised rates were determined
by the NRA in April 2009, following an appeal brought to the NRA’s original decision in March 2007. The final
decision also set out rates for April 2007 to March 2009. T-Mobile and all the other UK mobile operators, other than
Hutchison 3G UK Limited, have appealed this aspect of the final decision to the High Court arguing that there was no
jurisdiction on the Competition Appeal Tribunal to set rates for the period between April 2007 and March 2009. This
appeal will be heard in the spring of 2010.

The NRA has started a review of call termination prices for the period from April 2011. It is expected to issue
proposals in 2010, which could include proposals for further reductions based on the EU Commission’s
recommendation of the regulatory treatment of fixed and mobile termination rates in the EU.

The UK NRA is currently considering a dispute raised by Hutchinson 3G regarding the termination rates payable on

calls to ported numbers. Disputes have been raised by Hutchinson 3G against each of T-Mobile, Orange, O2 and
Vodafone. The final decision is expected in the first quarter of 2010.

The Netherlands
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The Dutch NRA issued a new decision on July 31, 2007, in which it adopted a self-regulatory proposal of the Dutch

mobile network operators to lower mobile termination rates in three yearly reductions (from July 1, 2009 to June 30,
2010 from EUR 0.104 to EUR 0.081 for T-Mobile). On July 23, 2008, a Dutch Appeals Court instructed the NRA to
review its market analysis. On December 19, 2008, the NRA published its revised decision. In this revised decision,

the NRA left the imposed tariffs unchanged. A final appeal decision on this revised decision by the appeals court on

this revised decision is still pending and is now expected in the first quarter of 2010.

In September 2009, the NRA started a new market analysis process regarding mobile termination rates for the period
from 2010 to 2012. The NRA is analyzing both the fixed and mobile termination markets. In January 2010, the NRA
published its draft cost model where it proposes to reduce mobile termination rates from EUR 0.081 at the end of
December 2009 to MTR to EUR 0.018 per minute during the 2010-2012 regulation period starting in July 1, 2010.
The NRA is expected to publish its market analysis decision for mobile termination rates in March 2010. This
decision therefore could have additional negative impact on revenues.
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After the acquisition of Orange Nederlands in October 2007, T-Mobile Netherlands obtained the GSM and UMTS
radio frequency licenses of Orange. In 2008, the mobile networks of Orange and T-Mobile Netherlands were
combined resulting in a temporary switch off of the Orange UMTS frequencies (to be used again as from mid 2010).
Early 2009 the Dutch Radiofrequency Authority (“AT”) informed T-Mobile Netherlands that it failed to comply with
the (former) Orange UMTS license obligations because no (efficient) use was being made of the frequencies.
T-Mobile Netherlands contested this view. On November 2, 2009, the AT issued a so-called ‘order enforced by
penalties’ requiring T-Mobile Netherlands to start using the UMTS frequencies three months following the issuance of
the order. Should T-Mobile fail to do so, it will incur a penalty of EUR 5 million per quarter to a maximum of EUR 40
million (and ultimately withdrawal of the UMTS license). Compliance with the order will be measured by the AT in
February 2010 at 300 geographical locations in the Netherlands. T-Mobile Netherlands has filed an objection against
this order and will also file a court appeal. Next to these legal measures, operational measures have been implemented
to prepare the network for the AT measurements in February 2010. In particular TMNL implemented a plan to meet
the obligations in the 300 points which are intended to be measured by AT. The results of this measurement are not
expected before March 2010.

On November 22, 2009, AT sent an intention to issue another order enforced by penalties to T-Mobile Netherlands for
supposed non compliance with the requirements of the former Orange GSM frequency licenses (combined E-GSM
and DCS1800 spectrum). The AT believes that T-Mobile Netherlands is using these frequencies inefficiently (by
combining the Orange GSM frequency licenses with the T-Mobile GSM frequency licenses) which results in hoarding
of scarce radio frequencies. T-Mobile Netherlands has in December 2009 submitted its written views on this intention
but nevertheless still believes that the AT will issue a second order enforced by penalties. This is now expected in the
first quarter of 2010. The order will consist of a 3-month grace period to ensure proper use of the GSM radio
frequencies, failure of which will result in a fine of EUR 2.8 million per quarter with a maximum of EUR 22.5 million
(and ultimately withdrawal of the GSM license). Court proceedings will be filed (including possible injunction
proceedings to freeze the imposition of a fine) should the order be issued.

Poland

In July 2006, three mobile operators in Poland, including PTC, were designated as having significant market power in
the call termination market and, as a result, regulatory obligations relating to provision of access, non-discrimination,
transparency and cost orientation were imposed on them. In a decision dated April 27, 2007, the Polish NRA
introduced a price schedule lowering termination rates to PLN 0.2775 (EUR 0.0677) per minute beginning in May
2009 and PLN 0.2162 (EUR 0.0527) per minute as of May 2010. PTC appealed the NRA decision. On February 25,
2009, the civil court ordered the Polish NRA to decide again about PTC’s appeal.

In October 2008, the Polish NRA withdrew its original price schedule and, without prior consultation with the
operators and notification to the European Commission, issued ahead of schedule a new price schedule reducing
mobile termination rates to PLN 0.2162 (EUR 0.0527) as of January 1, 2009, and to PLN 0.1677 (EUR 0.0409)
starting July 1, 2009. The level of PLN 0.1677 (EUR 0.0409) is set for an unspecified period of time and, as a result,
is still valid today. PTC has issued legal proceedings against these decisions, which are still pending.

Greece

In November 2008, the Greek NRA published the conclusions of its analysis of the wholesale market for voice call
termination on individual mobile networks. The NRA determined that COSMOTE, Vodafone and WIND separately
hold significant market power in the market for the termination of calls on their respective network. The NRA also
imposed a range of regulatory remedies on each operator, including cost-orientation, provision of access,
transparency, non-discrimination, accounting separation and the publication of a reference interconnection offer.
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In order to achieve cost-orientated termination charges, the NRA imposed a series of phased reductions in charges,
such that each operator’s termination charge was reduced to EUR 0.0786/min on January 1, 2009, with further
scheduled reductions to EUR 0.0624/min on January 1, 2010 and EUR 0.0495/min starting on January 1, 2011.

The Greek mobile sector currently faces serious problems in the licensing of base stations. The current licensing
process for base stations is extremely complex and time consuming, making it difficult for mobile operators to license
the new base stations needed for network expansion and also in some cases leading to existing base stations being
taken out of operation. Currently, the Greek mobile sector is in discussion with the Government to take concrete
actions to improve the licensing process.

Hungary

On November 8, 2007, Magyar Telekom signed a renewed concession contract on the basis of which the duration of
the 900 MHz frequency usage right was extended until May 4, 2016. Magyar Telekom and T-Mobile Hungary paid
approximately EUR 39 million for the 900 MHz license extension and committed to a EUR 78 million mobile

broadband investment obligation in underdeveloped regions of the country.
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The NRA published its third market analysis decision regarding the mobile voice termination market for public
consultation in October 2008, which took effect on January 1, 2009. The NRA designated T-Mobile Hungary,
Vodafone and Pannon GSM as having significant market power. The decision confirmed the charging of symmetrical
termination rates by the three mobile network operators and proposed the continued gradual reduction of termination
rates to HUF 14.13 per minute from January 1, 2010 and to HUF 11.86 per minute from December 1, 2010. On
January 5, 2009, Magyar Telekom filed suit against this decision.

On October 22, 2008, the National Communications Authority issued a tender on 450 MHz frequency and on the
available fourth license pack. On March 16 and April 30, 2009, respectively, the NRA declared the auctions
unsuccessful.

In conjunction with the implementation of a modified GSM Directive, a new E-GSM900 competitive bidding auction
is expected to take place in 2010.

United States

Our U.S. mobile operations, conducted through T-Mobile USA, are regulated by the FCC and by various other
federal, state and local governmental bodies. Only the FCC has authority to regulate “rates and entry” by Commercial
Mobile Radio Service (“CMRS”) operators, while both the individual states of the United States and the FCC have
authority to regulate “other terms and conditions” of CMRS. The FCC has refrained from regulating rates charged by
CMRS operators. However, under its authority to license CMRS operators to serve the public, the FCC has imposed a
number of requirements on operators, including, for example, rules for providing emergency 911 services, number
portability, support for lawful electronic surveillance, and intercarrier compensation (payment of access charges for
carrying and terminating traffic). In addition, the FCC issues and regulates CMRS spectrum licenses. Spectrum related
to the Advanced Wireless Services (AWS-1) licenses granted in 2006 is occupied by incumbent commercial providers
on the 2.1GHz band and Federal government agencies on the 1.7 GHz band. The 2.1 GHz incumbents relocation rules
are governed by FCC regulation, whereas the 1.7 GHz incumbents relocation process is governed by the Commercial
Spectrum Enhancement Act (CSEA). Access to the spectrum is tied to moving these entities away from using these
spectrum bands. T-Mobile USA has made substantial progress in coordinating with and moving incumbent
commercial and government users off the AWS-1 frequency bands that have been licensed to T-Mobile USA, and the
company has now launched “3G” service in areas covering over 200 million people.

Other current U.S. regulatory issues that may significantly impact T-Mobile USA’s business include:

Open Access/Network Neutrality: The FCC has initiated several proceedings that propose to adopt regulations to
require wireless providers (and other telecommunications carriers) to “open” their networks to applications, devices, and
services provided by third parties. These various proceedings involve a variety of issues, including text messaging
practices, network provisioning, handset locking, exclusive arrangements with handset manufacturers, and the extent

to which carriers may deny access to devices and applications based on their need to manage their networks. Most
significantly, the FCC launched a rulemaking to codify the FCC’s four existing Broadband Principles and to add two
additional principles as obligations of broadband providers. The current Broadband Principles focus on consumer

rights to:

e access the lawful Internet content of their choice;
¢ run applications and use services of their choice;

e connect their choice of legal devices that do not harm the network; and
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¢ benefit from competition among network, application / service, and content providers.

All of these principles are subject to carriers’ ability to utilize reasonable network management measures. The FCC has
proposed adding a non-discrimination principle stating that “broadband providers cannot discriminate against particular
Internet content or applications” and a transparency principle, which would require broadband providers to clearly
disclose their network management practices. Of particular significance to wireless carriers, the FCC has proposed to
formally apply all six of these principles (as codified into rules) to mobile networks. It is possible that regulators or
policymakers will impose net neutrality requirements on the wireless industry that, if not narrowly tailored, could
hamper the way in which wireless carriers provide service and/or impose significant costs on the industry, including
T-Mobile USA.
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e Roaming: T-Mobile USA relies on roaming services of other U.S. CMRS carriers to provide service to its
customers where T-Mobile USA does not provide facilities-based service. In 2007, the FCC adopted an automatic
roaming mandate for voice services, which, unlike previous regulations, excluded from the mandate all geographic
areas in which the home carrier holds spectrum licenses, regardless of whether facilities have been constructed in
those areas. In addition, the FCC held that carriers do not have a statutory right to file complaints at the FCC if the
host carrier refuses to provide roaming in these “home markets” or if it charges unjust and unreasonable
rates. T-Mobile USA and other carriers that depend heavily on roaming have urged the FCC to eliminate or
significantly revise this home-market exclusion, and to extend the automatic roaming requirement to data. The issue
is under review by the FCC.

¢ Intercarrier Compensation: Intercarrier compensation refers to the charges that one carrier pays to another carrier to
originate, transport, and/or terminate telecommunications traffic. Intercarrier compensation payments are governed
by a complex system of federal and state rules. After initially adopting its intercarrier compensation rules in the late
1980s, the FCC modified and expanded its rules following passage of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. Due in
part to a pending court action regarding the treatment of calls to and from Internet Service Providers, the FCC is
evaluating the legality and structure of an intercarrier compensation rule addressing Internet-bound traffic, and has
expanded the scope of its evaluation to include consideration of a more comprehensive reform of intercarrier
compensation. Moreover, the FCC is considering these issues as part of a proceeding to develop a National
Broadband Plan. The FCC’s report to Congress on the National Broadband Plan is expected in March 2010. It is
possible that the FCC will discuss or propose additional reforms to intercarrier compensation in connection with
that report. Otherwise, it is not clear what action, if any, the FCC will take in the area of intercarrier compensation
in 2010, or what impact such action may have on T-Mobile USA’s business.

e Universal Service: The FCC and many states administer universal service programs that help ensure that affordable
telecommunications services are accessible throughout the United States. The federal universal service fund (“USF”)
is statutorily mandated by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 and provides support to rural and non-rural
high-cost areas, low-income subscribers, schools and libraries, and rural health-care providers. Wireless carriers,
including T-Mobile USA, are required to contribute to the federal USF as well as to some of the state universal
service programs. Currently, FCC rules require carriers to contribute to the federal USF based upon interstate
end-user revenues, and carriers may then collect those contributions from their end-user customers. The USF
contribution methodology is subject to an ongoing rulemaking proceeding in which the FCC is considering basing
contributions on line capacity or the aggregate number of telephone numbers its customers utilize. Although the
FCC is expected to consider various USF reform proposals as part of its National Broadband Plan, it is not possible
to predict whether the FCC will act on those proposals in 2010, and if it does, how or whether it will modify the
contribution and distribution methodologies.

Wireless carriers also are eligible to receive USF support if they are designated as an eligible telecommunications
carrier (“ETC”). SunCom Puerto Rico, which became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of T-Mobile USA through
the acquisition of SunCom in 2008 and now operates as T-Mobile in Puerto Rico, receives USF support as an ETC in
Puerto Rico. Additionally, T-Mobile USA became eligible to receive USF support for services provided in North
Carolina beginning in the first quarter 2009. T-Mobile USA has also filed an application to become an ETC in the
state of Florida, and additional applications are planned in other states. The FCC has imposed a cap on high-cost
USF support received by competitive ETCs (including wireless carriers), and has proposed other changes to the way
in which high-cost USF support is distributed. USF contributors as well as carriers who receive USF support are
subject to a variety of rules regarding how they calculate those contributions and utilize those receipts, respectively,
and may be audited by the FCC and its USF administrator to ensure compliance with applicable FCC regulations.

e Special Access: High capacity circuits used by CMRS operators for transporting traffic between cell sites and local
exchange carrier switching facilities are supplied in large part by the incumbent local exchange carriers. The FCC

initiated a proceeding to reform special access provisioning in 2005. Since then, the issue has been raised in both
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concluded and pending local exchange carrier or interexchange carrier merger proceedings, although broad rules
applicable to all local exchange carriers have yet to be established. In light of public comments and a report issued
by the Government Accountability Office, the FCC imposed reporting, non-discrimination, and limited pricing
relief conditions on the wireline companies involved in significant ILEC mergers. In 2007, however, the FCC
granted several local exchange carriers pricing relief for certain next-generation broadband special access services,
so prices for those specific services could rise. Special access costs are an increasingly large portion of T-Mobile
USA’s annual operating expenditures, and the inability to secure special access circuits on cost-based and
non-discriminatory terms could impose significant additional costs on T-Mobile USA’s business.

Over the past year, industries and public interest groups have renewed their push for special access reform, and both
Congress and the FCC have expressed interest in reforming special access regulation. The FCC has asked for
comment on how to analyze the current state of the special access marketplace, and we anticipate that it will issue a
request for special access data from carriers, including T-Mobile USA. Recently, T-Mobile USA has made significant
progress in securing new contracts with better rates for special access services, but the Company still faces challenges
in areas lacking competition. FCC special access reform could affect T-Mobile USA’s efforts in this area.
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E911 Autolocation: In late 2009, the FCC sought comment to “refresh the record” on the location accuracy issue
whereby they are considering measuring E911 location accuracy at the county level. T-Mobile USA filed
comments jointly with several rural wireless carriers, highlighting the technical infeasibility of what is being
considered, and noting that greater accuracy will occur with the roll out of 3G networks and GPS based handsets
operating on 3G networks. The E911 rulemaking proceeding is pending.

Back-up Power Rule: In October 2007, the FCC adopted rules that would have required wireless carriers to have
eight hours of backup power at all of their cell sites and remote terminals. While the rules contained exclusions for
some sites and an alternative compliance route, the exclusions were very narrow and there was significant
uncertainty about whether alternative compliance plans would be approved. The industry appealed the FCC’s order
in the DC Circuit Court of Appeals (T-Mobile USA was an intervenor on behalf of the appellants) on the ground
that the rules were adopted without appropriate notice and comment and that the burden they would place on the
wireless industry rendered them arbitrary and capricious. The court granted a stay of the FCC’s order pending
approval by the Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) of the underlying back-up power requirements and on a
final decision from the court. In late 2008, the OMB rejected the FCC’s rules under the Paperwork Reduction Act
and the FCC has informed the court that it does not intend to override the OMB’s decision. Accordingly, the FCC
may commence a new rulemaking proceeding on back-up power in 2010. At this point, it not possible to determine
whether any new rules that the FCC might adopt will be less onerous than the previously proposed rules.

Regulation on the State and Local Level: Some states, through their respective public utility commissions and
legislatures, or through other means, have taken, or are seeking to take, actions to regulate various aspects of
wireless operations, including customer billing, termination of service arrangements, advertising, and filing of
“informational” tariffs and certification of operations. These developments have significantly affected, or have the
potential to significantly affect, T-Mobile USA’s business practices with respect to many aspects of the
carrier-customer relationship, including solicitations, marketing, activations, billing and customer care. This
potential is increased by the lack of a clear dividing line between permissible “terms and conditions” regulation by the
states and prohibited state regulation of “rates.” Furthermore, state jurisdiction over companies designated as ETCs
receiving funds from the federal Universal Fund is enhanced, and as T-Mobile USA gains ETC certification in
additional states the potential for material state regulation increases. At the local level, wireless facilities typically
are also subject to zoning and land use regulation, and may be subject to fees for use of public rights-of-way.
T-Mobile USA’s access to additional sites to install wireless facilities is a key component of its ability to continue to
deploy wireless services in an effective manner, and significant denials of or delays in necessary zoning approvals
could negatively affect the future expansion or upgrading of T-Mobile USA’s network.
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DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixed-Network Infrastructure in Germany

As a result of substantial investments in telecommunications and cable networks since the early 1990s, our fixed-line
network in Germany is one of the most technologically advanced networks in the world, with full-digital switching
and digital transmission capability. Advanced VDSL and ADSL2+ technologies are incorporated in this network,
which not only provide higher bandwidth for the customer, but also improved network management and reliability.

Our fixed-network infrastructure in Germany is comprised of access and transmission networks as well as service
platforms.

Access Network

In jurisdictions where we offer fixed-line services, we offer ICT access for individual and business customers and

other telecommunication carriers, typically by means of a copper, but also by an increasing use of fiber-optic, cable

that runs from our transmission network to the customer’s home or office. The portion of the access network that

connects the transmission network to the customer is commonly referred to as the “last mile” or “local loop.” We began to
significantly upgrade our access network in 2005 through the deployment of VDSL high-speed access technology

with access speeds up to 50 Mbit/s. The implementation of VDSL has achieved a coverage of more than 11 million
households as of December 31, 2009. We have also upgraded our broadband access network with ADSL2+

technology, which provides access speeds of up to 16 Mbit/s. In rural areas, we continue to work with local authorities

to use innovative means to enable improved broadband services.

For more information regarding network access regulation, see “—Regulation—German Telecommunications
Regulation—Interconnection.”

Transmission Network

Our transmission network consists of fiber-optic cables enhanced with Wavelength Division Multiplexing, or WDM,
and Synchronous Digital Hierarchy, or SDH, technologies. WDM uses wavelengths of light to increase the
transmission capacity of fiber-optic cables, thereby allowing multiple communication channels. This offers the
possibility to increase the capacity of its transmission network without expensive roll out of additional fiber-optic
cables. SDH is an international high-speed transmission standard, which improves network management and the
reliability of fiber-optic networks. According to expected traffic demand we are migrating our SDH and WDM
enhanced network to an Optical Transport Network (OTN). OTN enables higher transmission rates, more flexibility in
high bandwidth management (from 1 Mbit/s up to 100 Gbit/s) and high quality transport.

During 2009, we continued to expand our use of NGN, enabling high-speed access and enhanced transmission
network technologies. In particular, we continue to increase incorporating ADSL2+ technology, with speeds of up to
16Mbit/s and VDSL technology as part of our ongoing broadband strategy. Moreover, in addition to our efforts to
increase broadband access speeds, we continue to increase the use of innovative technologies like Outdoor DSLAM
and Gigabit Ethernet to provide high-speed access at speeds up to 50 Mbit/s. We are still obligated to provide service
to customers using the public switched telephony network, or PSTN, which necessitates continued use of those
portions of our existing network infrastructure in parallel with the NGN until these customers can be migrated to
comparable products delivered through the NGN. As of December 31, 2009, our PSTN in Germany consisted of
approximately 7,900 local exchanges connected by a long-distance transmission network.

The following table provides information on the length of the copper and fiber-optic cables contained in our access
and transmission networks in Germany at December 31, 2009, and each of the two prior years:
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Length in km
Year Copper Cable Fiber-Optic Cable
2007 1.491 million 0.231 million
2008 1.495 million 0.242 million
2009 1.491 million 0.256 million

Our service platforms provide a wide range of voice, video, data and other value-added services to residential,
business and wholesale customers. These service platforms include IP-based technologies, which permit the
high-quality transmission of large scale data, such as text, audio and video.
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Cable Transmission Infrastructure

Our global transmission infrastructure consists of underground and submarine cables, which directly link the German
national telecommunications network to numerous other telecommunications service providers worldwide. In
addition, we hold interests in numerous fiber-optic submarine and terrestrial cable networks worldwide. Restoration
contracts with other cable operators and telecommunications carriers have been created to prevent network failures
from affecting network availability. Our fixed-network infrastructure in Germany is connected to submarine cables via
various “landing points,” five of which are located in Germany.

Technology

Voice and data services provided by our mobile communications subsidiaries are based on Global System for Mobile
Communications, or GSM, network technology. General Packet Radio Service, or GPRS, technologies have been
deployed to add data capabilities to the GSM network, which are being further enhanced in terms of performance and
capacity by Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution, or EDGE, technology. EDGE is currently commercially
available in the United States, Germany, the Czech Republic, Austria, Poland, Hungary, Croatia, the F.Y.R.O
Macedonia, Slovakia and Montenegro. In urban and suburban areas in Europe with a higher demand for data capacity,
this technology is supplemented by Universal Mobile Telecommunications System-Frequency Division Duplex, or
UMTS-FDD, or UMTS-Time Division Duplex, or UMTS-TDD technology. These technologies are fully integrated
and allow a seamless user experience for voice and data services. Our mobile communications market with
UMTS-FDD coverage areas have been upgraded to support High-Speed Downlink Packet Access, or HDSPA, and
High-Speed Uplink Packet Access, or HSUPA, technology. HSDPA allows data rates of up to 7.2 Mbit/s in the
downlink and HSUPA allows data rates of up to 2.0 Mbit/s in the uplink.

In September 2008, T-Mobile, jointly with Nortel Networks Corporation, was the first network operator to

successfully demonstrate in a live test the next generation communications known as Next Generation Mobile
Networks, or NGMN, under everyday conditions, using the LTE (Long Term Evolution) technology as an example.

We believe that LTE download rates of up to 170 Mbit/s and upload rates of up to 50 Mbit/s could be achieved in the
future. For more information regarding regulatory obligations that apply to our fixed-line and mobile operations, see “ —
Regulation.”

Real Estate

Our German real estate portfolio consists of approximately 9,500 properties, which comprise a total site area of
approximately 28.2 million square meters. The total net floor space of these properties is approximately 8.8 million
square meters. In addition, we have leased from third parties approximately 4.2 million square meters. Most of this
area is used for telecommunications installations, research centers, service outlets, computer centers and offices. Area
and sites used for our radio transmission facilities are not itemized in square meters and therefore are not included in
the total real estate portfolio figures above.

We manage and service our German real estate portfolio through various subsidiaries and third-party service
providers, including Corpus Sireo, which acts as asset manager, and Strabag PFS, which acts as service provider for
certain parts of our real estate portfolio. In addition, Deutsche Telekom Group Facility Management provides real
estate management services, such as organizing office space or installing related infrastructure.

The real estate portfolio of our consolidated Group had a book value of EUR 10,703 million at December 31, 2009,
including radio transmission properties and real estate assets of our foreign subsidiaries. Approximately 53% of this
amount, or EUR 5,662 million, relates to properties held directly by Deutsche Telekom AG on an unconsolidated
basis. The remaining 47%, or EUR 5,041 million, is mostly held through OTE Estate (EUR 1,395 million) as a part of
our Southern and Eastern European subsidiaries and our Europe and United States operating segments. About 65% of
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the real estate portfolio is located in Germany, approximately 28% is located in Europe (excluding Germany) and
approximately 7% is located in the United States.

To improve operational efficiencies and to dispose of non-core assets, we have continued to monetize certain of our
real estate assets. In 2009, we entered into agreements for the sale of properties in the aggregate amount of EUR 194.7
million. Of the EUR 156.4 million in proceeds we received in 2009, EUR 138.9.0 million related to properties
transferred in 2009 and EUR 17.5 million related to transactions in 2008 and prior years. The properties we sold in
2009 comprised approximately 1.2 million square meters of land area and approximately 0.2 million square meters of
net floor space, of which we leased-back 0.1 million square meters of these properties. Although we will incur rent
expense related to the leased-back properties, we will achieve a reduction in interest payments and other costs related
to the properties sold. In 2010, we intend to continue to review our portfolio and dispose of non-core assets.

Our radio transmission sites in Germany, including towers, masts and rooftops, are owned or leased by various
subsidiaries, including Deutsche Funkturm GmbH, or DFMG. Our subsidiaries manage these radio transmission sites
and the related technical infrastructure facilities to provide antenna space for our fixed-line and mobile operations in
Germany. These subsidiaries also offer these services to third-party radio-network operators. Our subsidiaries
currently manage approximately 25,800 radio transmission sites, of which approximately 3,200 are located on
Deutsche Telekom AG property. Approximately 23,200 of these transmission sites are owned by our subsidiaries,
whereas the remaining 2,600 are owned by third-parties.
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ITEM 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements, including
the notes to those consolidated financial statements, which appear elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The strategies and expectations referred to in the following discussions are considered forward-looking statements and
may be strongly influenced or changed by shifts in market conditions, new initiatives we implement and other factors.
We cannot provide assurance that the strategies and expectations referred to in these discussions will come to fruition.
Forward-looking statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore, you should not place
too much reliance on them. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements in light of new information or future events. Forward-looking
statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and are generally beyond our
control. We caution you that a number of important factors could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially
from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. Please refer to “Forward-Looking Statements”
and “Item 3. Key Information—Risk Factors” for descriptions of some of the factors relevant to these discussions and
other forward-looking statements in this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW
Group strategy
Our strategy.

The telecommunications industry is marked by constant change in the fixed-network business, mobile
communications, and the Internet, a momentum that even economic upheaval is unable to suppress. This affects key
areas of the economy, technology, consumers, the markets, and our competitors. At the same time, the boundaries
with related industries — IT, the media, entertainment, and software — are becoming blurred, creating new competitive
constellations and increasingly requiring strategic partnerships.

Deutsche Telekom’s aim is to position itself successfully in this complex environment and become a market leader in
connected life and work in the long term. In the 2009 financial year, we continued to systematically implement our
“Focus, fix and grow” strategy through the following four strategic areas of action:
e Improve competitiveness in Germany and in Southern and Eastern Europe.
¢ Grow abroad.

e Mobilize the Internet.

e Roll out network-centric ICT.

Improve competitiveness.

Markets in Germany and in Southern and Eastern Europe are becoming saturated, particularly in the fixed-network
area, and competition is fierce. In this challenging environment, Deutsche Telekom is focusing on increasing capital
expenditure on broadband infrastructure, first-rate products and excellent service and streamlining its cost base. We
expect our integrated market strategy, which combines our fixed-network and mobile business into a single business
unit where practicable, to make the Group more competitive.
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Focused network expansion. As we aim to retain our broadband and innovation leadership, we are focusing our
investments on network expansion. In its footprint markets, the Group is continuously expanding and upgrading its
UMTS networks and enabling fast mobile Internet usage with HSPA+ and other technologies. In the German fixed
network, we already supply around 1,000 towns and cities with ADSL2+ and 50 towns and cities with VDSL. As it
continues to expand the broadband network, the Group has not only launched cooperation projects with local
authorities but is also entering into partnerships with competitors.

Innovative entertainment products. We aim to provide exciting and innovative entertainment products. For example,
since 2009, Entertain customers in Germany have been able to link up several media receivers using the connected
video recorder, share photos with friends and relatives, and subscribe to LIGA total! to watch Bundesliga soccer
games on TV or while on the move. Three years after the launch of the Dolce satellite service, OTE’s Romanian
subsidiary RomTelecom expanded its entertainment range and introduced its new Dolce Interactive IPTV product in
ten towns and cities around the country in 2009. In Slovakia, the expansion of satellite broadcasting will permit
nationwide reception of Magio TV’s digital television.
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Service and quality. Entertain has received several awards from customers and neutral experts. The readers of connect
magazine (May 2009 issue) named Entertain the best triple-play provider in 2009. Deutsche Telekom also beat the
competition in a ranking published in the September 2009 issue of Computer Bild. Furthermore, we have sold

over one million Entertain products, which is our Internet-based television service, the Apple iPhone, and the terminal
equipment service package, demonstrating that with excellent service and high-quality products we can make a lasting
impression on customers even in saturated markets. In 2010, we will introduce the ACCI/ICCA (After Customer
Contact Interview; International Customer Contact Analysis) study to measure customer perception of other national
companies and customer contact channels and improve customer service further.

Fixed-mobile convergence. We are also improving competitiveness by integrating fixed-network and mobile
operations. As part of the One Company project, we intend to boost our presence in relevant markets as an integrated
provider offering convergent products from a single source. To this end, the Group is currently realigning its activities
in Croatia, Slovakia, and Germany with a new organization and strategy. This move will improve our customer
service, safeguard jobs, and unlock potential for more innovation, additional revenue, and cost synergies.

Improved cost base. In addition to tapping growth potential, we need to work steadily on improving our cost base. To
this effect, the Save for Service program was launched in 2006 with the goal of achieving savings of up to EUR 4.7
billion by 2010. By the end of 20009, this target had already been exceeded at EUR 5.9 billion on a cumulative basis.
Savings of EUR 1.8 billion were made in the 2009 financial year alone, mainly in the Germany and Systems Solutions
operating segments, of which EUR 0.4 billion was reinvested. We will usher in the next phase of Save for Service in
early 2010 and bring our international activities within the program’s scope.

Operational strength. To enhance quality and efficiency, in 2006 we began applying Six Sigma and Lean
Management/ Office Lean measurement methods. Several hundred improvement projects have since been carried out,
with many business processes enhanced for long-term across business units, and additional revenue and cost cutting in
the high triple-digit millions realized.

Grow abroad.

The proportion of net revenue generated abroad has grown rapidly over the last few years. While our home market,
Germany, generated 46.8 % of net revenue in 2008, the figure had dropped to 43.4 % one year later. The main
contributing factor is the first-time consolidation of the Greek company Hellenic Telecommunications Organization
S.A., Athens, Greece (OTE) and its mobile subsidiary COSMOTE S.A. (COSMOTE). We intend to continue to
leverage international economies of scale and synergies in the future and grow further. The increase in our stake in
OTE, other minor acquisitions in footprint markets, joint ventures, and the focused expansion of its broadband
infrastructure form part of our ongoing international growth strategy.

Increased stake in OTE and leveraged synergies. In 2009, we acquired an additional 5 % in the Greek company OTE,
bringing its shareholding up to around 30%. During the 2009 financial year, the two companies concentrated on
leveraging synergies in various areas including in procurement, where contracts were renegotiated and lower prices
agreed, and introducing innovative devices and services.

Acquisition of Telemobil S.A. (Zapp) in Romania. The COSMOTE group finalized its acquisition of Zapp in
Romania. The acquisition will enable the company to offer new mobile broadband services with the 3G license it
acquired in the process, enlarge its customer base, and maintain its footprint in the business customer market.

Merger in the United Kingdom. Deutsche Telekom AG and France Télécom S.A. have signed an agreement to merge

their British companies, T-Mobile UK and Orange UK, in a 50:50 joint venture. We are hoping for approval of the
transaction by the relevant authorities in the course of 2010. When formed, the joint venture will be the leading mobile
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operator in the UK market.

Network expansion in the United States. In 2009, we continued to invest in the expansion of our mobile
communications network in the United States and doubled our 3G network coverage. By the end of the year, the new
data network covered 205 million people in the United States. The rapid upgrade of the mobile network is set to
continue in 2010 and coverage with HSPA+ and other technologies will be further improved.

Mobilize the Internet.

We are continuing to lead the way in connected life and work on the move. Thanks to state-of-the-art terminal devices
and innovative applications, mobile Internet access, e-mails, communication, and photo and video sharing is now
easier than ever before. We are very well positioned in this field and will continue to benefit strongly from future
growth in mobile Internet usage.
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Expansion of the handset portfolio. We launched numerous innovative handsets in 2009, including the T-Mobile G1,
the world’s first Android-based smartphone, and Apple’s latest iPhone 3GS. These were followed by other exclusive
devices such as T-Mobile G2 Touch, the T-Mobile Pulse, and RIM’s BlackBerry BoldTM 9700. T-Mobile also
introduced the first Windows-based cell phones, the HTC Touch2 and the HTC HD2, which use the new operating
system Microsoft Windows Mobile 6.5 Professional.

Innovative applications. In 2009, we also rolled out a large number of innovative applications for mobile Internet
usage. MyCommunity is one such service, which allows mobile customers to see their contacts immediately on their
device’s home screen and contact them even faster via an intuitive user interface. Via the Media Center, our customers
can access their personal content anytime and anywhere — be it digital photos, videos, music, or constantly updated
contacts and e-mails.

International roll-out. Besides offering new equipment the Group has also introduced a range of new and innovative
services such as Music Zone, which was launched in Greece and will bring T-Mobile’s music services also to
COSMOTE customers. This music project is the first in a series of international packages of our products and services
that are set to be launched in the Greek market.

Mobile TV. We added further channels to our MobileTV service and improved image and sound quality. The service
is now also available on most UMTS-enabled handsets, such as the Apple iPhone 3G and 3GS, the T-Mobile G1, and
the T-Mobile G2 Touch. In 2009, we began to broadcast all first- and second-division Bundesliga soccer matches live
to cell phones with LIGA total!

Roll out network-centric ICT.

T-Systems identified the trend toward convergent IT and telecommunications services and applications at an early
stage and realigned its strategy to focus on customized solutions for corporate customers. The entity manages
networks and computing centers worldwide and develops solutions for global corporate networks, mobility, security,
and sustainability. On this basis, T-Systems successfully continued its international growth strategy in 2009 and won a
large number of tenders for cloud services, dynamic SAP services, and telecommunications and data services. Such
large-scale contracts give T-Systems the critical mass it needs to continue offering multinational corporations in key
markets attractive services locally.

Growth through targeted acquisition. In May 2009, T-Systems expanded its operations in Southwestern Europe with
the acquisition of IT service provider Metrolico.

Cloud computing. In the future, corporate customers will obtain the software, storage capacity and bandwidth they
need online. T-Systems already provides more than 300 corporate customers with IT services from the cloud and
plans to continue growing in this area. T-Systems started providing global computing center and SAP services for
Philips beginning in January 2010. In the future, international T-Systems locations will provide services using a
secure proprietary network — a “private cloud” — on an as-needed basis.

SAP services. T-Systems is the world leader for customized SAP solutions, as confirmed in studies by analysts at
Forrester Research and AMR Research. T-Systems scored points for customer satisfaction and SAP expertise, and
also due to large-scale deals with the Nuance Group and Komatsu in South Africa and the acquisition of SAP AG’s
hosting business in Europe.

Telecommunications and data services. Many large corporations such as Linde and Deutsche Post DHL already
benefit from T-Systems’ experience and expertise in telecommunications solutions and data services. In December
2009, T-Systems was commissioned by BP to migrate the petroleum giant’s data network to the next generation, in the
course of which it will provide all telecommunications services in over 50 countries.
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Strategic partnerships. T-Systems participates in selected partnerships to safeguard its long-term competitiveness and
global delivery capacity. T-Systems and Microsoft signed an exclusive partnership to offer business software from the
Internet for companies with over 5,000 users. T-Systems is the only German sales partner for such cloud services with
Microsoft products. The partnership with Cognizant concluded back in 2008 resulted in orders for systems integration
services, for example, from the R&D unit of Continental’s tire division.

We will continue to drive forward in the dynamic competitive environment in 2010 and concentrate on achieving our
long-term vision of becoming a global leader in connected life and work. In the first quarter of 2010, our Group will
refine and review implementation of our “Focus, fix and grow” strategy with its four strategic areas of action focusing
on how to further benefit from our more integrated structure through the One Company approach.

Our strategies may, of course, be adapted and modified to respond to opportunities and changing conditions. As
disclosed in past years, we may embark on capital expenditure programs and pursue acquisitions, joint ventures or full
or partial dispositions or combinations of businesses where we perceive opportunity for profitable growth, cost
savings or other benefits for our Group. Transactions may be conducted using newly issued shares of Deutsche
Telekom or shares of affiliates, cash or a combination of cash and shares, and may individually or in the aggregate be
material to our financial and business condition or results of operations. As a result, they may affect the trading prices
of our securities. As in the past, discussions with third parties in this regard may be commenced, on-going or
discontinued at any time or from time to time.
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Outlook (1)

Our market expectations.

The follow-on effects of current economic trends, most noticeably the continued rise in unemployment and the
resulting negative climate for overall consumption, may adversely affect retail business in Europe and the United
States, and, on a delayed basis, lead to restraint in expenditures for telephone and data services.

Austerity measures in fiscal policy — made necessary by higher levels of national debt — in the form of higher taxes or
lower expenditures may have direct or indirect effects on retail consumption and public demand for
telecommunications products and services. In Greece, in particular, the high level of national debt and the
government’s austerity measures could have an impact on consumer behavior.

The modest pace of economic recovery in domestic and international markets may lead companies around the world
to continue to cut costs, which in turn may negatively affect business with corporate and business customers in
telecommunications and IT.

Our main sales markets will face intense competition and a continuing decline in prices, as large competitors expand
their telecommunications businesses into further product areas. There will, however, be opportunities that arise from
some market trends. The global trends toward digitization and connected life and work are accelerating. An increase
in demand for mobile Internet and data services is expected in the United States and Europe. Demand among business
customers for cloud computing and telecommunications and data services from a single source is growing
considerably.

(1) This Outlook discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect management’s current views with respect
to future events. Words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “may,” “could,” “estimate,” “aim,” “goal,” “plan,’
“should,” “will,” “seek,” “outlook” or similar expressions generally identify forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements include statements with regard to the expected development of revenue, earnings, profits
from operations, depreciation and amortization, cash flows and personnel-related measures. You should consider
forward-looking statements with caution. They are subject to risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to
predict and are often beyond our control. The risks and uncertainties include those described in the sections
“Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report. Please read those sections when considering
this Outlook discussion. Among the factors that might influence our ability to achieve our objectives are the progress
of our workforce reduction initiative and other cost-saving measures, and the impact of other significant strategic,
labor or business initiatives, including acquisitions, dispositions and business combinations, and our network upgrade
and expansion initiatives. In addition, stronger than expected competition, technological change, legal proceedings
and regulatory developments, among other factors, may have a material adverse effect on our costs and revenue
development. Further, the economic downturn in our markets, and changes in interest and currency exchange rates,
may also have an impact on our business development and the availability of financing on favorable conditions.
Changes in our expectations regarding recoverable amounts of assets, including expectations concerning future cash
flows, may lead to impairments of assets, which may materially affect our results at the group and operating segment
levels. If these or other risks and uncertainties materialize, or if the assumptions underlying any of these statements
prove incorrect, our actual performance may materially differ from the performance expressed or implied by
forward-looking statements. We can offer no assurance that our estimates or expectations will be achieved. We do not
assume any obligation to update forward-looking statements to take new information or future events into account or
otherwise.
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Our expectations for the Group.

We will focus our investment activities in 2010 and 2011 on efforts to safeguard our competitiveness and future
viability, including in our home market, Germany, where our capital expenditure will increase significantly. At the
same time, we aim to maintain stable credit ratings to facilitate access to the debt capital markets, and to achieve a
level of financial performance that supports an appropriate return to our shareholders. Taking this into consideration,
we expect our overall capital expenditures on assets other than spectrum to increase slightly year-on-year in 2010 to
around EUR 9.1 billion, which should strengthen our position in our core markets. Based on current market
conditions, for 2010, we expect to generate profit from operations of approximately EUR 8 billion, with scheduled
depreciation and amortization of approximately EUR 12 billion. We expect cash flow from operating activities of
approximately EUR 15.3 billion in 2010. These expectations are based on the assumption that our UK subsidiary
T-Mobile UK, which is to be merged to create a 50:50 joint venture following approval by the relevant authorities,
will continue to be fully consolidated through at least the end of 2010, which may or may not be the case. Subsequent
to the closing of the transaction, we will account for our investment in the joint venture using the equity method of
accounting. Should the closing occur before the end of 2010, the expectations described above would be affected in
various ways. Following the change to the equity method of accounting, we will no longer report capital expenditures
for the business. In addition, we will cease reporting revenue, operating expenses and profit from operations, but will,
rather, report our share of the net profit of the joint venture as part of our profit (loss) from financial activities.
Similarly, the revenues and operating costs from T-Mobile UK will no longer directly affect cash flow from operating
activities; instead, dividends paid by the joint venture will be recognized as cash flows from operating activities. The
expectations are also based on assumptions regarding currency exchange rates. Our consolidated results are sensitive
to fluctuations in the relationship between the euro and the U.S. dollar (and, to a lesser extent, the British pound and
Eastern European currencies). Should actual exchange rates deviate from the exchange rates that we have assumed,
our capital expenditures, profit from operations, amortization and depreciation, and cash flows may be materially
affected. Our expectation concerning profit from operations is founded on the assumption that there will not be
material unscheduled amortization (impairment charges) or charges or costs from as yet unanticipated restructurings
or from setbacks in litigation or regulatory proceedings. Any such charges or costs would reduce our profit from
operations. Please refer to the footnote at the end of this Outlook discussion for further cautionary warnings
concerning forward-looking statements.

We intend to continue to realize international economies of scale and synergies through appropriate acquisitions in our
footprint markets and through joint ventures. We have, however, no plans at present for major acquisitions or
expansion into emerging markets.

The tense situation in the international financial markets eased over the course of 2009, and there were large issuances
on the debt capital markets. We also took advantage of market conditions and the low interest rate environment to
issue debt securities amounting to approximately EUR 5.3 billion. We believe that our committed bilateral credit lines,
short-term cash deposits, cash flows from operations, and ability to access the capital markets will be sufficient to
meet our anticipated liquidity requirements during 2010. We may take advantage of favorable conditions for capital
markets debt issuances in 2010.
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Our expectations for the operating segments.

Germany.

We will continue to improve our product portfolio to promote “connected life” and will endeavor to increase the number
of high-value customer relationships over the long term. In 2010 and 2011, our operating segment in Germany will
focus on the following activities:

e Defending and consolidating our leadership in the fixed-network and mobile communications markets, for example
through stronger cross-selling and the sale of more advanced products and services;

¢ Expanding the growing Entertain and mobile data business;
¢ Increasing customer satisfaction by, for example, improving customer service;

¢ Significantly enhancing network quality and coverage, by, for example, increasing 3G coverage and improving
network stability;

e Further improving processes and quality with the goal of trimming our cost base; and
e Using our new “One Company” organizational structure to enhance competencies.

In the Germany operating segment, we expect the decline in our revenue to decelerate and profit from operations to
decline slightly in 2010.

We will defend our market leadership in the fixed-network business, even though our traditional access business will
continue to suffer market share losses. One of the key issues will be the further development of the mass market with
Entertain products through a combination of high-speed broadband lines and attractive content and features, including
high-performance packages with TV and Entertain content via DSL and fixed-network lines with flat rates. The range
of high-definition (HD) services for TV will be extended in the 2010 financial year, allowing customers to benefit
from a fully HD-enabled infrastructure.

In the mobile communications market, we expect to be able to maintain our market position in a highly competitive
environment. Mobile Internet will be the principal growth driver. We expect the high level of mobile Internet growth
to continue in 2010 due in part to the sale of smartphones. With a portfolio of intelligent handsets, attractive rate plans
and innovative applications, we plan to further develop the consumer and business customer markets through data
services for cell phones and laptops. In addition, we plan to offer machine-to-machine solutions that we expect will
make a positive contribution to the mobile non-voice growth area.

Capital expenditure in Germany will focus on growth and innovation, particularly the further integrated and
value-enhanced broadband expansion in fixed-network and mobile communications, as well as on quality and service
initiatives. In view of the general market and financial situation, bidding at the mobile communications spectrum
auction is expected to be less intense than at the UMTS auction in 2000. Demanding coverage requirements facing the
winners of the spectrum auction as well as spectrum usage restrictions support this expectation.

United States.

In 2010, our United States operating segment will focus on attracting and retaining a loyal customer base. Data growth
and the higher utilization of the 3G network will form the basis for the future development. In addition, with a
continued focus on cost efficiencies, but offset by market-driven declines in voice revenues per customer in an
increasingly mature U.S. market, we currently expect our revenue and profit from operations in the United States to be
broadly stable in 2010. However, exchange rate changes, regulatory changes and competitive pressures may
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significantly affect revenues and profit from operations.

The focus of capital expenditure for T-Mobile USA will continue to be the enhancement of network quality and
coverage. In particular T-Mobile USA intends to expand and upgrade the 3G mobile communications network,
including an upgrade of the top 30 U.S. markets to HSPA+ with a top download speed of 21 Mbit/s in 2010.
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Europe.

We expect customer numbers to continue to grow in the Europe operating segment. Ongoing development of the
mobile Internet with innovative data services and new, intelligent mobile handsets at attractive prices are proving to
be important and consistent growth drivers. Nevertheless, the Europe operating segment is facing ongoing intense
competition in a challenging macroeconomic environment. Regulatory measures and exchange rate fluctuations in the
countries in which we operate may have a negative effect on revenue and earnings on a euro-basis.

Taking this into account, in 2010 we expect revenue to be broadly stable and profit from operations, which was
significantly reduced by goodwill impairments in 2009, in the Europe operating segment to increase provided the
composition of the operating segment remains unchanged (in particular assuming that the T-Mobile UK joint venture
is not consummated this year, which may or may not be the case). We expect the ongoing intense competition and the
continued challenging macroeconomic situation to adversely affect profit from operations, although this effect is
expected to be offset partially by cost-cutting initiatives.

The key areas of capital expenditure in the Europe operating segment will be improvements in GSM network quality
and the further roll-out of UMTS networks as part of the drive to introduce the technology for next-generation mobile
networks.

Southern and Eastern Europe.

The acquisition of a stake in OTE has given us a foothold in further Southern and Eastern European markets. We
expect revenue, which will be positively affected by the inclusion of the OTE group for a full year, and profit from
operations, which was significantly reduced by goodwill impairments in 2009, to increase in the Southern and Eastern
Europe segment in 2010. We expect the continuing difficult macroeconomic situation and ongoing intense
competition to adversely affect profit from operations in 2010. Regulatory measures and exchange rate fluctuations in
the individual countries as well as recently imposed or increased mobile communications taxes may have an
additional adverse effect.

Capital expenditures in Southern and Eastern Europe will focus on the network infrastructure to expand broadband
coverage and for the further build-out of the 3G network and TV infrastructure (satellite and IP). Further investments
have been scheduled to improve and refine customer service and raise process efficiency.

Systems Solutions.

T-Systems focuses on the growing ICT services market, where it provides solutions for corporate customers. Demand
for international ICT solutions is increasing — not least as a result of the further globalization of corporations. Utilizing
a global infrastructure of data centers and networks, T-Systems manages information and communication services for
some 400 corporate customers, including multinational corporations and public-sector and public health institutions,
and provides integrated solutions for the networked future of business and society. We expect that large-scale

contracts with renowned industry giants, such as MAN, Linde, Philips and BP, will lay the foundation for the revenue
development in coming years. It nevertheless remains to be seen how the businesses of T-Systems’ customers and their
need for our services will develop in the wake of the global financial and economic crisis.

T-Systems’ cost-cutting measures showed encouraging effects in the past year and will be continued. We expect
revenue to be stable and profit from operations at the operating segment Systems Solutions to improve slightly in
2010 in view of the measures described, although uncertainty resulting from the unsettled economic environment
remains.
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Group Headquarters and Shared Services.

Profit from operations at Group Headquarters and Shared Services is largely influenced by expenditure at Group
Headquarters and staff restructuring activities at Vivento. Measures taken to improve and centralize functions in
connection with the realignment of the management structure will enhance efficiency on a Group-wide basis, but will
have a negative impact on profit from operations at Group Headquarters and Shared Services. Key goals for our
centralized functions include cost management and increasing efficiency.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, are dependent upon
and sensitive to accounting methods, assumptions and estimates that we use as bases for the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. We have identified the following critical accounting estimates and related
assumptions and uncertainties inherent in our accounting policies that we believe are essential to an understanding of
the underlying financial reporting risks, and the effect that these accounting estimates, assumptions and uncertainties
have on our consolidated financial statements under IFRS.

Measurement of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets involves the use of estimates for determining the
fair value at the acquisition date, provided they were acquired in a business combination. Furthermore, the expected
useful lives of these assets must be estimated. The determination of the fair values of assets and liabilities, as well as
of the useful lives of the assets is based on management’s judgment.

The determination of impairments of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets involves the use of
estimates that include, but are not limited to, the cause, timing and amount of the impairment. Impairment is based on
a large number of factors, such as changes in current competitive conditions, expectations of growth in the
telecommunications industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the future availability of financing, technological
obsolescence, discontinuance of services, current replacement costs, prices paid in comparable transactions and other
changes in circumstances that indicate an impairment exists. The recoverable amount and the fair values are typically
determined using a discounted cash flow method which incorporates reasonable market participant assumptions. The
identification of impairment indicators, as well as the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of fair
values for assets (or groups of assets) require management to make significant judgments concerning the identification
and validation of impairment indicators, expected cash flows, applicable discount rates, useful lives and residual
values. Specifically, the estimation of cash flows underlying the fair values of the mobile businesses considers the
continued investment in network infrastructure required to generate future revenue growth through the offering of new
data products and services, for which only limited historical information on customer demand is available. If the
demand for these products and services does not materialize as expected, this would result in less revenue, less cash
flow and potential impairment to write-down these investments to their fair values, which could adversely affect
future operating results.

The determination of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit involves the use of estimates by management.
Methods used to determine the fair value less costs to sell may include discounted cash flow-based methods and
methods that use quoted stock market prices as a basis. Key assumptions on which management has based its
determination of fair value less costs to sell include ARPU, subscriber acquisition and retention costs, churn rates,
capital expenditure and market share. These estimates, including the methodologies used, can have a material impact
on the fair value and ultimately the amount of any goodwill impairment.

Other financial assets include equity investments in foreign telecommunications service providers on which the Group
does not have a significant influence and that are principally engaged in the mobile, fixed network, Internet and data
communications businesses, some of which are publicly traded and have highly volatile share prices. Generally, an
investment impairment loss is recorded when an investment’s carrying amount exceeds the present value of its
estimated future cash flows. The calculation of the present value of estimated future cash flows and the determination
of whether an impairment is permanent involve judgment and rely heavily on an assessment by management
regarding the future development prospects of the investee. In measuring impairments, quoted market prices are used,
if available, or other valuation parameters, based on information available from the investee. To determine whether an
impairment is permanent, the Company considers the ability and intent to hold the investment for a reasonable period
of time sufficient for a forecasted recovery of fair value up to (or beyond) the carrying amount, including an
assessment of factors such as the length of time and magnitude of the excess of carrying value over market value, the

133



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

forecasted results of the investee, the regional geographic economic environment and state of the industry. Future
adverse changes in market conditions, particularly a downturn in the telecommunications industry or poor operating
results of investees, could result in losses or an inability to recover the carrying amount of the investments that may
not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying amount. This could result in impairment losses, which could
adversely affect future operating results.

Management maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to account for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of customers to make required payments. When evaluating the adequacy of an allowance for doubtful accounts,
management bases its estimates on the aging of accounts receivable balances and historical write-off experience,
customer credit worthiness and changes in customer payment terms. If the financial condition of customers were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected.

74

134



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents

Income taxes must be estimated for each of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, involving a specific
calculation of the expected actual income tax exposure for each tax object and an assessment of temporary differences
resulting from the different treatment of certain items for IFRS consolidated financial and tax reporting purposes. Any
temporary differences will generally result in the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements. Management judgment is required for the calculation of actual and deferred taxes. Deferred tax
assets are recognized to the extent that their utilization is probable. The utilization of deferred tax assets will depend
on whether it is possible to generate sufficient taxable income in the respective tax type and jurisdiction, taking into
account any legal restrictions on the length of the loss-carryforward period. Various factors are used to assess the
probability of the future utilization of deferred tax assets, including past operating results, operational plans,
loss-carryforward periods, and tax planning strategies. If actual results differ from these estimates or if these estimates
must be adjusted in future periods, results of operations, the financial position, and cash flows may be negatively
affected. In the event that the assessment of future utilization of deferred tax assets changes, the recognized deferred
tax assets must be reduced through profit or loss or directly in equity, depending on how the deferred tax assets were
originally recognized. Conversely, previously unrecognized or impaired deferred tax assets may be recognized
through profit or loss or directly in equity as a result of a reassessment.

Pension obligations for benefits to non-civil servants are generally satisfied by plans which are classified and
accounted for as defined benefit plans. Pension benefit costs for non-civil servants are determined in accordance with
actuarial valuation, which rely on assumptions including discount rates, life expectancies and, if applicable, expected
return on plan assets. Other key assumptions for pension costs are based in part on actuarial valuations, which rely on
assumptions, including discount rates used to calculate the amount of the pension obligation. The interest rate used to
determine the present value of the obligations was set on the basis of the yield on high-quality corporate bonds in the
respective currency area. In countries without a deep market for such bonds, estimates based on the yield on
government bonds were used instead. The assumptions concerning the expected return on plan assets are determined
on a uniform basis, considering long-term historical returns, asset allocation and future estimates of long-term
investment returns. In the event that changes in assumptions are required with respect to discount rates and expected
returns on invested assets, the future amounts of the pension benefit costs may be materially affected.

We are obligated, under the German Federal Posts and Telecommunications Agency Reorganization Act (Gesetz zur
Reorganisation der Bundesanstalt fiir Post und Telekommunikation Deutsche Bundespost), to pay for our share of any
operating cost shortfalls between the income of the Civil Service Health Insurance Fund (Postbeamtenkrankenkasse)
and actual benefits paid. The Civil Service Health Insurance Fund provides services mainly in cases of illness, birth,
or death for its members (and their dependents), who are civil servants employed by or retired from Deutsche
Telekom AG, Deutsche Post AG and Deutsche Postbank AG. When “Post Reform II”” came into effect, participation in
the Civil Service Health Insurance Fund was closed to new members. The insurance premiums collected by the Civil
Service Health Insurance Fund may not exceed the insurance premiums imposed by alternative private health
insurance enterprises for comparable insurance benefits, and, therefore, do not reflect the changing age distribution of
the participants in the fund. We recognize provisions in the amount of the actuarially determined present value of our
share in the fund’s future deficit, using a discount rate and making assumptions about life expectancies and projections
for contributions and future increases in general health care costs in Germany. Since the calculation of these
provisions involves long-term projections over periods of more than 50 years, the present value of the liability may be
highly sensitive even to small variations in the underlying assumptions.

We exercise considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the exposure to contingent liabilities
related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to negotiated settlement, mediation, arbitration or
government regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities. Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a
pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement.
Provisions are recorded for liabilities when losses are expected from executory contracts, a loss is considered probable
and can be reasonably estimated. Because of the inherent uncertainties in this evaluation process, actual losses may be
different from the originally estimated provision. In addition, significant estimates are involved in the determination of
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provisions related to taxes, environmental liabilities and litigation risks. These estimates are subject to change as new
information becomes available, primarily with the support of internal specialists, if available, or with the support of
outside consultants, such as actuaries or legal counsel. Revisions to the estimates of these losses from executory
contracts may significantly affect future operating results.
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Revenue recognition for customer activation fees

The operating segments Germany, United States, Europe and Southern and Eastern Europe receive installation and
activation fees from new customers. These fees (and related directly attributable costs) are deferred and amortized
over the expected duration of the customer relationship. The estimation of the expected average duration of the
relationship is based on historical customer turnover. If management’s estimates are revised, material differences may
result in the amount and timing of revenue recognized for any given period.

Revenue recognition for service contracts

The Systems Solutions operating segment conducts a portion of its business under long-term contracts with customers.
Under these contracts, revenue is recognized as performance progresses. Depending on the methodology used to
determine contract progress, these estimates may include total contract costs, remaining costs to completion, total
contract revenues, contract risks and other judgments. All estimates involved in such long-term contracts are subject
to regular reviews and adjusted as necessary.

Revenue recognition for multiple-element arrangements

Arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products or services shall be separated into individual elements (units
of accounting), each with its own separate earnings process. Total arrangement consideration relating to the bundled
contract is allocated among the different units based on their relative fair values (i.e., the relative fair value of each of
the accounting units to the aggregated fair value of the bundled deliverables). The relative fair value of an individual
unit of accounting and thus the revenue recognized for this unit, however, is limited by that proportion of the total
arrangement consideration, the payment of which does not depend on the delivery of additional elements. The fair
values of individual units of accounting of bundled products are complex to determine, because some of the elements
are price sensitive and, thus, volatile in a competitive marketplace. Revisions to the estimates of these relative fair
values may significantly affect the allocation of total arrangement consideration among the different units of
accounting, affecting future operating results.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents information concerning our consolidated income statements for the periods indicated:

Net revenues

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses
Other operating income

Other operating expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs

Share of profit (loss) of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity
method

Other financial income (expense)

Loss from financial activities

Profit before income taxes

Income taxes

Profit after income taxes

Profit attributable to minority interests
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the
parent (net profit (loss))

n.a.—not applicable

2009
millions
64,602
(36,259
28,343
(15,863
(4,653
1,504
(3,319
6,012
(2,555

24
(826
(3,357
2,655
(1,782
873
520

353

)

2008
millions
61,666
(34,592
27,074
(15,952
(4,821
1,971
(1,232
7,040
(2,487

(388
(713
(3,588
3,452
(1,428
2,024
541

1,483

)

For the years ended December 31,

2007
millions
62,516
(35,337
27,179
(16,644
(5,133
1,645
(1,761
5,286
2,514

55
(374
(2,833
2,453
(1,373
1,080
509

571

2009/2008
% change
4.8

4.8

4.7

0.6

35

(23.7

n.a.

(14.6

(2.7

n.a.
(15.8
6.4
(23.1
(24.8
(56.9
3.9

(76.2

)

A N N

2008/2007
% change

1.4
2.1
0.4
4.2
6.1
19.8
30.0
33.2
1.1

n.a.
(90.6
(26.7
40.7
(4.0
87.4
6.3

n.a.

)
)

One of the factors that causes period to period changes in our revenues and expenses is movement in exchange

rates. In the following discussion, we use the term exchange rate effects to explain the variability caused by such

movements. We calculate the effects of changes in exchange rates by multiplying the revenue and expense amounts in

local currencies by the exchange rates in effect for the prior year to derive a constant currency revenue or expense

amount. We then subtract this figure from the euro-denominated amount obtained from multiplying the current year
revenue and expense amounts in local currency by the current year exchange rates. The difference between the two

amounts is the currency or exchange rate effect.
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Net Revenue (Revenue from customers outside of the Deutsche Telekom Group)

The first-time full consolidation of the Greek company OTE was the primary reason for the rise in our net revenue in
2009, contributing EUR 5,426 million. Without the effects of changes in the consolidated group (EUR 5,528 million),
which were partially offset by negative exchange rate effects (EUR 417 million), our net revenue would have
decreased compared to the prior-year level.

While the Group’s net revenue in the United States and Southern and Eastern Europe operating segments increased, net
revenue in the Germany, Europe and Systems Solutions operating segments declined. Net revenue in Deutsche
Telekom’s operating segments developed as follows:

The net revenue increase in the United States operating segment was primarily the result of positive exchange rate
effects from the translation of U.S. dollars to euros (EUR 763) million. Without these exchange rate effects, net
revenue in the United States would have declined, particularly as a result of lower revenue per customer.

Net revenue of the Southern and Eastern Europe operating segment increased principally as a result of the full
consolidation of OTE for the first time, as indicated above. Exchange rate effects reduced the net revenue generated
by the Southern and Eastern Europe operating segment by EUR 210 million. The most significant effect was from the
translation of Hungarian forints to euros.

The decline in net revenue of the Germany operating segment was primarily a result of intense competition and price
intervention by the regulator.

Besides the continued high level of competitive pressure, the decline in net revenue of the Europe operating segment
was mainly attributable to negative exchange rate effects (EUR 901 million) from the translation of pounds sterling,
Polish zlotys, and Czech korunas to euros.

Net revenue in the Systems Solutions operating segment decreased, particularly within Germany, as a result of price
erosion. Negative exchange rate effects had a further negative impact (EUR 69 million) on net revenue.

In 2008, our net revenue decreased by EUR 850 million, or 1.4%, to EUR 61,666 million, compared with 2007. Our
net revenue was affected by negative exchange rate effects (EUR 1,308 million), primarily from the translation of U.S.
dollars and pound sterling into euros. Net revenue in the United States operating segment was EUR 14,957 million in
2008, an increase of EUR 882 million, or 6.3%, compared with 2007. The acquisition of SunCom Wireless
contributed EUR 462 million to net revenue in 2008. Our net revenue was also affected by decreases in our Germany
operating segment (EUR 1,716 million, or 6.1%, as compared with 2007) as a result of continuing decreases in the
number of access lines, growth in the popularity of Complete packages with flat rate tariff components, and falling
charges for usage-based products. Those decreases could not be fully offset by increased net revenue from growth in
the number of DSL lines and unbundled local loop lines. Our net revenue was also negatively affected by decreases in
the Systems Solution operating segment (EUR 1,228 million, or 11.6%, as compared with 2007). Media&Broadcast
was sold in January 2008 and contributed EUR 399 million to net revenue in 2007.

For more information on our net revenue development and trends at the segment level, see “—Segment Analysis.”
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Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales comprises the aggregate cost of products and services delivered. In addition to directly attributable
costs, such as direct material and labor costs, it also includes indirect costs, such as depreciation and amortization.

The EUR 1,667 million increase in cost of sales in 2009 was mainly attributable to the first-time full consolidation of
OTE, which contributed EUR 3,201 million to the Group’s cost of sales in the financial year. Net exchange rate effects
decreased cost of sales in 2009 by EUR 394 million. In our Germany operating segment, declines in personnel costs
and interconnection costs were partially offset by increases in the cost of goods purchased for resale. In our Europe
operating segment, declines in interconnection costs were driven by lower service revenues. In addition, we reduced
technology personnel and the related costs at T-Mobile UK. Cost of sales at our Southern and Eastern Europe
operating segment declined slightly due to reduced headcounts and personnel costs. Cost of sales declined at our
Systems Solutions operating segment due to a decline in revenues and to the consolidation of certain delivery
platforms with its network infrastructure.

Our cost of sales decreased by EUR 745 million, or 2.1%, in 2008 to EUR 34,592 million, compared with

EUR 35,337 million in 2007. This decrease was due in part to exchange rate effects of EUR 756 million caused
primarily by the strengthening of the euro against the U.S. dollar and to a lesser extent the pound sterling. Cost of
sales at our Germany operating segment decreased due to the decline in revenues, as well as decreased personnel costs
resulting from a decrease in restructuring costs, and the sale of T-Online France and T-Online Spain in 2007. Cost of
sales at the USA operating segment increased in both euros and in U.S. dollars, resulting from increases in customer
numbers and the consolidation of SunCom Wireless in the first quarter of 2008. Cost of sales at our Europe operating
segment was affected by the full year consolidation of Orange Nederland in 2008 compared to only three months in
2007. Cost of sales, particularly interconnection and roaming fees, were lower at T-Mobile UK due to the decline in
revenue. Cost of sales in the Systems Solutions operating segment decreased in 2008 compared with 2007 due
primarily to the disposal of Media&Broadcast on January 1, 2008, and lower equipment and services costs.

Selling Expenses

Our selling expenses include all expenses for activities that do not directly increase the value of our products or
services, but help to secure sales. Selling costs generally include all expenses relating to the sales (e.g., commissions),
advertising and marketing departments and other sales promotion activities.

Our selling expenses remained near the prior-year level despite the effect of the first-time full consolidation of OTE in
2009. This effect was offset in particular by cost cuts in the Germany operating segment, primarily in operational sales
and receivables management. Selling costs at the USA operating segment declined as a result of fewer commission
costs due to a decrease in the gross customer additions. This effect was partially offset by increases in retail personnel
costs. In addition, selling expenses decreased in the Europe operating segment, due to lower costs all subsidiaries
except PTC.

Selling expenses decreased by EUR 692 million, or 4.2%, in 2008 compared to 2007. This decrease was due in
part to exchange rate effects of EUR 443 million, caused primarily by the strengthening of the euro against the U.S.
dollar and to a lesser extent the pound sterling. Selling expenses at our Germany operating segment declined due in
part to increases in allowances for bad debts, increases in costs associated with Immobilien Scout and increased
marketing and selling expenses. The sale of T-Online Spain and T-Online France in 2007 led to a decrease in selling
expenses in 2008. Selling expenses at our United States operating as segment result of an increase in gross customer
additions in 2008 and the consolidation of SunCom Wireless in the first quarter of 2008. Selling expenses at our
Europe operating segment increased primarily as a result of the acquisition of Orange Nederland in the fourth quarter
of 2007.
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General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses generally include all costs attributable to the core administrative functions
that are not directly attributable to production or selling activities.

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2009 as the effect from the first-time full consolidation of OTE of
EUR 456 million was more than offset by savings measures at all segments.

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2008 due mainly to a decrease in expenses incurred in
connection with staff-related measures at Group Headquarters and Shared Services. General and administrative
expenses also decreased in our Germany and Europe operating segments, offset in part by an increase at our United
States operating segment, primarily due to the acquisition of SunCom, and Systems Solutions operating segment.
Other Operating Income

Other operating income consists of reversals of provisions (if not allocated to functional costs), income from transfer
of costs and gains from disposals. Miscellaneous other operating income encompasses a variety of income items for
which the individually recognized amounts are not material.

In 2009, other operating income decreased mainly due to lower income from disposals, which was affected by the sale
of Media&Broadcast in 2008.

Other operating income increased by EUR 326 million in 2008, mainly as a result of the gain on the disposal of
Media&Broadcast (EUR 500 million) in the first quarter of 2008. Comparable, although slightly lower, gains were
recorded in 2007 from the disposals of T-Online France and T-Online Spain. Additional income was also recorded in
2008 from the sale of an asset (EUR 0.1 billion) and from the reclassification of real estate assets held for sale to
non-current assets (EUR 0.1 billion).

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses consist of impairment of goodwill, additions to provisions (if not allocated to functional
costs) and losses on disposals. Miscellaneous other operating expenses encompass a variety of expense items for
which the individually recognized amounts are not material.

In 2009, other operating expenses increased by EUR 2,087 million year-on-year. This was mainly attributable to
impairment losses on goodwill amounting to EUR 2,345 million that we recognized in the financial year. For further
details, please refer to note (5) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other operating expenses decreased by EUR 529 million in 2008 compared to 2007. In 2008, goodwill impairment
losses amounted to an aggregate of EUR 289 million, whereas in 2007 the reduction in the carrying amount of
goodwill recognized amounted to EUR 327 million (at T-Mobile Netherlands, as described in detail below). In 2008,
we also incurred expenses relating to the disposal of DeTe Immobilien, while in 2007 we incurred expenses in
connection with the sale of call centers of Vivento Customer Services and the transfer of operations of Vivento
Technical Services.

The reduction of the carrying amount of goodwill of T-Mobile Netherlands was not the result of an impairment test,
but of the recognition of deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards that were acquired in connection with the
acquisition of Ben Nederland (the predecessor of T-Mobile Netherlands) but were not considered to meet the criteria
for recognition at the time. Based on an assessment of all available information and relevant accounting literature, we
determined that it had become probable that these previously unrecognized loss carryforwards would be realizable in
the near term and deferred taxes would have to be recognized and the carrying amount of goodwill would have to be
reduced accordingly.
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Profit from Operations

Profit from operations decreased by EUR 1,028 million, or 14.6%, in 2009 compared to 2008, primarily as a result of
the factors set forth above.

Profit from operations increased by EUR 1,754 million, or 33.2%, in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily as a result of
the factors set forth above.

The details are described in the individual items set forth above and in personnel costs, depreciation, amortization and
impairment losses set forth below.
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Loss from Financial Activities

The following table presents information concerning our loss from financial activities:

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Finance costs
Interest income 341 408 261 (16.4 ) 56.3
Interest expense (2,896 ) (2,895 ) (2,775 ) n.a. 4.3 )

(2,555 ) (2487 ) (2514 ) 27 ) 1.1
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures

accounted for using the equity method 24 (388 ) 55 n.a. n.a.
Other financial income (expense) (826 ) (713 ) (374 ) (15.8 ) (90.6 )
Loss from financial activities (3,357 ) (3,588 ) (2,833 ) 64 (26.7 )

n.a.—not applicable

Finance costs

In 2009, our finance costs increased slightly on 2009 compared to 2008. Finance costs were subject to two offsetting
effects. On the one hand, interest expense increased in 2009 due to the first-time full consolidation of OTE in our
consolidated financial statements. On the other hand, the downgrade of Deutsche Telekom’s rating in the prior year
and the resulting adjustments to carrying amounts for a number of bonds with rating-linked coupons had a one-time
impact on interest expense in the prior year.

Since January 1, 2009, Deutsche Telekom has capitalized borrowing costs as part of the cost of qualifying assets.
EUR 27 million were recognized as a part of cost in the financial year. The amount was calculated on the basis of an
average capitalization rate of 5.9 % applied across the Group. The figures for prior-year periods have not been
adjusted.

Accrued interest payments from derivatives (interest rate swaps) that were designated as hedging instruments in a fair
value hedge in accordance with IAS 39 are netted per swap contract and recognized as interest income or interest
expense depending on the net amount. Finance costs are assigned to the categories on the basis of the hedged item;
only financial liabilities were hedged in the reporting period.

Our finance costs remained almost unchanged in 2008 compared with 2007. Substantially lower USD interbank rates
had a positive impact on non-derivative instruments and on interest rate derivatives used as part of interest rate
management, affecting both interest income and interest expense. This positive effect was offset in part by an
adjustment to the carrying amounts (EUR 202 million) of a number of bonds with rating-linked coupons due to a
downgrade of our credit ratings by certain rating agencies.

The effective weighted average interest rate applicable to our outstanding indebtedness related to bonds and
debentures was 6.2% in 2009 , 6.1% in 2008 and 6.1% in 2007 . The effective weighted average interest rate
applicable to our outstanding indebtedness related to bank liabilities was 5.3% in 2009, 5.9% in 2008 and 5.7% in
2007. Some of our debt instruments have provisions that could cause the interest rate on such investments to increase
upon the occurrence of certain downgrades in our long-term unsecured debt ratings. For more information, see
“—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Capital Resources.”

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
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In 2009, the share of profit of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method increased by
EUR 412 million to EUR 24 million compared to 2008. This increase was mainly due to the impairment loss of
EUR 548 million that had to be recognized in the prior year on the carrying amount of the shares in OTE. OTE has
been fully consolidated since the beginning of February 2009. For more information, please refer to note (7) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The share of profit of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method in 2008 decreased by
EUR 443 million, compared to 2007, primarily as result of the impairment on the carrying amount of our investment
in OTE (EUR 548 million), offset in part by our share of OTE’s profit recognized (EUR 107 million), subsequent to
our acquisition in 2008.
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Other financial income (expense)

In 2009, the increase in other financial expense of EUR 113 million, as compared to 2008, was mainly

attributable to higher interest rate expenses on provisions and liabilities.

Other financial expense increased by EUR 339 million in 2008, as compared to 2007, due primarily to higher loss
from financial instruments. The increase in loss from financial instruments is mainly due to effects from
cross-currency swaps used by us to convert financial liabilities into one of the Group’s main currencies. Different
trends in interest rates and liquidity of the currencies involved in these swaps contributed to the increase in other

financial expense. For more information, see “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Capital Resources.”

Number of employees (average for the year)

Average number of employees 2009
Group (total) 257,601
Domestic 130,477
International 127,124
Non-civil servants 226,460
Civil servants (domestic) 31,141
Trainees and student interns 9,805

2008
234,887
141,123
93,764

201,036
33,851

10,424

2007
243,736
154,101
89,635

205,471
38,265

10,708

The number of employees in the Group increased year-on-year by 22,714. This increase was largely a result of the
first-time inclusion of the OTE staff in early February 2009. The headcount also grew in the Systems Solutions and
United States operating segments. In the Systems Solutions operating segment, the higher staff level was due to the
expansion of international business. In the United States operating segment, the increase in the average number of
employees resulted from retail distribution growth. These effects were only partially offset by staff reductions in

Germany.
Depreciation, Amortization and Impairment Losses

The following table provides a breakdown of the depreciation, amortization and impairment losses contained in the
functional cost line items (cost of sales, selling expenses, general and administrative expenses and other operating

For the years ended December 31,

expenses):

2009
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets (5,657
of which: goodwill impairment losses (2,345
of which: amortization of mobile telecommunications licenses (905
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment (8,237
Total depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (13,894
82

~— N N '

2008

(3,397
(289
(1,013
(7,578
(10,975

(millions of €)

)

)
)
)
)

2007
(3,490 )
(327 )
(1,017 )
8,121 )
(11,611 )
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In 2009, depreciation, amortization and impairment losses increased mainly due to higher impairment losses
recognized on goodwill as well as the full inclusion of OTE for the first time in early February 2009. The Group
recognized an impairment loss of EUR 1.8 billion on the goodwill of the cash-generating unit T-Mobile UK in the
first quarter of 2009. T-Mobile UK has been classified as “held for sale” since September 8, 2009. The Group also
recognized impairment losses of EUR 528 million as of December 31, 2009 as a result of the annual impairment test.
For further details on impairment losses, please refer to note (5) to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For further
details on the disclosure of T-Mobile UK, please refer to note (4) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 659 million in the reporting year, mainly as a result

of the full inclusion of OTE for the first time. This increase was partially offset by lower depreciation of technical
equipment and machinery as well as lower impairment of land and buildings. In addition, subsequent to the
classification of T-Mobile UK as “held for sale” we stopped depreciating and amortizing its assets. As a result, EUR 196
million of scheduled depreciation and amortization, which absent the “held for sale classification” would have been
recorded, was not recorded in 2009.

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses decreased by EUR 636 million in 2008 as compared to 2007. The
EUR 93 million decrease in amortization and impairment of intangible asserts is mainly a result of lower amortization
of acquired intangible assets as well as reduced impairment losses. The decrease in depreciation and impairment of
property, plant and equipment of EUR 543 million is mainly a result of lower deprecation of technical equipment as
well as lower impairment of land and buildings.

For more information relating to our intangible assets, see note (5) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table provides a breakdown of impairment losses:

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
(millions of €)
Intangible assets (2,354 ) (340 ) (378 )
of which: goodwill (2,345 ) (289 ) (327 )
of which: U.S. mobile telecommunications licenses - (21 ) 9 )
Property, plant and equipment 217 ) (140 ) (300 )
of which: land and buildings (193 ) (123 ) (238 )
of which: technical equipment and machinery (10 ) (5 ) (54 )
of which: other equipment, operating and office equipment € ) (8 ) “ )
of which: advance payments and construction in progress (11 ) 4 ) 4 )
Total impairment losses 2,571 ) (480 ) (678 )

The impairment losses on land and buildings mainly result from the fair value measurement of land and buildings
intended for sale less costs to sell. The amounts are reported in other operating expenses.

Profit before Income Taxes

In 2009, profit before income taxes decreased by EUR 797 million to EUR 2,655 million, compared with 2008,
mainly due to decreased profit from operations which was partly offset by an increase in share of profit of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method.

In 2008, profit before income taxes increased by EUR 999 million to EUR 3,452 million, compared with 2007,
mainly due to increased profit from operations which was partly offset by an increase in loss from financial activities.
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Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Income taxes 1,782 1,428 1,373 24.8 4.0

In general, the amount of income taxes we recognize is a function of our profit before income taxes and the various
income tax rates applicable to profit before income taxes, and the recognition or non-recognition of deferred income
taxes. However, the income tax expense recorded on our financial statements is not necessarily reflective of the actual
income taxes we paid.

Our combined income tax rate for 2008 amounted to 30.5%, comprising corporate income tax at a rate of 15%, the
solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on corporate income tax, and trade income tax at an average national rate (multiplier of
419%).The combined income tax rate for 2008 and 2007 amounted to 30.5% and 39%, respectively.

Despite the significantly lower profit/loss before income taxes, income tax expense did not decrease year-on-year;
rather, it increased significantly. Income taxes increased to EUR 1,782 million in 2009 compared to EUR 1,428
million in 2008 while our profit before income taxes decreased to EUR 2,655 million in 2009 compared to EUR 3,452
million in 2008. Our effective income tax rate increased to 67% in 2009 compared to 41% in 2008.

This was mainly attributable to higher impairment losses recognized on goodwill assets, in particular at T-Mobile UK.
Since these impairment losses are not to be considered for tax purposes, income tax expense increased relative to
profit before income taxes.

The 2008 effective income tax rate was increased as well because certain expenses recognized in arriving at profit
before income taxes, including the share of losses from associates and joint ventures and impairments of goodwill, are
not tax deductible.

Income taxes in 2007 amounted to EUR 1,373 million relating to a profit before income taxes of EUR 2,453 million.
The main reason for the high effective tax rate of 56% in 2007 was that adjustments were made to deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities in response to the enactment of the corporate tax reform legislation which went into effect
on January 1, 2008. The adjustment increased deferred income taxes in 2007 by EUR 0.7 billion.

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent (net profit (loss))

In 2009, our net profit decreased to EUR 353 million from EUR 1,483 million in 2008, primarily as a result of the
impairment losses recognized on goodwill and the other factors set forth above.

In 2008, our net profit increased to EUR 1,483 million from EUR 571 million in 2007, primarily as a result of the
factors set forth above.
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millions of €
Germany

United States

Europe

Southern and
Eastern
Europe

Systems
Solutions

Group Head-
quarters and
Shared
Services

Total

Reconciliation

Group

85

Year
2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007

2009
2008
2007

2009
2008
2007

2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007
2009
2008
2007
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Net
revenue
23,813
24,754
26,134
15,457
14,942
14,050
9,486
10,798
10,675

9,510
4,497
4,458

6,083
6,368
6,911

253
307
288
64,602
61,666
62,516

64,602
61,666
62,516

Inter—

segment
revenue

1,610
1,646
1,982
14

15

25
548
556
559

175
148
142

2,715
2,975
3,660

2,157
2474
2,855
7,219
7,814
9,223
(7,219 )
(7,814 )
(9,223 )

SEGMENT REVENUE BREAKDOWN
The following table presents total revenues (the sum of external (net) revenues and intersegment revenues), net
revenues and intersegment revenues of our segments for the years indicated.

Total

revenue
25,423
26,400
28,116
15,471
14,957
14,075
10,034
11,354
11,234

9,685
4,645
4,600

8,798
9,343
10,571

2,410

2,781

3,143

71,821
69,480
71,739
(7,219
(7,814
(9,223
64,602
61,666
62,516

150



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
Mobile Communications Revenues and Other Financial Information

The total revenues of our mobile communications operations are mainly comprised of service revenues. Service
revenues are comprised of revenues generated by customers for services, such as voice services, including incoming
and outgoing calls and data services, plus roaming revenues, monthly charges and revenues from visitor roaming.

Revenues from mobile termination fees are primarily generated in our operations outside of the United States.
Reduced mobile termination fees, as determined by the regulatory authorities in several Euopean countries including,
Germany, the United Kingdom, the Czech Republic, Hungary, The Netherlands, Austria, Croatia, the F.Y.R.O
Macedonia, Montenegro, Poland and Slovakia negatively affected total revenues in 2009. These decreased mobile
termination fees will continue to have a negative impact on total revenues in 2010 and beyond. We believe that mobile
termination fees will further decrease in our European markets in the future.

Average Revenue per User

Our mobile communications subsidiaries in Germany, the United States, Europe and Southern and Eastern Europe
operating segments disclose information regarding average revenue per user, or ARPU. We use ARPU to measure the
average monthly service revenues on a per customer basis. We believe that ARPU provides management with useful
information concerning prices, usage and acceptance of our product and service offerings, and as an indicator of our
ability to attract and retain high-value customers. We calculate ARPU as revenues generated by customers for services
(i.e., voice services, including incoming and outgoing calls, and non-voice services, including data services), plus
roaming revenues, monthly charges, and revenues from visitor roaming, divided by the average number of customers
in a month. Revenues from services do not include the following: revenues from terminal equipment sales, revenues
from customer activations, revenues from MVNOs, and other revenues not generated directly by our customers. We
believe the inclusion of visitor revenues improves comparability with our competitors. However, ARPU is neither
uniformly defined nor utilized by all companies in our industry group. Accordingly, such measures may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures and disclosures by other companies. The calculations of ARPU numbers in
this report have been based on actual figures, expressed as a monthly average for each annual period. For a more
detailed breakdown of our customers by geographic area, see “Item 4. Information on the Company — Description of
Business.”
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The following table presents selected financial information concerning our Germany operating segment:

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008 2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Fixed Network revenues 18,736 19,782 21,309 (5.3 ) (7.2 )
Network communications 5,733 6,736 8,305 (14.9 )  (18.9 )
IP/Internet 5,937 5,531 5,144 7.3 7.5
Wholesale services 4,417 4,705 4,906 (6.1 ) (4.1 )
Other services 2,648 2,810 2,954 (5.8 ) 4.9 )
Mobile communications revenues 8,109 8,069 8,293 0.5 2.7 )
Service revenues 7,008 7,045 7,156 0.5 ) (1.6 )
Average customers (in millions) 39.0 38.0 33.8 2.6 12.4
ARPU (in €) 15 15 18 0.0 (16.7 )
Sale of terminal equipment 499 399 457 25.1 12.7 )
Other 602 625 680 (3.7 ) (8.1 )
Intra-segment revenues(1) 1,422 1,451 1,486 2.0 ) 2.4
Total revenues 25,423 26,400 28,116 (3.7 ) (6.1 )
Inter-segment revenues 1,610 1,646 1,982 2.2 ) (17.0 )
Net revenues 23,813 24,754 26,134 (3.8 ) (5.3 )
Cost of sales (13,237 ) (13,482 ) (14,533 ) 1.8 7.2
Selling expenses (6,116 ) (7,254 ) (7,985 ) 15.7 9.2
General and administrative expenses (1,476 ) (1,721 ) (1,782 ) 14.2 34
Other operating income 807 942 1,196 14.3 21.2
Other operating expenses (339 ) (261 ) (321 ) (29.9) 18.7
Profit from operations 5,062 4,624 4,691 9.5 (1.4 )
Capital expenditures (3,158 ) (3,038 ) (3,014 ) (3.9 ) (0.8 )

(1) Intra-segment revenues includes revenues between our fixed network and mobile communication business.

Overview

For reporting purposes, our Germany operating segment separately presents its fixed network and mobile
communications operations. Since November 2007, ImmobilienScout has been fully consolidated. ActiveBilling was
transferred to the Germany operating segment effective January 1, 2008. In addition, since January 1, 2009, fixed
network has been responsible for the small- and medium-sized business customers that were previously included in
our System Solutions operating segment.

In 2009, the Germany operating segment continued to be affected by fierce competition and regulatory measures.
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Fixed Network

Germany’s fixed network revenues primarily consist of revenues from network communications, IP/Internet services,
wholesale services, and other services.

Beginning January 1, 2009, we changed our reporting structure for fixed network revenues in Germany. Previously
the broadband component of Complete Package revenues was reported under IP/Internet and the basic telephony
services component was reported under network communications. Under the new reporting structure, all revenues
from Complete Packages with broadband access are reported under IP/Internet and all revenues from Complete
Packages without broadband access are reported under network communications.

Network Communications

Network communications revenues consist of revenues from network access products and calling services. Revenues
from network access products include monthly access charges and installation fees. Revenues from calling services
include call charges relating to local, regional and long-distance calls, international calls, calls to mobile networks and
calls to dial-up ISPs.

The decrease in the network communications revenues in 2009 and 2008 was due in part to the continuing
fixed-network access line losses, lower usage-related charges, and to a lesser extent, competitive pressure from
fixed-to-mobile substitution. The lower usage-related charges resulted from an increased acceptance of Complete
Packages (telephony and Internet) with a flat-rate component as a consequence of the competitive environment in
Germany.

We expect that the network communications revenues and market share will continue to decrease, primarily as a result
of substitution by cable network operators, increased competition from other fixed-network providers with fully
integrated bundled packages and fixed-to mobile substitution. Technological developments as well as regulatorily
mandated price reductions are expected to further adversely affect network communications revenues.

IP/Internet

IP/Internet revenues mainly consist of retail subscription fees, usage fees, online advertising and business-to-business
services. Subscription fees comprise fixed monthly payments under subscription plans and DSL access revenues for
customers with a broadband access line. Usage fees include all non-subscription products, including per-minute or
volume-based access rate components and products, such as products made available on a pay-per-use basis. Online
advertising and business-to-business services revenues consist of revenues from hosting and security products and
from content management services for business clients operating traffic-intensive portals.

The increase in IP/Internet revenues in 2009 and 2008 primarily resulted from an increase in the number of broadband
lines in operation and the number of customers choosing Complete Packages. The volume driven increase in revenues
from business customers and, to a lesser extent, the growth in revenues from ImmobilienScout, were also contributing
factors . The increase in IP/Internet revenues in 2008 was also due to the first full time consolidation of
ImmobilienScout in October 2007, as full-year revenues were realized for the first time .

We expect that our [P/Internet revenues will continue to increase, primarily as a result of increased acceptance of

Complete Packages and Entertain product portfolio with new features and new rates in response to customer demand,
although the pressure on prices is expected to continue.
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Wholesale services

Wholesale services include revenues from national and international interconnection, access to the unbundled local
loop, (ULL) resale access products and network services, such as carrier-specific transmission paths and networks.

Revenues from wholesale services decreased in 2009 and 2008 primarily due to a decline in revenues from
interconnection minutes caused by lower volumes. This decrease was also due to lower revenues from wholesale
bundled products generated from customer migration to the lower priced product alternative, and losses in collocation
revenues due to a fall in demand. The decrease in revenues from wholesale services was partially offset by an increase
in revenues from unbundled local loop lines. We expect that our wholesale services revenues will continue to decrease
as a result of decreases in interconnection and collocation revenues, regulatorily mandated price reductions, as well as
customer migration to the lower priced wholesale bundled product alternative.
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Other services

Other services revenues mainly consist of revenues from value-added services, terminal equipment and data
communications, as well as revenue from other services. Other services includes publishing services , call-center
services and the sale of products and services through our Telekom Shop outlets, as well as services for energy-based
products used to operate telecommunications systems reliably.

The decrease in revenues from other services in 2009 was mainly due to a decline in terminal equipment sales and
data communication . Terminal equipment sales were down as a result of customer acceptance of service packages
that include software updates, remote maintenance and installation support, and are rented for a monthly fee. In 2008,
the decrease in revenues for value-added services resulted from lower demand for services such as public payphones,
T-Vote Call and 0180 calls.

Mobile Communications

The mobile communications business offers mobile voice and data services to consumer and retail customers in
Germany. Terminal equipment and other hardware are sold in connection with the services offered. In addition,
T-Mobile services are sold to resellers and third-party providers. The figures for the mobile communications
operations include T-Mobile Deutschland and also Deutsche Funkturm GmbH. DFMG is a management company for
radio towers and sites. The company leases roof tops and properties and is responsible for construction, operating and
maintenance of radio towers. The company is leasing spare capacity on the radio towers to third parties.

Total revenues increased by EUR 40 million in 2009, or 0.5%, compared to 2008. The increase in total revenues was
attributable to an increase in terminal equipment and other revenues, which was partially offset by a decline in service
revenue. Total revenues declined by EUR 224 million in 2008, or 2.7%, compared to 2007. This decline was primarily
attributable to a decrease in service revenues and in terminal equipment revenues.

Service revenues decreased by EUR 37 million, or 0.5%, to EUR 7,008 million in 2009, compared to

EUR 7,045 million in 2008. A more restrictive regulatory environment, in particular lower termination charges from
April 1, 2009 and new roaming regulation had a negative impact on revenues as well as further intense competition.
This decrease was mainly offset by continued growth in revenues from non-voice services, in particular, due to the
increased use of data services. Intelligent smartphones and attractive high-value double-play rate plans (combining
voice and data components) boosted mobile Internet use and increased data revenues. Service revenues decreased by
EUR 111 million, or 1.6%, to EUR 7,045 million in 2008, compared to EUR 7,156 million in 2007. This decrease was
primarily attributable to lower voice revenues primarily as a result of lower prices due to competitive pressures and
regulation of mobile termination fees. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in non-voice revenues.

ARPU remained stable in 2009 despite the decrease in mobile termination rates. This development was caused by an
increase in the number of contract customers in the total customer base, ARPU decreased to EUR 15 in 2008,
compared to EUR 18 in 2007. This decline was mainly driven by lower tariffs and lower mobile termination fees as a
result of competitive and regulatory pressures. Furthermore, the change in T-Mobile Deutschland’s prepay churn
policy in 2007 resulted in a higher average customer base.

Other revenues mainly consist of revenues from national roaming, activation revenues, disconnection fees and tower
rental. National roaming revenues accounted for 32% of total other revenues in 2009 and 2008, compared to 38% in
2007. National roaming revenues reflect revenues from the agreement with O2, which are generated by O2 traffic
being routed through T-Mobile Deutschland’s network.

In 2009, other revenues decreased by EUR 23 million to EUR 602 million, compared to EUR 625 million in 2008 and
EUR 680 million in 2007. The decrease in 2009 was primarily a result of lower revenues from tower rental. The
decrease in 2008 was primarily due to lower MVNO revenues which was the result of lower voice usage of 02
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customers being routed through T-Mobile Deutschland’s network. The roaming agreement with O2 expired at the end
of 2009. In 20009, this agreement contributed EUR 190 million to Other revenues.

Revenues from sales of terminal equipment increased by EUR 100 million, to EUR 499 million in 2009, compared to
EUR 399 million in 2008, mainly due to an increase in the number of terminal equipment devices sold, like the
iPhone. Revenues from sales of terminal equipment decreased by EUR 58 million, to EUR 399 million in 2008,
compared to EUR 457 million in 2007, mainly due to the lower number of terminal equipment devices sold.

Intersegment Revenues

Intersegment revenues, which include revenues from our Group’s other operating segments, decreased in 2009 and
2008 primarily due to the reduced intersegment revenues from System Solutions as a result of lower quantities of
services purchased. This decrease was partly offset by increased revenues from Europe operating segment , a slight
increase at Group Headquarters and Shared Service, as well as the as a result of increased demand for Germany’s fixed
network services.
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Cost of sales decreased in 2009 mainly due to reduced personnel costs as a result of staff reductions and, in part, due
to the transfer of certain departments to Group Headquarters and Shared Services. Other contributing factors include
reduced costs for rental and utility as a result of more efficient use of floor space in 2009. Cost of sales also decreased
due to reduced interconnection costs resulting from lower demand and price reductions for interconnection services.
This decrease was partly offset by an increase in revenue related costs such as the costs of goods purchased for resale.

Cost of sales in 2008 decreased primarily due to lower personnel costs resulting from a decrease in restructuring costs
and lower revenue related costs such as goods purchased for resale, interconnection and roaming fees. Cost of sales
also decreased due to a decline in depreciation and amortization costs and the divestiture of T-Online France and
T-Online Spain in 2007.

Selling expenses decreased in 2009 primarily due to lower commission expenses. A decline in allowances for bad
debts resulting from the sale of receivables in the third quarter of 2009, lower personnel expenses, decreased billing
expenses, and lower costs due to the sale of CAP Customer Advantage Program GmbH as of January 30, 2009 were
also contributing factors.

The decrease in selling expenses in 2008 was primarily due to a decrease in costs resulting from the divestiture of
T-Online France and T-Online Spain in 2007. These decreases were offset, in part, by an increase in allowances for
bad debts, increases in costs associated with the initial consolidation of the activities of ImmobilienScout, as well as a
slight increase in fixed network marketing costs and increased mobile communication selling expenses.

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2009 primarily as a result of lower personnel costs, due to staff
reductions, and, in part, to the transfer of certain departments to Group Headquarters and Shared Services. In
addition, further cost reductions in various areas contributed to the decrease in general and administrative expenses.
This decrease was partly offset by a slight increase in IT costs as well increased depreciation costs.

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2008 due to a decline in support and IT costs for services primarily
provided from the Systems Solutions operating segment and reduced personnel costs, due, in part, to the transfer of
certain departments to Group Headquarters and Shared Services. These decreases were partially offset by increased
costs related to the reassignment of ActiveBilling to the Germany operating segment in 2008 and the initial
consolidation of ImmobilienScout in October 2007.

Other operating income decreased in 2009 primarily due to a decrease in gain on disposal of an intangible asset and
lower quantities of services delivered to the Systems Solutions operating segment. This decrease was partly offset by a
gain resulting from the free replacement of old mobile communication technology as well as an increase due to the
sale of equity interest in CAP Customer Advantage Program GmbH, as of January 30, 2009.

Other operating income decreased in 2008 primarily due to a gain on disposal of assets in 2008. The gains on the sale
of T-Online Spain and T-Online France in 2007 were larger than the gain realized on the sale of a mobile
communication asset in 2008.

Other operating expenses increased in 2009 as a result of the discount and service liability in connection with the sale
of receivables in the third quarter of 2009. Other operating expenses declined in 2008 due to lower losses on disposal

of assets.

Profit from operations increased in 2009 as a result of the effects described above. Profit from operations decreased in

2008 as a result of the effects described above.

157



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Capital expenditures

An increase in capital expenditures in 2009 is attributable to expenditures relating to the fixed network, stemming
mainly from investments in the IP transport platform, broadband roll-out, and IT systems. Capital expenditures in
mobile communications mainly consist of network expansions with a focus on UMTS sites, capacity expansion and
expenditures in IT products. We intend to focus our investment priorities in Germany on growth and innovation,
particularly further integrated and value-enhanced broadband expansion in fixed-network and mobile communications
as well as quality and service initiatives.

90

158



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents

United States
The following table presents selected financial information concerning the United States operating segment:

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008 2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Total revenues 15,471 14,957 14,075 34 6.3
Cost of sales (8,051 ) (7,582 ) (7,109 ) (6.2 ) (6.7 )
Selling expenses (4,654 ) 4,513 ) 4,381 ) (3.1 ) 3.0 )
General and administrative
expenses (512 ) (567 ) (507 ) 9.7 (11.8 )
Other operating income 14 19 11 (26.3 ) 72.7
Other operating expenses 35 ) (15 ) (72 ) n.a. 79.2
Profit from operations 2,233 2,299 2,017 2.9 ) 14.0
Capital expenditures (2,666 ) (2,540 ) (1,958 ) (5.0 ) (29.7 )
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Total revenues 15,471 14,957 14,075 34 6.3
Service revenues 13,337 12,813 12,017 4.1 6.6
Equipment sales 1,718 1,550 1,478 10.8 4.9
Other 416 594 580 (30.0 ) 24
Average customers (in millions) 33.3 31.2 26.8 6.7 16.4
ARPU (in €) 33 34 37 2.9 ) (8.1 )

Total Revenues

Due to a positive currency translation effect in 2009, total revenues at T-Mobile USA grew year-on-year by EUR 514
million, or 3.4 % compared to 2008. In U.S. dollars, the operating segment total revenues decreased due primarily to
lower service revenues.

In 2008, total revenues at T-Mobile USA increased by EUR 882 million, or 6.3 % compared to 2007, primarily due to
an increase in the average customer base. The consolidation of SunCom following its acquisition in February 2008
contributed EUR 462 million in consolidated revenues in 2008. In local currency, 2008 total revenues increased
significantly more.

Service Revenues

Service revenues increased in 2009 by EUR 524 million, or 4.1 % from 2008, due to a positive currency translation
effect. In U.S. dollars, service revenues decreased due primarily to a decrease in T-Mobile USA branded customers
(wireless customers excluding MVNO and machine-to-machine customers). Additionally, variable voice revenues
declined due to lower roaming revenues and an increase in the proportion of customers on unlimited rate plans. These
decreases were partially offset by strong growth in revenues from non-voice services, as customers adopt 3G
converged devices and utilize web access plans.
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In 2008, service revenues increased by EUR 796 million, or 6.6 % from 2007, mainly as a result of an increase in the
average customer base. Revenues from non-voice services increased at a greater rate than the increase in the average
customer base in 2008 compared to 2007, due to increased usage of messaging and data services.
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The increase in equipment sales revenues in 2009 by EUR 168 million, or 10.8 % from 2008, was driven in part by
currency translation impacts and an increased sales volume of more expensive 3G devices in 2009, compared to 2008.

In 2008, equipment sales increased by EUR 72 million, or 4.9% from 2007, driven by an increased volume of
equipment sales as a result of increased gross customer additions and higher volumes of handset upgrade sales in
2008, compared to 2007.

Other Revenues

Other revenues decreased year-on-year by EUR 178 million, or 30.0 % due to lower customer activation revenues
compared to 2008 and completing the transition of certain AT&T customers to the AT&T network in 2009, related to
a network sharing agreement implemented in the first quarter of 2005.

Other revenues were EUR 594 million in 2008, a slight increase compared to other revenues of EUR 580 million in
2007.

Operating Expenses and Profit from Operations

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of goods sold from the sale of equipment as well as costs related to operating the
network, such as customer roaming, cell site and line leases, and depreciation of network assets.

In 2009, cost of sales increased by EUR 469 million, or 6.2 %, compared to 2008. Exchange rate effects increased
cost of sales in 2009. In local currency, the increase in cost of sales in 2009 related primarily to increased cost of
goods sold associated with higher volumes of more expensive 3G handset sales. Additionally, network costs
increased due to the upgrade of the 2G network and expansion of the 3G network, partially offset by lower roaming
costs.

In 2008, cost of sales increased by EUR 473 million, or 6.7 %, compared to 2007. This increase was partially offset by
exchange rate movements between the U.S. dollar and the euro. The increase in cost of sales between 2007 and 2008
was considerably higher in local currency. Most of this increase was due to increased network costs associated with a
larger customer base. A higher volume of handset sales, driven by increased subscriber gross additions, increased the
cost of goods sold within cost of sales year on year.

Selling Expenses
Selling expenses include all expenses relating to sales, including, among other things, commissions and other
compensation paid to retail sales employees and third-party dealers, call center and customer care expenses, marketing

costs and billing services.

In 2009, selling expenses increased by EUR 141 million compared to the prior year due to the impact of exchange rate
movements between the U.S. dollar and the euro. In local currency, selling expenses decreased due primarily to lower
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commission costs related to a decrease in T-Mobile USA branded customer additions. This decrease was offset
partially by an increase in personnel costs as a result of retail distribution growth

In 2008, selling expenses increased by EUR 132 million, or 3.0 % compared to 2007. The main reasons for this

increase was growth in gross customer additions compared to the prior year and an increase in selling-related
personnel costs. This increase was partially offset by exchange rate movements between the U.S dollar and the euro.
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General and administrative expenses include all costs allocated to core administrative functions that are not directly
attributable to the cost of sales or selling activities, including, among other items, costs relating to support functions
such as finance, human resources, general management, communications, strategy and legal.

In 2009, the decrease in general and administrative expenses by EUR 55 million, or 9.7 % compared to 2008, was due
primarily to lower variable compensation expense.

In 2008, general and administrative expenses increased by EUR 60 million, or 11.8 % compared to 2007. This
increase is primarily due to an increase in the number of employees.

Other Operating Income and Expenses
Other operating income was higher in 2008 than both 2009 and 2007 due to insurance proceeds received in 2008.

In 2009, other operating expenses increased due to higher losses on the disposition of non-current assets, in particular
the disposal of obsolete technical equipment and machinery. The decrease in 2008 as compared with 2007 relates to
higher disposition losses in 2007.

Profit from operations decreased in 2009 by 2.9 % due to the factors described above.

In 2010, T-Mobile USA will focus on attracting and retaining a loyal customer base. Results are expected to be
positively impacted primarily by growth in non-voice services and a continued focus on cost saving initiatives, offset
by market driven declines in voice revenues per customer. Revenue and profit are expected to be broadly stable in
2010 in an increasingly mature U.S. market. However, exchange rate changes, regulatory changes, and competitive
pressures may significantly affect revenues and profits in euros.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures increased year-on-year to EUR 2.7 billion from EUR 2.5 billion. In U.S. dollars, cash capex
decreased slightly year-on-year driven by decreases in information technology and spectrum

purchases. Network-related capex remained consistent year-on-year due to the continued focus on the improvement
of network quality and expansion of network coverage as well as the roll-out of the 3G (UMTS/HSPA) network. By
the end of 2009, T-Mobile USA’s 3G network covered over 205 million people, almost doubling the coverage of
T-Mobile USA’s 3G network in 2008.
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Total Revenues

Total revenues include both net revenues from external customers and revenues from other entities within the
Deutsche Telekom Group. Total revenues are mainly comprised of service revenues. Service revenues are comprised
of revenues generated by customers for services, such as voice services, including incoming and outgoing calls and
non-voice services, such as messaging SMS and data services, as well as roaming revenues, monthly charges and
revenues from visitor roaming.

Reduced mobile termination fees, as determined by the regulatory authorities in the United Kingdom, The
Netherlands, the Czech Republic, Austria and Poland negatively affected total revenues in 2009. These decreased
mobile termination fees will continue to have a negative impact on total revenues in 2010 and beyond. We believe that
mobile termination fees will further decrease in our European markets in the future. In response, our Europe operating
segment intends to stimulate increased demand for voice usage and data products and services in order to counter
expected industry price decreases.

Our markets in the Europe operating segment are relatively mature and saturated with a very high rate of mobile
telephone penetration. As a result, we expect that the growth in the number of our customers in these markets will be
significantly lower than in past years, and that the focus of competition will continue to shift from customer
acquisition to customer retention.

The following table presents selected financial information for our Europe operating segment:
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)

Revenues

United Kingdom(1) 3,390 4,051 4,812 (16.3 ) (15.8 )
Poland(1) 1,757 2,260 1,965 (22.3 15.0

The Netherlands(1)(2) 1,807 1,806 1,318 0.1 37.0
Czech Republic(1)(3) 1,191 1,329 1,171 (10.4 13.5
Austria(1)(4) 1,038 1,085 1,182 4.3 (8.2 )
Other(5) 909 896 858 1.5 4.4
Reconciliation(6) (58 (73 ) (72 ) 20.5 (1.4 )
Total revenues 10,034 11,354 11,234 (11.6 1.1

Cost of sales (6,684 (7,984 ) (8,105 ) 16.3 1.5

Selling expenses (2,223 2,479 ) (2,489 ) 10.3 0.4

General and administrative expenses (359 (421 ) (416 ) 14.7 (1.2 )
Operating income 270 241 272 12.0 (114 )
Other operating expenses (1,943 (215 ) (410 ) na. 47.6

Profit (loss) from operations (905 496 86 n.a. n.a.
Capital expenditures (879 (1,152 ) (1,148 ) 23.7 0.3 )

n.a.—not applicable
(1) These amounts relate to each subsidiary’s respective, separate financial statements (single-entity financial
statements adjusted for uniform group accounting policies and reporting currency), without taking into
consideration consolidation effects at the operating segment level (which effects are included under “Reconciliation’
in the table) or at the Deutsche Telekom Group level.
(2)Includes Orange Nederland fully consolidated as of October 1, 2007 and Online Netherlands as of June 1, 2008.

)
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(3)Includes fixed line retail business from Czeske Radiokomunikace consolidated as of December 2009.

(4)Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (excluding goodwill) as shown in the cash flow
statement.

(5)Other includes mainly International Carrier Sales and Solutions (ICSS) and to a lesser extent certain support
functions provided to our other mobile communications subsidiaries. As a result of the new structure of our
operating segments from July 1, 2009, ICSS became part of the Europe operating segment. Prior-year figures have
been adjusted accordingly. ICSS is responsible for our international wholesale business. It provides
telecommunications and other companies with worldwide direct access to our international telecommunications
network. In each of the last three years, almost 60% of ICSS revenues were generated with Deutsche Telekom
subsidiary companies and were thus eliminated in the consolidation on a Deutsche Telekom group level.

(6)Reconciliation line includes intra-segment revenues at the Europe operating segment level.
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United Kingdom
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Service revenues(1) 3,080 3,678 4,350 (16.3 ) (154 )
Sales of terminal equipment 142 188 225 (24.5 ) (164 )
Other 168 185 237 9.2 ) (219 )
Total revenues 3,390 4,051 4,812 (16.3 ) (15.8 )
Average customers (in millions)(2) 12.2 11.9 11.8 2.5 0.8
ARPU (in €)(2) 21 26 31 (19.2 ) (16.1 )

(1)Does not include revenues earned from Virgin Mobile customers. These revenues are not included in the service
revenues component of the ARPU calculation.

(2)Does not include Virgin Mobile customers in the average number of customers component of the ARPU
calculation.

Total revenues in the United Kingdom decreased by EUR 661 million, or 16.3%, to EUR 3,390 million in 2009, from
EUR 4,051 million in 2008. The decrease in revenues in the United Kingdom was predominantly a result of the
significant negative currency translation effect resulting from the development of the pound sterling to the euro. In
local currency, service revenues and terminal equipment revenues decreased, while other revenues increased slightly.
Total revenues in the United Kingdom decreased by EUR 761 million, or 15.8%, to EUR 4,051 million in 2008, from
EUR 4,812 million in 2007. This decrease was predominantly due to the significant negative currency translation
effect from the development of the pound sterling to the euro. In local currency, service revenues, terminal equipment
revenues and other revenues decreased slightly.

Service revenues declined by EUR 598 million, or 16.3%, to EUR 3,080 million in 2009, compared to

EUR 3,678 million in 2008. Aside from the significant negative currency translation effect, the decrease in service
revenues was attributable to lower revenues from voice services, which was caused by decreasing prices as a result of
regulatory decisions and competitive pressure. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in revenues from
non-voice services caused by an increased usage of these services. Service revenues declined by EUR 672 million, or
15.4%, to EUR 3,678 million in 2008, compared to EUR 4,350 million in 2007. Aside from the significant negative
currency translation effect, the decrease in service revenues was attributable to lower voice revenues primarily as a
result of price reductions due to competitive pressures. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in non-voice
revenues with a growing number of customers using non-voice services and a growing non-voice usage per
subscriber.

ARPU in the United Kingdom declined to EUR 21 in 2009 compared to EUR 26 in 2008, predominantly as a result of
the unfavorable currency translation effect resulting from the development of the pound sterling to the euro.
Furthermore declining prices as a result of regulatory decisions and competitive pressures impacted the ARPU. A
higher proportion of contract customers in the total average customer base partially offset the overall decline. ARPU
in the United Kingdom declined to EUR 26 in 2008, compared to EUR 31 in 2007, primarily as a result of the
significant negative currency translation effect from the development of the pound sterling to the euro. In addition, the
decrease was attributable to a slight decrease in revenues from voice services, partially offset by an increase in the
usage of non-voice services.

Revenues from sales of terminal equipment decreased in 2009 compared with 2008. In addition to the negative

currency translation effect, this decline was mainly influenced by focusing on SIM card-only sales. In 2008, revenues
from sales of terminal equipment decreased compared with 2007 primarily due to negative currency translation
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effects.

Other revenues decreased in 2009 compared with 2008 mainly as a result of the negative currency translation effect
resulting from the development of the pound sterling to the euro. Other revenues decreased by EUR 52 million, to
EUR 185 million in 2008, compared to EUR 237 million in 2007, mainly due to the negative currency translation
effects.
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Poland
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Service revenues 1,696 2,196 1,889 (22.8 ) 16.3
Sales of terminal equipment 42 37 48 13.5 (22.9 )
Other 19 27 28 (29.6 ) 3.6 )
Total revenues 1,757 2,260 1,965 (22.3 ) 15.0
Average customers (in millions) 13.4 13.0 12.6 3.1 3.2
ARPU (in €) 11 14 12 (21.4 ) 16.7

Total revenues in Poland decreased by EUR 503 million, or 22.3%, to EUR 1,757 million in 2009, compared to EUR
2,260 million in 2008, mainly as a result of lower service revenues, primarily driven by negative currency translation
effect between the Polish zloty and the euro. In local currency, revenues decreased as well. Total revenues in Poland
increased by EUR 295 million, or 15.0%, to EUR 2,260 million in 2008, compared to EUR 1,965 million in 2007. The
development between the Polish zloty and the euro had a positive currency translation effect. In local currency,
revenues also increased, primarily due to an increase of service revenues.

Service revenues decreased by EUR 500 million to EUR 1,696 million in 2009 compared to 2008 mainly as a result of
the negative translation effect. In addition, the decline resulted from regulatory decisions lowering termination rates.
In local currency, service revenues also decreased. Service revenues increased by EUR 307 million to EUR

2,196 million in 2008, compared to 2007 as a result of a larger average customer base and a higher average usage per
customer as well as a higher proportion of contract customers in the overall average customer base. In local currency,
service revenues also increased.

ARPU decreased to EUR 11 in 2009 from EUR 14 in 2008, primarily as a result of a negative currency translation
effect and lower price per minute, primarily due to termination rates cut. Both effects were partially offset by an
increase in usage per customer as well as an increase of contract customers in the overall average customer base.
ARPU increased to EUR 14 in 2008 from EUR 12 in 2007. ARPU was positively affected by a higher share of
contract customers, as well as a positive currency translation effect.

Revenues from sales of terminal equipment increased in 2009 compared to 2008 due to the introduction of wholesale
sales of terminal equipment in 2009. In local currency, revenues from sales of terminal equipment also increased.
Revenues from sales of terminal equipment decreased by EUR 11 million in 2008, compared to 2007 due to a
decrease in number of mobile devices sold. In local currency, revenues from sales of terminal equipment also
decreased.

The Netherlands
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)

Service revenues 1,512 1,558 1,223 3.0 ) 274
Sales of terminal equipment 106 87 53 21.8 64.2
Other 189 161 42 17.4 n.a.
Total revenues 1,807 1,806 1,318 0.1 37.0
Average customers (in millions) 5.3 53 3.2 0.0 65.6
ARPU (in €) 24 24 32 0.0 25.0 )
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In 2009, total revenues remained stable compared with 2008. Increases in terminal equipment revenues and other
revenues offset the decline in service revenues. Total revenues at T-Mobile Netherlands increased by EUR 488
million, or 37.0%, to EUR 1,806 million in 2008, compared to EUR 1,318 million in 2007. The full-year consolidation
of Orange Nederland excluding internal revenues between Orange Nederland and T-Mobile Netherlands contributed
net EUR 397 million to this increase in revenues. The full-year consolidation of Online Netherlands contributed EUR
23 million to this increase in revenues.

Service revenues decreased by EUR 46 million, to EUR 1,512 million in 2009 compared to EUR 1,558 million in
2008. This decrease was primarily a result of price reductions due to competitive pressures and regulatory mandated
roaming and termination price cuts. Service revenues increased by EUR 335 million, to EUR 1,558 million in 2008,
compared to EUR 1,223 million in 2007. The full-year consolidation of Orange Nederland contributed EUR

374 million to this increase. This effect was partially offset by a lower usage by contract customers and a lower share
of contract customers in the overall customer base.

ARPU remained stable in 2009 compared with 2008. Increased revenues from non-voice services and an increased
share of contract customers in the overall customer base compensated for the negative effect resulting from price
reductions. ARPU decreased by EUR 8 to EUR 24 in 2008, compared with EUR 32 in 2007. The full-year
consolidation of Orange Nederland had a negative impact on T-Mobile Netherlands’ ARPU development primarily due
to the lower ARPU of Orange customers. Another factor in the decline was a decrease in contract ARPU at T-Mobile
Netherlands.

The increase in sales of terminal equipment in 2009 compared with 2008 and in 2008 compared with 2007 was mainly
due to an increased volume and the sale of higher value terminal equipment.

Other revenues mainly consist of revenues from Online Netherlands and MVNOs. In 2009, other revenues increased
mainly as a result of an increase in Online Netherlands broadband revenues due to the first time full-year
consolidation of Online Netherlands. Overall, MVNO revenues slightly decreased mainly as a result of the termination
of our contract with Lycamobile. In 2009, T-Mobile Netherlands entered into an agreement with Tele2 Netherlands
Holding N.V., which is a MVNO. As a result, Tele2 migrated its customers’ traffic from KPN Mobile to the T-Mobile
Netherlands network. Although this contract with Tele2 positively contributed to the development of other revenues
from MVNOs, it only partially offset the negative effect of the termination of the contract with Lycamobile. Other
revenues increased by EUR 119 million, to EUR 161 million in 2008, compared to EUR 42 million in 2007, primarily
due to an increase in MVNO revenues as a result of calls from Lycamobile customers being routed through the
T-Mobile Netherlands network. The first-time inclusion of revenues from Online Netherlands’ customers further
contributed to the increase in 2008.

Czech Republic
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Service revenues 1,142 1,283 1,116 (11.0 ) 15.0
Sales of terminal equipment 39 40 49 (2.5 ) (184 )
Other 10 6 6 66.7 0.0
Total revenues 1,191 1,329 1,171 (10.4 ) 13.5
Average customers (in millions) 5.4 53 52 1.9 1.9
ARPU (in €) 18 20 18 (10.0 ) 11.1
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Total revenues in the Czech Republic decreased by EUR 138 million, or 10.4%, to EUR 1,1,91 million from

EUR 1,329 million in 2008 primarily as a result of a decrease in service revenues. The development of the Czech
koruna in relation to the euro had a major negative impact on our revenues in 2009 compared with 2008. Total
revenues in the Czech Republic increased by EUR 158 million, or 13.5%, to EUR 1,329 million in 2008, compared to
EUR 1,171 million in 2007. The increase in total revenues was mainly related to a positive currency translation effect
from the development of the Czech koruna and the euro and increased service revenues, as a result of having a larger
average customer base. In local currency, total revenues also increased.
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Service revenues decreased by EUR 141 million in 2009, to EUR 1,142 million. The decrease in service revenues was
mainly a result of a negative currency translation effect of the Czech koruna in relation to the euro. In addition,
negative price effects from competition and regulation contributed to the decline in service revenues. Service revenues
increased by EUR 167 million in 2008, to EUR 1,283 million. This increase was mainly a result of a larger average
customer base and a higher share of contract customers in the overall average customer base.

ARPU in the Czech Republic decreased to EUR 18 in 2009, compared to EUR 20 in 2008. Negative currency
translation effects as well as negative price effects were only partly offset by an increased voice usage per customer
and a higher proportion of contract customers in the total average customer base. ARPU in the Czech Republic
increased to EUR 20 in 2008, compared to EUR 18 in 2007. Negative effects from regulation of roaming fees imposed
by the European Commission were offset by favorable foreign exchange rate effects between the Czech koruna and
the euro, and increased voice usage per customer as a result of a higher proportion of contract customers in the total
average customer base.

The decline in revenues from sales of terminal equipment in 2009 was mainly driven by the unfavorable foreign
exchange rate effects between the Czech koruna and the euro. Revenues from sales of terminal equipment decreased
by EUR 9 million, to EUR 40 million in 2008, compared to EUR 49 million in 2007, corresponding with a lower
volume of handsets sold.

In December 2009, T-Mobile Czech Republic acquired the fixed line retail business from Czeske Radiokomunikace
and has therefore fully consolidated this fixed line retail business as of December 1, 2009. The acquisition lead to an
increase in other revenues compared with 2008.

Austria
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Service revenues 989 1,038 1,111 4.7 ) (6.6 )
Sales of terminal equipment 21 22 26 4.5 ) (154 )
Other 28 25 45 12.0 44.4 )
Total revenues 1,038 1,085 1,182 4.3 ) (8.2 )
Average customers (in millions) 34 33 3.2 3.0 3.1
ARPU (in €) 24 26 29 (7.7 ) (10.3 )

Total revenues in Austria decreased by EUR 47 million in 2009, or 4.3%, to EUR 1,038 million from

EUR 1,085 million in 2008. This decline was a result of a decline in service revenues. Total revenues in Austria
decreased by EUR 97 million in 2008, or 8.2%, to EUR 1,085 million, from EUR 1,182 million in 2007. This decrease
was mainly the result of lower service revenues and other revenues.

Service revenues decreased by EUR 49 million in 2009, to EUR 989 million. This decrease was mainly due to the
regulatory reduction of roaming fees, further reductions of mobile termination rates and lower tariffs as a result of
competitive pressure in the Austrian market. Service revenues decreased by EUR 73 million in 2008, to

EUR 1,038 million. This decrease was mainly due to the regulatory reduction of roaming fees, further reductions of
mobile termination rates and lower tariffs as a result of aggressive competitive pressures in the Austrian market.

ARPU in Austria decreased to EUR 24 in 2009, compared to EUR 26 in 2008. This decrease was due to regulatory
reductions of roaming fees, further reductions of mobile termination rates and lower tariffs as a result of competitive
pressure in the Austrian market. These effects could not be offset by increased usage by our customers or the slightly
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higher proportion of contract customers in the total average customer base in 2009. ARPU in Austria decreased to
EUR 26 in 2008, compared to EUR 29 in 2007. This decrease was due to lower tariffs as a result of competitive
pressures, which could not be offset by the higher usage or higher proportion of contract customers in the total
average customer base in 2008.
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Revenues from sales of terminal equipment slightly decreased in 2009 compared with 2008. Revenues from sales of
terminal equipment decreased in 2008, primarily due to lower gross customers additions in 2008 compared with 2007,
which were particularly influenced by the introduction in 2007 of the Fairplay (flat rate) portfolio.

Other revenues increased in 2009 primarily due to higher revenues from net activation, disconnection and alteration
fees. Other revenues decreased in 2008 compared with 2007 primarily as a result of the lack of fixed-line revenues
generated by fixed-line business due to the sale of the tele.ring fixed-line network in 2007.

Operating Expenses and Profit from Operations

In 2009, the cost of sales decreased compared with 2008 as a result of declines in all mobile network operators in the
Europe operating segment. Almost one half of the decline in cost of sales was attributable to currency translation
effects. The development of the pound sterling, the Polish zloty and the Czech koruna in relation to the euro positively
influenced the cost of sales. On a local currency basis, the cost of sales declined as well, which was mainly driven by
T-Mobile Netherlands and PTC, and to a lesser extent by T-Mobile Austria, T-Mobile UK and T-Mobile Czech
Republic. In T-Mobile Netherlands, the main driver for the decline in cost of sales was lower depreciation as well as
lower interconnection costs, which were related to lower service revenues. In Poland, the decline in interconnection
costs was the main driver for the decline in cost of sales. Lower interconnection costs related to the decline in service
revenues also supported the year on year cost of sales reduction in the other affiliates. Furthermore, in the UK lower
personnel costs as a result of a lower year on year headcount in technology supported the decline in cost of sales in
2009 compared with 2008.

The slight decline in cost of sales in 2008 compared with 2007 was mainly attributable to favorable overall currency
translation effects, which were attributable to the development of the pound sterling in relation to the euro.
Unfavorable developments of the Polish zloty and the Czech koruna in relation to the euro partly offset the effect
resulting from the pound sterling development. On a local currency basis, the cost of sales of the Europe operating
segment slightly increased. This increase was mainly attributable to T-Mobile Netherlands, where cost of sales
increased mainly due to the full-year consolidation of Orange Nederlands, including Online Netherlands, in 2008
compared to three months in 2007. The full-year consolidation of Orange Nederland contributed EUR 338 million to
cost of sales in 2008. Lower cost of sales at T-Mobile Austria, T-Mobile UK and PTC partly offset the increase in cost
of sales in T-Mobile Netherlands. In the United Kingdom the declining revenues were accompanied by lower revenue
related costs, in particular, interconnection and roaming fees. In addition, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment was lower in the United Kingdom, Austria and Poland compared with 2007.

In 2009, overall selling expenses decreased compared to 2008. This decline was mainly attributable to favorable
effects resulting from the development of the pound sterling, the Polish zloty and the Czech koruna in relation to the
euro. On a local currency basis, the year on year reduction in selling expenses was partially caused by T-Mobile UK
due to lower commissions paid to dealers as well as lower call center and customer care costs as a result of a lower
headcount. T-Mobile Czech Republic recorded a year on year reduction in selling expenses mainly due to a decrease
in the valuation allowances for accounts receivables. T-Mobile Austria achieved reductions in selling expenses mainly
by reducing call center and customer care costs as well as indirect selling expenses. At T-Mobile Netherlands, the
main driver for the decline was lower marketing and billing costs. In Poland, selling expenses increased year on year
in local currency mainly due to a change in dealer contracts which resulted in prepay voucher commissions being
recorded as cost in 2009 whereas they were shown as reductions in revenue in 2008.

In 2008, overall selling expenses remained stable compared to 2007. Lower selling expenses at T-Mobile UK were
offset by higher selling expenses at T-Mobile Netherlands and PTC. In the United Kingdom, the lower selling

expenses were the result of currency translation effects of the pound sterling in relation to the euro. In local currency,
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T-Mobile UK’s selling expenses increased slightly. The higher selling expenses at T-Mobile Netherlands were due to
the full-year consolidation of Orange Nederland, compared with three months in 2007. The full-year consolidation of
Orange Nederland, including Online Netherlands, contributed EUR 62 million to this increase. In addition, higher
commissions for indirect sales channels contributed to the increase. At PTC, selling expenses increased as a result of
higher personnel expenses due to an increase in headcount and as a result of currency translation effects resulting from
the development of the Polish zloty in relation to the euro.
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In 2009, general and administrative expenses decreased compared to 2008. This decline was mainly attributable to
favorable currency translation effects resulting from the development of the pound sterling, the Polish zloty and to a
lower extent to the Czech koruna in relation to the euro. On a local currency basis, slight increases in general and
administrative expenses at T-Mobile UK were compensated by declining general and administrative expenses at PTC.

In 2008, general and administrative expenses slightly increased compared to 2007. Cost efficiencies at PTC and
T-Mobile Austria were offset largely by higher costs from T-Mobile Netherlands. In The Netherlands, the increase in
general and administrative expenses was due to the full-year consolidation of Orange Nederland compared with three
months in 2007. The full-year consolidation of Orange Nederland, including Online Netherlands, contributed EUR 31
million to this increase.

Other operating income consists of a number of items, such as income from the disposal of non-current assets, cost
reimbursements from Group Headquarters and Shared Services, external lease income and insurance compensation.
Other operating income increased in 2009 compared with 2008. The increase was mainly a result of a slightly higher
income from third parties at T-Mobile Austria in 2009 compared with 2008.

In 2008, other operating income decreased mainly due to lower other operating income at T-Mobile Austria as a result
of lower income from the disposal of non-current assets.

In 2009, other operating expenses increased mainly due to the goodwill impairment loss of EUR 1.8 billion
recognized on goodwill of the cash generating unit T-Mobile UK in the first quarter of 2009, mainly as a consequence
of the significant economic slowdown, fierce competition, and regulatory decisions in the United Kingdom.
Furthermore, an impairment on goodwill at T-Mobile Austria of EUR 47 million was recognized in 2009 as a result of
an increased discount rate. In 2008 we recorded a goodwill impairment of EUR 128 million relating to T-Mobile
Austria.

Other operating expenses decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 mainly due to the recognition of a goodwill
impairment of EUR 128 million relating to T-Mobile Austria in fiscal year 2008, while 2007 included a goodwill
reduction of EUR 327 million at T-Mobile Netherlands.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures in the operating segment Europe decreased by EUR 0.3 billion to EUR 0.9 billion in 2009
compared to 2008. Capital expenditures decreased in Poland, the United Kingdom, Austria and in The Netherlands,
which offset higher year on year capital expenditures in the Czech Republic

In 2008 capital expenditure slightly increased by EUR 4 million to EUR 1.2 billion compared to 2007 as the result of
increased capital expenditures in Poland and in The Netherlands, which were almost wholly offset by lower capital
expenditures in the United Kingdom, Austria and the Czech Republic.
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The Southern and Eastern Europe operating segment generates revenues from mobile communication services and

fixed-line network, data communications, wholesale, [P/Internet and other services, such as multimedia broadcasting.

The following table presents selected financial information concerning the Southern and Eastern Europe operating

segment.

Hungary

Croatia

Slovakia

Greece (3)

Romania

Bulgaria

Otherl

Intra-segment revenues (2)
Total revenues

Cost of sales

Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses
Operating income

Other operating expenses

Profit from operations

Capital expenditures

n.a.—not applicable

2009

1,682
1,161
974
3,899
1,104
423
553
(111
9,685

(5,488
(1,910
(817
81
(514
1,037
(1,610

)
)

For the years ended December 31,

2008

(millions of €)

2,006

1,223

994

435

(13 )

4,645

2,504 )

(729 )

(408 )

82

(171 )

915

(865 )

(1)Other includes Albania, the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia and Montenegro.

(2)Intra-segment revenues includes revenues among our fixed network and mobile communication businesses in the
Southern and Eastern Europe operating segment.

(3) OTE-Group consolidated from February 2009.

2007

2,047
1,202
932

436
17
4,600

(2,611
(717
(394
143
(11
1,010
(732

2009/2008 2008/2007
(% change)
(16.2 ) (2.0 )
5.1 ) 1.7
(2.0 ) 6.7
n.a. n.a.
n.a. n.a.
n.a. n.a.
27.1 0.2 )
n.a. 23.5
n.a. 1.0
na. 4.1
n.a. (1.7 )
n.a. 3.6 )
(1.2 ) (427 )
n.a. n.a.
13.3 9.4 )
(86.1) (18.2 )

The revenue development in our Southern and Eastern Europe operating segment was impacted by two main effects in
2009. The first time full consolidation of OTE in February 2009 resulted in a revenue increase of EUR 5,455 million
compared to 2008. That increase was partially offset by negative exchange rate effects, particularly in Hungary, of

EUR 210 million. Revenues were also adversely affected by competitive pressure and regulatory developments.

Hungary

Fixed network revenues

Mobile communications

Service revenues

Sales of terminal equipment

Other

Total mobile communications revenues

Average customers (in millions)

2009
762
860
68
32
960

53

For the years ended December 31,
2009/2008
(% change)

2008
(millions of €)
923

1,006
77
34
1,117

5.1

2007
976
1,004
81
33
1,118

4.6

(174

(14.5
(11.7
(5.9

(14.1

3.9

)

N

2008/2007

5.4

0.2
4.9
3.0
0.1

10.9

)
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ARPU (in €) 14 16 18 (12.5 ) (11.1 )
Total other revenues 98 122 123 (19.7 ) (0.8 )
Reconciliation (1) (138 ) (156 ) (170 ) 11.5 8.2

Total revenues 1,682 2,006 2,047 (16.2 ) (2.0 )

(1)Reconciliation includes the elimination of revenues between the fixed network, mobile communications business
and other.
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Fixed network

The decrease in fixed network revenues in 2009 was mainly a result of significant negative currency translation effects
from the Hungarian forint to the euro. In local currency, fixed-network revenues also decreased, primarily as a result
of the decline in the number of fixed-network access lines and lower prices resulting from competitive pressure. In
addition, wholesale services revenues were slightly lower as a result of decreasing traffic. The decrease in revenues
was partially offset by an increase in IP/Internet revenues, as a result of a larger number of broadband access lines.
The launch of satellite TV services in November 2008 also partially offset the decline in revenues in 2009.

The decrease in fixed network revenues in 2008 was due to intense competition in the traditional fixed-network
business and mobile substitution as well as a decline in wholesale revenues as a result of decreased wholesale traffic.
The decrease in revenues was only partially offset by increases in IP/ Internet revenues resulting from increased
demand for broadband products.

Mobile communications

Total mobile communications revenues in Hungary declined in 2009 compared to 2008, mainly as a result of
significant negative currency translation effects from the Hungarian forint to the euro. In local currency, total revenues
decreased slightly, mainly as a result of regulatory pressure such as the reduction in mobile termination and roaming
rates and to a lesser extent, lower prices due to the intense competition in the market. These decreases were partly
offset by higher data revenues due to increasing mobile Internet usage. Total revenues in Hungary declined slightly in
2008 compared to 2007. In 2008, the increasing usage of mobile Internet contributed positively to revenues. This
effect was largely offset by lower revenues caused by interconnection and roaming regulatory impact and lower voice
revenues from retail customers caused by lower per minute fees.

ARPU in Hungary decreased in 2009 compared to 2008, primarily as a result of the negative currency translation
effect. This decline was partially offset by an increase in the number of contract customers, which tend to have higher
ARPU than prepay customers. ARPU in Hungary decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 due to decreasing tariffs and
lower mobile termination fees, which were partly offset by higher mobile internet usage per customer.

Revenues from sales of terminal equipment decreased in 2009 and 2008 due to a reduction in the number of gross
customer additions and, therefore, equipment units sold compared to 2008. Gross additions declined due to the
economic situation in Hungary and the high mobile penetration rate in a saturated market. The main reason for the
decrease from 2008 to 2007 was less revenue from upgrades, and also lower average price of phone sets sold to new
customers.

Croatia
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Fixed network revenues 687 720 742 (4.6 ) 3.0 )
Mobile communications
Service revenues 504 564 541 (10.6 ) 43
Sales of terminal equipment 35 29 27 20.7 7.4
Other 32 23 13 39.1 76.9
Total mobile communications revenues 571 616 581 (7.3 ) 6.0
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Average customers (in millions) 2.8 2.5 2.2 12.0 13.6
ARPU (in €) 15 19 20 (21.1 ) (5.0
Reconciliation (1) 97 ) (113 ) (121 ) 14.2 6.6
Total revenues 1,161 1,223 1,202 (5.1 ) 1.7

(1)Reconciliation includes the elimination of revenues between the fixed network and mobile communications
business.
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Fixed network revenue in 2009 decreased as a result of further competition in traditional fixed-network business,
including fixed-to-mobile substitution, and a slightly negative exchange rate effect. Revenues from wholesale services
also decreased due to lower volumes. The decline in revenues was partially offset by an increase in IP/Internet
revenues, resulting from a higher number of broadband and IPTV customers.

In 2008, fixed network revenue decreased as a result of intense competition in traditional fixed-network
communication and fixed-to-mobile substitution. This decline in revenue was partially offset by positive exchange
rate effects as well as higher IP/ Internet revenues due to increased demand for broadband products.

Mobile communications

Total revenues in Croatia decreased in 2009 primarily due to a decline in lower service revenues, partially offset by
higher revenues from the sale of terminal equipment and other revenues. Total revenues in Croatia increased in 2008
mainly due to an increase in service revenues and, to a lesser extent, to an increase in revenues from sales of terminal
equipment and other revenues. In 2008, the development of the Croatian kuna and the euro resulted in a positive
currency translation effect.

Service revenues decreased in 2009. This decrease was caused by lower usage and the effect of the newly introduced
tax on mobile revenue, which was not passed on to the customers. These impacts were partially offset by a positive
currency translation effect. Service revenues increased in 2008 primarily due to the larger average customer base.

Other revenues increased in 2009 and 2008 mainly due to revenues generated via national roaming agreement with
Tele2.

ARPU in Croatia decreased to EUR 15 in 2009, compared to EUR 19 in 2008, mainly due to a decrease in usage.
ARPU in Croatia decreased to EUR 19 in 2008, compared to EUR 20 in 2007, mainly due to a decrease in contract
ARPU as a result of lower tariffs and competitive pressures.

Slovakia
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Fixed network revenues 449 460 459 24 ) 02
Mobile communications
Service revenues 517 537 476 (3.7 ) 12.8
Sales of terminal equipment 11 9 11 222 (18.2 )
Other 28 25 23 12.0 8.7
Total mobile communications revenues 556 571 510 (2.6 ) 12.0
Average customers (in millions) 2.3 2.3 2.3 0.0 0.0
ARPU (in €) 19 19 17 0.0 11.8
Reconciliation(1) (31 ) (37 ) (37 ) 16.2 0.0
Total revenues 974 994 932 (2.0 ) 6.7

(1)Reconciliation includes the elimination of revenues between the fixed network and mobile communications
business.
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The decrease in fixed network revenues in 2009 was primarily a result of increased competition in the traditional
fixed-network business. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in IP/Internet revenues, mainly resulting
from an increase in customers using online- and IPTV-services and an increase in wholesale revenues due to an
increase in the carrier service transit business ..

The decrease in fixed network revenues in 2008 was due to intense competition in the traditional fixed-network
business and fixed-to-mobile substitution. This decrease in revenues was partially offset by positive exchange rate
effects as well as by an increase in IP/ Internet revenues resulting from increased demand for broadband products and,
to a lesser extent, an increase in wholesale revenues due to increased wholesale traffic.
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Total mobile communications revenues in Slovakia decreased in 2009 primarily as a result of a decline in service
revenues, which was partially offset by increases revenues from the sale of terminal equipment and other revenues.
Total revenues in Slovakia increased in 2008 due in part to a positive currency translation effect. In local currency,
revenues also increased, mainly related to an increase in service revenues. Service revenues decreased in 2009
primarily as a result of the significant decline in termination rates. Service revenues increased in 2008 due in part to a
positive currency translation effect. In local currency, service revenues also increased mainly as a result of a higher
proportion of contract customers in the overall average customer base, which tend to have a higher usage and generate
higher service revenues than prepay customers.

ARPU remained stable in 2009 compared to 2008. A significant decline in termination rates was offset by a higher
percentage of contract customers in the total customer base. ARPU increased in 2008 due to a higher share of contract
customers, as well as a positive currency translation effect.

Greece
For the years ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)

Fixed network revenues 2,311 - = - -
Mobile communications
Service revenues 1,535 - - - -
Sales of terminal equipment 273 - - = -
Other 38 - - - ;

Total mobile communications revenues 1,846 - - - -
Average customers (in millions) 8.9 - - = =
ARPU (in €) 16 - - - i
Other Revenues 72 - - - ;
Reconciliation(1) (330 ) - - - -
Total revenues(2) 3,899 - - - ;

(1)Reconciliation includes the elimination of revenues between the fixed network , mobile communications business
and other.
2) OTE-Group consolidated from February 2009.

Our revenues in Greece increased in 2009 due to the full consolidation of OTE beginning in February 2009. From
May 2008 until February 2009 we accounted for our investment in OTE using the equity method.

In 2009, fixed-network revenues in Greece were affected by growth in the number of broadband lines and ULLs, the
introduction of IPTV and increasing competition. In 2009, mobile service revenues in Greece were affected by
intense competition, mainly among prepaid customers, following aggressive competitive moves early in the year.
Furthermore, Greek mobile revenues were heavily impacted by the decline in termination rates.
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Operating Expenses and Profit from Operations

In 2009, all of the operating expenses for our Southern and Eastern Europe segment were primarily influenced by the
full consolidation of OTE beginning in February 2009. In addition, cost of sales as well as the other categories were
significantly influenced by the currency translation effect of the Hungarian forint, and to a lesser extent, the Croatian
kuna, which lowered our costs on an euro-basis. Head count reduction in fixed-network businesses and additional cost
cutting programs, such as lower marketing expenses and lower consultancy costs, further reduced operating costs.

The other operating expenses include the recognition of goodwill impairments in Greece, Romania, the F.Y.R.O.
Macedonia and Slovakia in the total amount of EUR 481 million. The impairment losses were largely due to the
country-specific risk in connection with the current financial and national crisis in Greece. Other impairment losses
were primarily recognized as a result of the negative developments in connection with the financial market crisis.

Profit from operations increased in 2009 due to the first time full consolidation of OTE. That increase was offset in
part by the goodwill impairment charges recognized in 2009.

Cost of sales declined in 2008 primarily due to declines in Hungary, which were offset by increases in Slovakia. The
other significant change in operating expenses was the recognition of impairments totaling EUR 161 million in
Hungary and the F.Y.R.O. Macedonia. Profit from operations declined in 2008 as a result of the effects described
above.

Capital Expenditures

In 2009, capital expenditures increased compared with 2008 mainly due to the full consolidation of OTE. This
increase was offset by a negative currency translation effect, in particular in Hungary. Slightly higher capital
expenditures in Croatia and Montenegro were related to broadband expansion. In 2008, capital expenditures increased
compared to 2007 mainly as a result of currency translation effects in Croatia and Slovakia and by higher investments
in broadband networks.

Systems Solutions

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)

Net revenues 6,083 6,368 6,911 4.5 ) (7.9 )
Intersegment revenues 2,715 2,975 3,660 (8.7 ) (18.7 )
Total revenues 8,798 9,343 10,571 (5.8 ) (11.6 )
Cost of sales (7,167 ) (8,005 ) (9,166 ) 105 12.7
Selling expenses (1,036 ) (1,085 ) (1,039 ) 4.5 4.4 )
General and administrative expenses (728 ) (812 ) (712 ) 10.3 (14.0 )
Other operating income 153 739 164 (79.3 ) n.a.
Other operating expenses (31 ) (99 ) 47 ) 68.7 n.a.
Profit (loss) from operations (11 ) 81 (229 ) n.a. n.a.
Capital expenditures (681 ) (823 ) (903 ) 173 8.9

n.a.—not applicable

Net Revenues
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Systems Solutions’ net revenues (total revenues excluding intersegment revenues) in 2009 amounted to EUR 6,083
million, a decrease of 4.5% compared to 2008. This decrease was mainly attributable to lower net revenues in Systems
Integration, the Telecommunication unit and Computing & Desktop Services, primarily caused by decreases in prices
and volumes. This decrease was offset in part by an increase in net revenues at the Computing & Desktop Services
unit, (CDS). This increase at CDS was a result of new contracts won during 2009, which offset falling prices in the IT
business. Due to this additional business, CDS was able to grow in the international area, partially offsetting the
decline in CDS’ business in Germany.
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In 2008, Systems Solutions’ net revenues amounted to EUR 6,368 million, a decrease of 7.8% compared to 2007. This
decrease was mainly attributable to changes in the composition of the Group, especially the sale of Media&Broadcast,
and to lower net revenues in Systems Integration and Telecommunication unit, primarily caused by decreases in prices
and volumes. This decrease was offset in part by an increase in net revenues at CDS. This increase was a result of
additional contracts won during 2008, which offset falling prices in the IT business.

Total Revenues

Systems Solutions’ total revenues include both net revenues from external customers and revenues from the Group’s
other operating segments and affiliates. In addition to providing data processing, other information technology
services, such as the provision of computer center services, desktop services and application services to third parties,
T-Systems is the primary provider of such services to the Deutsche Telekom Group.

The decrease in total revenues in 2009 compared to 2008 was due to lower external and intersegment revenues,
particularly at CDS and the Telecommunication unit, primarily as a result of intense competition. The decrease in
intersegment revenues is mainly attributable to the group wide efficiency measures and personnel reduction program.

The decrease in total revenues in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily a result of the changes in the composition of
the group, primarily the divestiture of Media&Broadcast and transfer of ActiveBilling to the Germany operating
segment and, to a lesser extent, from the decline in total revenues from telecommunications services as a result of
pricing pressure and lower volumes. In addition, revenues from CDS declined due to lower intersegment revenues,
which primarily resulted from deconsolidation effects.

Intersegment revenues amounted to EUR 2,715 million in 2009 compared to EUR 2,975 million in 2008, representing
an 8.7% decrease. Intersegment revenues decreased primarily at CDS and the Telecommunications unit in 2009,
primarily as a result of reduced prices and volumes, offset in part by an increase in intersegment revenues at Systems
Integration. Intersegment revenues amounted to EUR 2,975 million in 2008 compared to EUR 3,667 million in 2007,
representing an 18.9% decrease. This decrease was primarily a result of the transfer of ActiveBilling to the Germany
operating segment. Intersegment revenues decreased primarily at CDS and the Telecommunications unit in 2008,
partially offset by an increase at Systems Integration.

In 2009, 30.9% of total revenues were attributable to intersegment revenues, compared to 31.8% in 2008 and 34.7% in
2007.

In 2009, domestic operations contributed 69.9% of Systems Solutions’ total revenues, compared to 71.0% in 2008 and
76.1% in 2007. Domestic total revenues amounted to EUR 6,153 million in 2009, a decrease of EUR 481 million, or
7.3%, as compared with EUR 6,634 million in 2008. This decrease was a result of the intense competition in
Germany, particularly in the Telecommunication and CDS business, and to a lesser extent, in the Systems Integration
business. International revenues amounted to EUR 2,645 million in 2009, a decrease of EUR 64 million, or 2.4%, as
compared with EUR 2,709 million in 2008. This decrease was primarily attributable to lower revenues in the
Telecommunication unit and to a lesser extent in the Systems Integrations unit. This decrease was offset in part by an
increase in the CDS unit, mainly caused by the impact of several international contracts.

Domestic total revenues amounted to EUR 6,634 million in 2008, a decrease of EUR 1,411 million, or 17.5%,
compared with EUR 8,045 million in 2007. This decrease was a result of the intense competition in Germany, which
affected the CDS business, and to a lesser extent, the Telecommunications business. International revenues amounted
to EUR 2,709 million in 2008, an increase of EUR 183 million, or 7.2%, as compared with EUR 2,526 million in
2007. This increase was primarily the result of the internationalization strategy of T-Systems.

For the years ended December 31,
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2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Computing & Desktop Services 3,835 3,877 4,331 (1.1 ) (10.5
Systems Integration 1,595 1,741 1,750 (8.4 ) (0.5
Telecommunications 3,368 3,725 4,490 (9.6 ) (17.0
Total revenues 8,798 9,343 10,571 (5.8 ) (11.6
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Computing & Desktop Services

Computing & Desktop Services revenues are comprised of revenues from:
e Desktop Services & Solutions, which delivers, operates and maintains desktop systems for customers; and

e Computing Services & Solutions, which operates customers’ data centers and manages customer servers, systems,
databases and applications. The Deutsche Telekom Group was CDS’ largest customer in 2009, 2008, and 2007.

In 2009, 35.7% of CDS’ total revenues were intersegment revenues, compared with 38.3% in 2008 and 46.4% in
2007. CDS’ total revenues decreased in 2009, due to lower revenues from PC workstation-related services within the
Deutsche Telekom Group, primarily as a result of a decrease in prices from cost cutting measures and a decrease in
volumes resulting from a decrease in personnel at Deutsche Telekom in Germany.

CDS’ total revenues decreased in 2008, due to changes in the composition of the group and lower revenues from PC
workstation-related services within the Deutsche Telekom Group, primarily as a result of a decrease in prices resulting
from cost cutting measures and a decrease in volumes resulting from a decrease in personnel at Deutsche Telekom in
Germany.

Systems Integration

Systems Integration receives revenues from providing advice and assistance for an enterprise’s entire “plan-build-run”
lifecycle. Revenues from Detecon are also reported under Systems Integration. In 2009, 39.1% of Systems
Integration’s total revenues were intersegment revenues, compared with 35.6% in 2008 and 32.9% in 2007.

The decrease in Systems Integration total revenues in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily the result of lower
external revenues, offset in part due to higher revenue from Deutsche Telekom Group companies. The decrease in
external revenues was mainly attributable to decreasing prices and lower demand. Additional business with new
customers was not sufficient to compensate for the price-driven decrease in revenue with existing customers.

The decrease in Systems Integration total revenues in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily the result of lower
external revenues, offset in part due to higher revenues from Deutsche Telekom Group companies. In 2008, net
revenues were 64.4% of Systems Integration’s total revenues, compared to 67.1% in 2007. Initial successes from the
cooperation with Cognizant were not sufficient to compensate for the price-driven decrease in revenue at Systems
Integration.

Telecommunications

Telecommunications revenues consist of sales of telecommunications products and services to T-Systems’ customers.
In 2009, 21.4% of the Telecommunications unit’s total revenues were intersegment revenues, compared with 23.4% in
2008 and 24.1% in 2007.

The decrease in Telecommunications Services’ total revenues in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily the result of
extreme pricing pressure in the overall voice and data business. The decrease in Telecommunications Services’ total
revenues in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily the result of the sale of Media&Broadcast in January 2008 and a

decrease in prices and volumes.

Operating Expenses and Profit from Operations
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The decrease in cost of sales in 2009 compared to 2008 was due to lower revenue-related costs as a result of lower
revenues in 2009. In addition, the consolidation of certain delivery platforms within T-Systems’ network infrastructure
led to the decrease in cost of sales. The decrease in cost of sales in 2008 compared to 2007 was due to lower revenue
related costs as a result of lower revenues in 2008. In addition, cost of revenue declined in 2008 due to changes in the
composition of the Group and, to a lesser extent, lower equipment and service costs.

The decrease in selling expenses in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily due to lower marketing and billing costs.
The increase in selling expenses in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily the result of higher marketing expenses and
the ongoing implementation of the sales and internationalization strategy, partially offset by decreased personnel costs
related to the personnel reduction initiative.
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The decrease in general and administrative expenses in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily the result of several
efficiency measures combined with lower personnel expenses, mainly driven by lower headcount in Germany. The
increase in general and administrative expenses in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily the result of increased
consulting costs, partially offset by decreased personnel costs related to the personnel reduction initiative and other
efficiency programs.

The development of other operating income in 2009 and 2008 was primarily a result of the sale of Media&Broadcast
in 2008.

Other operating expenses decreased in 2009 primarily as a result of lowering restructuring costs. Other operating
expenses increased in 2008 primarily as a result of higher losses on disposals of assets and an increase in
miscellaneous other operating expenses. This increase was partially offset by lower restructuring costs.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures at Systems Solutions decreased in 2009 compared with 2008, primarily as a result of lower
investments in our CDS business. In 2008, capital expenditures decreased compared with 2007, primarily as a result
of lower investments due to the sale of Media&Broadcast. This however was offset by a higher investment in our
CDS business.
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Group Headquarters and Shared Services

The following table presents selected financial information concerning our Group Headquarters and Shared Services
operating segment:

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Net revenues 253 307 288 (17.6 ) 6.6
Intersegment revenues 2,157 2,474 2,855 (12.8 ) (13.3 )
Total revenues 2,410 2,781 3,143 (13.3 ) (11.5 )
Loss from operations (1,249 ) (1,266 ) (2,243 ) 1.3 43.6

Net Revenues

In 2009, net revenues from Group Headquarters and Shared Services amounted to EUR 253 million, a decrease of
EUR 54 million, compared to 2008. Most of the net revenues in 2009 were derived from fleet services and real estate
services. The decrease in 2009 was mainly attributable to lower net revenues from real estate services as a result of the
deconsolidation of DeTelmmobilien effective September 30, 2008.

In 2008, net revenues from Group Headquarters and Shared Services amounted to EUR 307 million, an increase of
EUR 19 million, compared to 2007. Most of the net revenues in 2008 were derived from real estate services and, to a
lesser extent, from fleet services. The slight increase in 2008 was mainly attributable to higher net revenues from fleet
services, and offset, in part, by lower net revenues at Vivento.

Total Revenues

In 2009, total revenues amounted to EUR 2,410 million, which were principally derived from our real estate
operations (EUR 1.7 billion), fleet services (EUR 0.4 billion) and our functions in the areas of technology, IT and
mobile communications that are assigned to our Chief Operating Officer (EUR 0.2 billion). Total revenues in 2009
decreased by EUR 371 million compared to 2008. The decrease was primarily attributable to the deconsolidation of
DeTelmmobilien effective September 30, 2008 and the more efficient use of rented floor space by our operating
segments. In addition, lower revenues from our Group-wide technology operations and Vivento due to lower prices
and quantities sold and lower proceeds from vehicle sales contributed to the decrease in total revenues. However,
these revenue decreases were partially offset by growth in revenues from accounting services provided to the
operating segments by Deutsche Telekom Accounting GmbH, which was established as of April 1, 2008.

In 2008, total revenues amounted to EUR 2,781 million, which were principally derived from our real estate
operations (EUR 2.0 billion), fleet services (EUR 0.4 billion) and our functions in the areas of technology, IT and
mobile communications that are assigned to our Chief Operating Officer (EUR 0.3 billion). Total revenues in 2008
decreased by EUR 362 million, compared to 2007. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower revenues at
Vivento due to the sale of Vivento Technical Services operations in 2007, the disposal of call center locations of
Vivento Customer Services, and price reductions in the call center unit. Total revenues from real estate activities
declined primarily as a result of the sale of DeTe Immobilien and a lower volume of facility management activities
billed to the operating segments. However, these revenue decreases were partially offset by revenue growth at fleet
services due to higher proceeds from vehicle sales within the regular replacement process. Deutsche Telekom
Accounting GmbH, which was established in 2008, generated revenue from charging our operating segments for
accounting services.
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Loss From Operations

Loss from operations amounted to EUR 1,249 million in 2009, a decrease of EUR 17 million compared to 2008. In
2008, expenses related to the disposal of DeTelmmobilien and call centers negatively affected loss from operations. In
addition, loss from operations benefited from the reversal of provisions, mainly related to the Civil Service Health
Insurance Fund. The decrease in loss from operations resulting from these effects was partially offset by higher
expenses for staff-related measures, primarily for early retirement arrangements for civil servants. Additionally, the
more efficient use of rented floor space by the operating segments, especially for technical facilities, and the increase
in depreciation and amortization, which mainly related to our real estate property, had a negative impact. Further
factors partially offsetting the decline in the loss from operations included higher maintenance costs, decreased
revenues at our Group-wide technology operations and Vivento and the positive contribution of DeTelmmobilien in
2008, which was deconsolidated effective September 30, 2008.

Loss from operations amounted to EUR 1,266 million in 2008, a decrease of EUR 977 million compared to 2007. The
decrease in loss from operations was mainly attributable to lower expenses for staff-related measures, primarily for
early retirement arrangements for civil servants. In 2007, loss from operations was also negatively affected by
expenses related to the sale of Vivento Technical Services operations. The disposal of call center locations and the
improvement in loss from operations following the sale of Vivento Technical Services operations and the disposal of
call center locations were among the factors positively influencing loss from operations. Additional positive impacts
resulted from lower depreciation and amortization, which mainly related to our real estate property, and earnings due
to the reclassification of real estate from assets held for sale to non-current assets. Furthermore, a decrease in
provisions compared with 2007 and the reduced number of Vivento staff leading to a reduction in personnel costs
contributed to the improvement in loss from operations. These positive developments were partially offset by
expenses related to the disposal of DeTelmmobilien and lower earnings from property sales. Revenue decreases
resulting from price reductions in the call center unit were another factor negatively impacting loss from operations.
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Liquidity

Generally, we centrally manage the liquidity and capital resources for each operating segment within our consolidated
Group. The tables and discussion included in this section present a summary of the significant financing and investing
events and transactions that have affected our liquidity over the past three years and that may influence our future
liquidity needs.

Net Cash from Operating Activities

Net cash from operating activities amounted to EUR 15.8 billion in 2009, an increase of EUR 0.4 billion over the prior
year. Cash generated from operations improved by EUR 0.6 billion, which was partially offset by an increase

of EUR 0.2 billion in net interest paid. The increase in cash generated from operations is the result of several factors,
some of which offset each other.Profit from operations decreased by EUR 1.0 billion compared with 2008. In 2009,
depreciation, amoritization and impairment losses increased by EUR 2.9 billion compared to 2008. The effects of the
disposal of fully consolidated subsidiaries increased by EUR 0.4 billion. The change in assets carried as working
capital increased by EUR 1.7 billion, mainly as a result of inflows of EUR 0.8 billion from the sale of receivables
(factoring) and as a result of the decrease of EUR 0.5 billion in trade receivables (excluding receivables from
construction contracts) which is due to improved receivables management. By contrast, the changes in provisions and
other liabilities carried as working capital decreased by EUR 3.1 billion year-on-year, mainly due to lower additions to
provisions for restructuring measures in combination with higher cash outflows for restructuring measures, increased
utilization of provisions for personnel costs and provisions for litigation risks, as well as a reduction in trade payables.
In addition, income tax payments increased by EUR 0.4 billion year-on-year, in particular as a result of the first-time
full inclusion of OTE from February 2009. The increase in net interest paid is also largely attributable to this effect.

Net cash from operating activities amounted to EUR 15.4 billion in 2008, compared with EUR 13.7 billion in 2007.
The increase was primarily attributable to lower payments for restructuring, positive developments in working capital
and lower interest payments. The higher interest payments in 2007 resulted in part due to final interest payments of
maturing bonds and medium term notes with historically high coupon rates. In the first part of 2008, we used lower
interest rate short-term financing to replace them. Later in 2008, this short-term financing was replaced by the
issuance of long-term debt where no interest payments were due in 2008. Income tax payments had an offsetting
effect, however. Income tax payments of EUR 0.5 billion were recorded in 2008, compared with net refunds of EUR
0.2 billion in the prior year.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled EUR 8.6 billion in 2009 as compared with EUR 11.4 billion in 2008. This
development was mainly due to the addition of OTE’s cash and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 1.6 billion as part
of the first-time full inclusion of OTE, whereas the prior year saw outflows for the acquisition of shares in OTE
amounting to EUR 3.1 billion. A EUR 0.5 billion increase in cash outflows for intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment and EUR 0.3 billion increase in cash outflows for the deposit of cash collateral in 2009 for the
acquisition of Strato AG had an offsetting effect. In particular, the outflows for the cash collateral in 2009 contrast
cash inflows of EUR 0.6 billion in 2008, primarily from short-term cash deposits.

The net cash outflows for investments in fully consolidated companies and business units increased by EUR 0.6
billion. Whereas cash outflows amounting to EUR 1.0 billion for the acquisition of SunCom and cash inflows of

EUR 0.8 billion from the sale of Media&Broadcast were recorded in 2008, the 2009 financial year saw cash outflows
of EUR 1.0 billion in particular for the acquisition of additional shares in OTE in connection with put option I, and the
acquisition of Zapp in Romania, and cash inflows of EUR 0.1 billion from the sale of Cosmofon.
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Net cash used in investing activities totaled EUR 11.4 billion in 2008 as compared with EUR 8.1 billion in 2007. This
change was primarily the result of cash outflows for the acquisition of SunCom in the amount of EUR 1.0 billion and
for the acquisition of shares in OTE in the amount of EUR 3.1 billion as compared with outflows totaling EUR 1.5
billion for Orange Nederland and Immobilien Scout in 2007. In addition, cash outflows for intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment increased by EUR 0.7 billion, primarily as a result of the 2G and 3G network roll-out in
the United States, while inflows for property, plant and equipment decreased by EUR 0.4 billion, in particular as a
result of lower real estate disposals.

Lower cash outflows of EUR 0.7 billion for acquisitions and higher cash inflows of EUR 0.9 billion from disposals of
businesses compared with the previous year also had a positive impact on net cash used in investing activities. In
2007, the acquisition of Orange Nederland and Immobilien Scout resulted in cash outflows of EUR 1.5 billion and the
disposal of T-Online France, T-Online Spain, and TBDS contributed cash inflows of EUR 0.9 billion, whereas in
2006, cash outflows for tele.ring, PTC, gedas, and MakTel totaled EUR 2.2 billion.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities amounted to EUR 5.1 billion in 2009, compared with EUR 3.1 billion in 2008.
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This change was mostly attributable to EUR 1.1 billion lower year-on-year proceeds from the issuance of non-current
financial liabilities and EUR 0.6 billion higher net repayments of current financial liabilities. In addition, dividend
payments increased by EUR 0.3 billion compared with 2008, in particular as a result of the first-time full inclusion of
OTE in February 2009 and higher dividend payments at Slovak Telekom. The considerable decrease in the net
issuance and repayment of current financial liabilities year-on-year is primarily attributable to the issuance of
commercial paper in 2009 to finance short-term liquidity needs. This contrasts with the drawdown of several
short-term credit lines in 2008.

The issuance of financial liabilities in the 2009 financial year consisted in particular of the issue of a tranche of
Eurobonds for EUR 2.0 billion, medium-term notes for EUR 2.0 billion, a U.S. dollar bond for EUR 1.1 billion, and
promissory notes for EUR 0.2 billion. Medium-term notes in an amount of EUR 3.7 billion, a U.S. dollar bond issue
of EUR 0.7 billion, commercial paper in a net amount of EUR 0.6 billion, a medium-term notes of OTE in an amount
of EUR 0.6 billion and promissory notes and other loans for EUR 0.4 billion were repaid during the same period.

Net cash used in financing activities in 2008 totaled EUR 3.1 billion, compared with EUR 6.1 billion in 2007. This
change was mostly attributable to higher proceeds from the issue of non-current financial liabilities of

EUR 4.9 billion, while repayments decreased by EUR 0.9 billion. Current financial liabilities, on the other hand,
included a year-on-year net increase in repayments amounting to EUR 2.6 billion. In addition, dividend payments
increased by EUR 0.2 billion year-on-year, mainly as a result of an increase in dividend payments of Deutsche
Telekom AG.

The issue of financial liabilities in 2008 included the issue of medium-term notes totaling EUR 1.8 billion, the issue
of Eurobonds totaling EUR 1.5 billion, the issue of USD bonds totaling EUR 1.0 billion, and the issue of Samurai
bonds totaling EUR 0.3 billion. In addition, EUR 1.4 billion of promissory notes (shown as liabilities to banks) were
issued, commercial paper was issued for a net amount of EUR 0.6 billion, and a loan of EUR 0.5 billion was taken out
with the European Investment Bank. A benchmark bond issue of EUR 2.0 billion, medium-term notes of

EUR 1.5 billion, U.S. dollar bonds amounting to EUR 0.5 billion, as well as bonds issued and credit lines drawn by
SunCom amounting to EUR 0.7 billion, were repaid during 2008. Net repayments of drawdowns under short-term
credit lines amounting to EUR 1.4 billion were also made, and a loan of EUR 0.2 billion from Kreditanstalt fiir
Wiederaufbau was repaid.

Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our total financial liabilities as of December 31, 2009, and December 31, 2008:
As of As of
December 31,200ecember 31,2008 Change % Change
(millions of €, except where indicated)

Bonds 38,508 34,302 4,206 12.3
Liabilities to banks 4,718 4,222 496 11.7
Promissory notes 1,057 887 170 19.2
Liabilities from derivatives 979 1,088 (109 ) (10.0 )
Lease liabilities 1,909 2,009 (100 ) (5.0 )
Other financial liabilities 4,020 4,086 (66 ) (1.6 )
Total 51,191 46,594 4,597 9.9

Total financial liabilities increased as of December 31, 2009, as compared with December 31, 2008, primarily as a
result of the full consolidation of OTE and the issuance of bonds equivalent to EUR 3.1 billion (EUR 2.0 billion, USD
1.5 billion) and medium term notes equivalent to EUR 2.0 billion (EUR 1.0 billion, CHF 0.4 billion and GBP 0.7
billion). This was partially offset by redemptions of EUR 5.3 billion.
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The material terms of the liabilities issued in 2009 are as follows:

Interest
Nominal Contractual and expected maturity Rate
(in billions of €)
Fixed Rate Bonds 2.0 January 20, 2017 6.00 %
Fixed Rate Bonds 0.52 July 8, 2014 4.88 %
Fixed Rate Bonds 0.52 July 8, 2019 6.00 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.79 April 8, 2022 6,50 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.27 April 22, 2014 3.75 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.10 May 19, 2017 5.13 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.50 June 2, 2014 4.38 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.35 July 27. 2021 5.38 %
Medium-Term Notes 0.05 November 20, 2018 4.38 %

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2009 increased by EUR 1,996 million, or 66.0%, to EUR 5,022 million,
compared to EUR 3,026 million at December 31, 2008. For further information concerning the development of our
liquid assets and debt, see notes (1) and (9) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2009, the Federal Republic was the guarantor of EUR 1.9 billion of our liabilities, which were
outstanding on January 1, 1995. For further details, see “Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions.”

We employ a variety of financing sources to fund our operations and liquidity needs. The principal financial
instruments we use are bonds, medium-term notes and commercial paper issued in various jurisdictions and in various
currencies, and committed credit facilities. We believe that our existing liquid assets, cash flows from operations,
available credit lines and ability to access the capital markets will be sufficient to meet our anticipated liquidity
requirements during 2010.

For a discussion of funding and treasury policies, see note (36) to the Consolidated Financial Statements and “Item 11.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Credit Ratings

Our long-term corporate credit rating with Fitch Ratings was changed to BBB+ on April 23, 2009. Our long-term
corporate credit ratings with Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and Moody’s Investors Service are unchanged at
BBB+ and Baal respectively. The outlook for all ratings is stable.

Definitions of the rating agencies are as follows:

Fitch: Fitch Ratings has eight generic long-term ratings, ranging from AAA to C. The BBB rating is the fourth highest
of the generic ratings. According to Fitch Ratings, Ratings Delivery Service Overview, “BBB” ratings indicate that
expectations of credit risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered
adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity. The suffixes “+” or
be appended to a rating to denote relative status within the major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the
“AAA” long-term rating category or to categories below “B.”

[T

may

Moody’s: Moody’s has nine generic long-term debt ratings, ranging from Aaa to C. Issuers rated Baa offer adequate
financial security. However, certain protective elements may be lacking or may be unreliable over any great period of
time. Moody’s appends numerical modifiers 1, 2 and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The
modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a
mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.
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Standard & Poor’s: Standard & Poor’s has eleven generic long-term issuer credit ratings, ranging from AAA to SD or
D. An obligor rated 'BBB' has adequate capacity to meet its financial commitments. However, adverse economic
conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its
financial commitments.

Plus (+) or minus (-): the ratings from “AA” to “CCC” may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus sign to show
relative standing within the major rating categories.

A securities rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and is subject to revision or withdrawal at
any time by the assigning rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.
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Step-up Provisions

An improvement of our long-term senior unsecured debt ratings to A3 by Moody’s and A- by Standard & Poor’s would
result in a 50 basis point decrease in interest rates due to relevant step-up provisions on bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately EUR 6.3 billion at December 31, 2009.

A lowering of our long-term senior unsecured debt ratings below Baal by Moody’s and BBB+ by Standard & Poor’s
would result in a 50 basis point increase in interest rates due to relevant step-up provisions on bonds and medium-term
notes with an aggregate principal amount of approximately EUR 4.2 billion at December 31, 2009.

Lines of Credit

Deutsche Telekom’s liquidity reserve consists of credit lines and cash, if necessary. On December 31, 2009, we had
standardized bilateral lines of credit with 24 banks, totaling EUR 14.4 billion. As of December 31, 2009, there were
no borrowings outstanding under these agreements.

According to the loan agreements the terms and conditions depend on our credit rating. The bilateral credit
agreements have an original maturity of 36 months and can, after each period of 12 months, be extended by mutual
agreement for a further 12 months to renew the maturity of 36 months. The financial market crisis affected the
extension of bilateral credit lines. In particular, certain institutions that have been split up, taken over by other banks
or lack sufficient equity have not extended their credit lines in 2008 and until February 2009. In 2009 bilateral credit
facilities with four merged banks were cancelled. Those merged banks are still engaged with one bilateral line. As a
result of these cancellations, the number of credit lines available to us decreased from 28 to 24 year on year, of which
19 lines have been extended at the time of the last extension request. In accordance with their terms, each of the these
19 credit lines is available to us for two years, from the date of notification that the relevant credit line will not be
further extended.

Our bilateral lines of credit do not include any financial covenants or material adverse change clauses. However, in the
event we are taken over by a third-party, the individual lenders under these bilateral lines of credit and certain loan
agreements to which we are also a party have the right to terminate the credit line and, if necessary, serve notice on it
or demand repayment of the loans. A takeover is assumed when a third party, which can also be a group acting jointly,
acquires control over us.

Capital Expenditures and Investments

The following table provides information concerning our capital expenditures, investments in subsidiaries and
non-current financial assets as well as proceeds from the sale of non-current assets and investments.

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008 2008/2007
(millions of €) (% change)
Capital expenditures 9,202 8,707 8,015 5.7 8.6
Investments in subsidiaries and non-financial
assets 1,183 4,291 1,811 (72.4 ) n.a.
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets and
investments (591 ) (1,252 ) (1,782 ) 52.8 29.7
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

due to the first-time full consolidation of OTE 1,558 - - n.a. -
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Other (413 ) (362 ) 10 (14.1) n.a.
Net cash used in investing activities 8,649 11,384 8,054 24.0 ) 41.3

n.a.—not applicable
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Capital Expenditures

The following table provides information about our capital expenditures by operating segment for the periods
presented.

For the years ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009/2008  2008/2007

(millions of €) (% change)
Germany 3,158 3,038 3,014 3.9 0.8
United States 2,666 2,540 1,958 5.0 29.7
Europe 879 1,152 1,148 (23.7 ) 03
Southern and Eastern Europe 1,610 865 732 86.1 18.2
Systems Solutions 681 823 903 (17.3 ) (8.9 )
Group Headquarters and Shared Services 449 426 340 54 25.3
Reconciliation (241 ) (137 ) (80 ) (75.9 ) (71.3 )
Total capital expenditures(1) 9,202 8,707 8,015 5.7 8.6
@) Capital expenditures determined on a cash flow basis.

The increase in total capital expenditures in 2009, compared to 2008, mainly relates to the first-time consolidation of
OTE. In addition, capital expenditure of the Germany operating segment increased by EUR 120 million, mainly as a
result of investment in the IP transport platform, broadband roll-out and IT systems.

The increase in total capital expenditures in 2008, compared to 2007, mainly relates to the purchase of networks 2G

and 3G in the United States, as well as investments in operating software and next generation network infrastructure
technologies.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries and non-current financial assets amounted to EUR 1.2 billion in 2009, a decrease of

EUR 3.1 billion, compared with 2008. This significant decrease was mainly attributable to the acquisition of
OTE-shares in 2008.

Investments in subsidiaries and non-current financial assets amounted to EUR 4.3 billion in 2008, an increase of EUR
2.5 billion, compared with 2007. This significant increase was mainly attributable to the acquisition of OTE-shares
and SunCom Wireless.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

Our contractual obligations and other commitments relate to other financial obligations, operating leases, payments to
a special pension fund and purchase commitments, as more fully described below.
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Contractual Cash Obligations

The following table summarizes our financial liabilities, as well as our obligations and commitments to make future
payments under contracts, as of December 31, 2009:

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(millions of €)
Interest-bearing liabilities(1) 46,639 5,608 11,826 9,794 19,411
of which: bonds 38,508 4,406 10,339 7,665 16,098
of which: liabilities to banks 4,718 974 1,123 1,641 980
of which: lease liabilities 1,909 131 210 236 1,332
Other financial liabilities 4,552 3,783 307 241 221
Total financial liabilities 51,191 9,391 12,133 10,035 19,632
Obligations arising from non-cancelable
operating leases (including rental agreements
and leases) 24,549 2,553 4,196 3,325 14,475
Present value of payments to special pension
fund 6,555 700 1,127 945 3,783
Purchase commitments and similar obligations 5,804 4,150 1,425 146 83
Purchase commitments for interests in other
companies 224 219 2 - 3
Miscellaneous other obligations 2,551 359 619 550 1,023
Total financial obligations 39,683 7,981 7,369 4,966 19,367
Total contractual obligations 90,874 17,372 19,502 15,001 38,999

(1)Future interest payments relating to bonds and liabilities to banks are as follows: less than 1 year:
EUR 2,349 million, 1-3 years: EUR 3,715 million, 3-5 years: EUR 2,610 million, more than 5 years: EUR 7,390
million. Capital lease obligations are shown at present value and exclude interest payments as follows: less than
1 year: EUR 110 million, 1-3 years: EUR 202 million, 3-5 years: EUR 154 million, more than 5 years: EUR
502 million.

For more information regarding our long-term debt, see “—Capital Resources” and note (9) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For more information regarding our lease obligations, see note (33) to the consolidated financial
statements.

In 2008, we granted the HR two put options for an additional 5% (first put option) and 10% (second put option) of the
shares in OTE. The HR was able to exercise the first put option at a total price of EUR 0.7 billion for a period of
twelve months beginning in November 2008. HR exercised the first put option on July 31, 2009.

Beginning in November 2009, the HR is able to exercise the second put option at market price plus a premium
initially of 20% for a period of twelve months, after which it can be exercised at market price plus a premium of 15%
until December 31, 2011. The second put option is for 10% of the outstanding shares in OTE. Should we be taken
over by another company that is not a telecommunications company based in the European Union or the United States
of a similar size and stature to our company, the HR has the right to purchase from us all the shares we own in the
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OTE. For this purpose, we shall be deemed to have been taken over if one or several entities, with the exception of
the Federal Republic, directly or indirectly acquires 35 % of the voting rights in our company.
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Contingencies
The following table summarizes our contingent liabilities relating to lawsuits and other proceedings and other
contingent liabilities, as of December 31, 2009:
Payments due by period
Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(millions of €)
Contingent liabilities relating to lawsuits and

other proceedings 682 253 429 - -
Other contingent liabilities 42 18 1 1 22
Total 724 271 430 1 22
Toll Collect

In connection with a project to create and operate an innovative system for the collection of toll charges for the use by
heavy vehicles of the German highway system, we entered into an agreement dated September 2002 (together with all
amendments thereto, the “operating agreement”) with an agency of the Federal Republic, Daimler Financial Services
AG (“Daimler Services”) and Compagnie Financiere et Industrielle des Autoroutes S.A. (“Cofiroute”). We refer to this
project as the “Toll Collect project.” The partners are responsible for the development and operation of the toll
collection system, which has been built and operated by the joint venture Toll Collect GmbH (“Toll Collect”). Daimler
Services and we each hold a 45% stake in Toll Collect, with the remaining 10% being held by Cofiroute.

Our investments in the Toll Collect project include our equity interests therein, which are recognized in our
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, and certain financial guarantees. We and
Daimler Services have agreed to indemnify Cofiroute against certain financial obligations in excess of

EUR 70 million. In addition, Daimler Services and Cofiroute have a call option in the event that our company's
ownership structure changes such that over 50% of our share capital or voting rights are held by a new shareholder
and this change was not approved by Daimler Services and Cofiroute.

Commencement of operations of the toll collection system was delayed beyond the originally planned date of
August 31, 2003. Operations began in February 2004 and full technical performance was phased-in in accordance with
a schedule agreed to by Toll Collect and the Federal Republic.

Breaches of the operating agreement may result in contractual penalties, revenue reductions or damages claims that
could be significant. However, following the commencement of full technical operations on January 1, 2006,
contractual penalties and revenue reductions are capped at EUR 75 million through the period ended September 30,
2006, and at EUR 150 million per year thereafter until the permanent operating permit has been issued, and at

EUR 100 million per year following issuance of the final operating permit. Such amounts are subject to a 3% increase
per annum. The final operating permit has not yet been issued.

Although the Toll Collect project had commenced Phase 1 operations on January 1, 2005, such commencement of
operations was initially scheduled for August 31, 2003. On December 2, 2003, the Toll Collect partners paid, under
protest, contractual-related penalties relating to the purported delay in the amount of EUR 250,000 per day until
March 2, 2004, and EUR 500,000 per day thereafter until and including December 31, 2004. Upon commencement of
Phase 1 operations on January 1, 2005, Toll Collect began receiving remuneration from the Federal Republic as
stipulated by the operating agreement, which amounted to 95% of the originally agreed upon fees less certain offset
payments claimed by the Federal Republic.
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Significant offset payments claimed by the Federal Republic could have a material adverse effect on revenues
generated by Toll Collect, and, in certain circumstances, we, along with our partners, might be required to provide
additional funds to Toll Collect pursuant to an Equity Maintenance Undertaking, which is an obligation of the partners
(through August 31, 2015, the termination date of the operating agreement or earlier if the operating agreement is
terminated sooner) contained in the operating agreement to contribute, on a joint and several basis, funds necessary to
maintain a minimum equity of 15% of total assets of Toll Collect. Beginning in July 2006, the Federal Republic
reduced monthly payments to Toll Collect by EUR 8 million as a partial offset against amounts claimed by the Federal
Republic in an arbitration proceeding initiated against Daimler Services, Deutsche Telekom AG and the

consortium. As a result, it may become necessary for the consortium members to provide Toll Collect with further
liquidity. The Federal Republic is claiming damages resulting from the delay in the commencement of operations and
contractual penalties. For more information relating to the arbitration proceeding and subsequent claims, see

“Item 8—Financial Information—Legal Proceedings.”

In addition, we guarantee to third-parties bank loans of up to a maximum amount of EUR 230 million granted to Toll
Collect GmbH. This amount corresponds to Deutsche Telekom's 50% stake in Toll Collect’s borrowing volume that is
guaranteed by shareholders.
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Year-end bonus for civil servants

In November 2004, the Federal Republic adopted a law abolishing the requirement for Deutsche Telekom, and other
private corporations, to make certain special payments to civil servants. This law was subsequently challenged in
various courts and in December 2008 the Federal Administrative Court (Bundesverwaltungsgericht) decided to refer
the case to the Federal Constitutional Court (Bundesverfassungsgericht) for a judicial review. However, it is uncertain
when the Federal Constitutional Court will announce its ruling. If the law is found unconstitutional, it is possible that
all civil servants affected by this law would be entitled to retroactive payments, the cost of which could be up to

EUR 211.6 million. However, we believe that the ultimate resolution of this matter will validate the law as adopted by
the Federal Republic.

Other Contingent Obligations

In 2002, T-Mobile Deutschland and four other investors concluded U.S. Qualified Technical Equipment Leases for
goods in the area of mobile telephony/cellular phone networks with an aggregate value of USD 826 million. The
leases involve significant parts of the cellular phone network, including software. T-Mobile Deutschland has leased
the goods to a U.S. trust through a long-term lease agreement with a 30-year term. Simultaneously, with the
conclusion of the long-term lease agreement, the U.S. trust leased the goods back to T-Mobile Deutschland for a term
of approximately 16 years. Except for extending an option to purchase, the lease between the U.S. trust and T-Mobile
Deutschland provides arrangements for insurance, maintenance, operation, subleasing and other provisions. All
T-Mobile Deutschland obligations based on U.S. lease agreements are guaranteed by Deutsche Telekom AG. This
guarantee applies to operative duties (operation, maintenance, insurance, alterations) and payment obligations
(including recourse in the event of any claims arising out of a letter of credit provided in connection with this
arrangement). The guarantee given is limited in term and subject to certain thresholds and conditions.
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RECENTLY ISSUED IASB PRONOUNCEMENTS

In March 2007, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs.” The amendment to the standard mainly
relates to the elimination of the option of immediately recognizing borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as an expense. An entity is therefore required to capitalize
borrowing costs as part of the cost of the qualifying assets. A qualifying asset in this context is an asset that takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The revised standard does not allow the
capitalization of borrowing costs relating to assets measured at fair value, and inventories that are manufactured or
produced in large quantities on a repetitive basis, even if they take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or
sale. The standard applies to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for
capitalization is on or after January 1, 2009. Previously, we recognized these costs directly as an expense. In
accordance with our accounting policy, construction projects and other assets that take at least twelve months to get
ready for its intended use or sale, are deemed qualifying assets. For further information, see note 21 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2007, the IFRIC issued IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programs.” The Interpretation addresses the accounting of
customer loyalty programs that grant customers points (credits) that allow them to acquire free or discounted goods or
services from the seller or a third-party. The question to be clarified was whether the award credits are a liability in the
context of a completed sale or an advance payment for a future sales transaction. The interpretation now issued
requires the proceeds of the sale to be divided into two components. One component is attributable to the transaction
which resulted in the credit awards. The other component is allocable to the future sales transaction resulting from the
credit awards to be redeemed. The portion of the proceeds allocated to the goods or service already delivered is
recognized as revenue. The portion of the proceeds allocated to the award credits is deferred as an advance payment
until the customer redeems the credit awards, or the obligation in respect of the awards credit is fulfilled. The
interpretation is to be applied for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2008. Since the guidance under IFRIC
13 deviates from our previous accounting policy, the accounting method has been adjusted. The adoption of IFRIC 13
has not had a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2007, the IFRIC issued IFRIC 14 “IAS 19—The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction.” The interpretation addresses the measurement of an asset resulting from the fair
value of the plan assets exceeding the present value of the defined benefit obligation. The interpretation specifies how
to determine whether a surplus in a pension plan represents an economic benefit for the entity. In addition, it addresses
how to determine the present value of the asset in the case of a future refund or reduction in future contributions when
a minimum funding requirement exists, as well as how to measure a defined benefit asset or defined benefit liability in
the case of a minimum funding requirement. The interpretation is to be applied for financial years beginning on or
after January 1, 2008. The adoption of IFRIC 14 has not had a material impact on the presentation of our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

In September 2007, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements: A Revised
Presentation.” IAS 1 (revised) uses the terms ‘“‘statement of financial position” (previously “balance sheet”) and “statement of
cash flows” (previously “cash flow statement”) and introduces a new element of financial statements termed “statement of
comprehensive income.” Use of the new terminology, however, is not mandatory. The amendment to IAS 1 requires

entities to disclose comparative information in respect of the previous period. The revised standard also stipulates the
presentation of a further financial statement—statement of financial position—at the beginning of the first comparative
period presented if the entity changed its accounting policies retrospectively or made retrospective restatements.

Revised IAS 1 also provides:

e All changes in shareholders’ equity resulting from transactions with owners must be presented separately from such
changes in shareholders’ equity not resulting from transactions with owners (non-owner changes).

209



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

® Income and expenses are reported separately from transactions with owners either in one statement of
comprehensive income or in two statements—a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income.

e The components of other comprehensive income must be presented in the statement of comprehensive income.
e The total comprehensive income must be disclosed.

The amendment to IAS 1 also requires the relevant amount of income tax per component of other comprehensive
income to be stated and the amounts reclassified as other comprehensive income to be presented. Reclassification
amounts arise from the reclassification of amounts formerly reported under other comprehensive income as profit or
loss. In addition, amounts reported as distributed dividends and corresponding per share amounts must be presented
either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. The provisions of IAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. We have adopted the amendments to IAS 1 in the
2009 financial year and changed the presentation of its financial statements accordingly.
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In January 2008, the IASB published the revised standards IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IAS 27 “Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements.” These standards are the result of the second phase of the project carried out
together with the FASB to reform the accounting methodology for business combinations. The main changes revised
IFRS 3 will provide are as follows:

e The revised standard gives the option of measuring non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the identifiable net assets. This choice can be exercised for each business combination
individually.

¢ In a business combination achieved in stages (step acquisition), the acquirer shall remeasure its previously held
equity interest in the acquiree at the date the acquirer obtains control. Goodwill shall then be determined as the
difference between the remeasured carrying amount plus consideration transferred for the acquisition of the new
shares, minus net assets acquired.

¢ Contingent consideration shall be measured at fair value at the acquisition date and classified either as equity, or as
asset or liability at the acquisition date. Agreed contingent consideration shall be recognized subsequently in
accordance with the classification determined at the acquisition date.

e Acquisition-related costs incurred in connection with business combinations shall be recognized as expenses.

® For changes in contingent consideration classified as a liability at the acquisition date, goodwill cannot be
remeasured subsequently.

e According to the revised IFRS 3, effects from the settlement of relationships existing prior to the business
combination shall not be part of the exchange for the acquiree.

¢ In contrast to the previous version of IFRS 3, the revised standard governs the recognition and measurement of
rights that were granted to another entity prior to the business combination and which are now reacquired as part of
the business combination (reacquired rights).

The main changes that revised IAS 27 will make to the existing requirements are as described below:

e Changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of control shall only be
accounted for within equity.

e [f a parent loses control of a subsidiary it shall derecognize the consolidated assets and liabilities. The new
requirement is that any investment retained in the former subsidiary shall be recognized at fair value at the date
when control is lost; any differences resulting from this shall be recognized in profit or loss.

® When losses attributed to the minority (non-controlling) interests exceed the minority’s interests in the subsidiary’s
equity, these losses shall be allocated to the non-controlling interests even if this results in a deficit balance.

The revised IFRS 3 shall be applied prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after July 1, 2009. Earlier application is
permitted, however, at the earliest from the beginning of an annual reporting period that begins on or after June 30,
2007. The provisions of IAS 27 shall be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009.
Earlier application is permitted. However, the earlier application of one of these two standards requires that the other
standard is also applied at the same earlier time. We will adopt the amendments to IFRS 3 and IAS 27 for business
combinations and transactions with subsidiaries beginning on January 1, 2010.
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In January 2008, the IASB published the revised standard IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations.” The main changes and clarifications of this revision are as follows:

e Vesting conditions relate to service conditions and performance conditions only.
e All cancellations, whether by the entity itself or by employees, should receive the same accounting treatment.
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The amendments to IFRS 2 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The adoption of the
amendments did not have a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash
flows and are not expected to have a material impact in the future.

In February 2008, the IASB amended IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” with respect to the balance sheet classification of puttable financial instruments and obligations arising

only on liquidation as equity or liabilities. As a result of the amendments, some financial instruments that currently

meet the definition of a financial liability will be classified as equity. The amendments have detailed criteria for
identifying such instruments, but they generally would include:

¢ Puttable instruments that are subordinate to all other classes of instruments and that entitle the holder to a pro rata
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of the entity’s liquidation. A puttable instrument is a financial instrument
that gives the holder the right to put the instrument back to the issuer for cash or another financial asset or is
automatically put back to the issuer on the occurrence of an uncertain future event or the death or retirement of the
instrument holder.

¢ [nstruments, or components of instruments, that are subordinate to all other classes of instruments and that impose
on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on
liquidation.

The amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The
adoption of the amendments did not have a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial
position or cash flows.

In May 2008 the IASB issued a collection of necessary, but non-urgent amendments to various IFRS/IAS under its
first “Annual Improvement Process” project. The amendments issued are presented in two parts:

e Amendments that involve accounting changes for presentation, recognition and measurement purposes, and

e Amendments that involve terminology or editorial changes with minimal effect on accounting.

Unless otherwise specified, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. By
amending IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” the IASB clarified that derivative financial instruments
classified as “held for trading” do not necessarily have to be presented as current. Therefore, beginning on January 1,
2009, we present our derivative financial instruments classified as “held for trading” as either current or non-current,
depending on their maturity date. The balance sheet presentation and disclosures for comparison periods have been
adjusted accordingly. For more information, please see “Summary of accounting policies,” contained in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Other amendments have not had a material impact on the presentation of our results
of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In May 2008, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.” The amendments to IFRS 1 allow first-time
adopters a series of simplifications to measure the initial cost of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and associates in separate financial statements. The amendments to IAS 27 relate to reorganizations within a group

and provide for the new parent to measure the cost of its investment in the previous parent at the carrying amount of

its share of the equity items shown in the separate financial statements of the previous parent at the date of the
reorganization. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The
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amendments did not have an impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2008, the IFRIC released IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate.” IFRIC 15 relates to
accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate and sell these
items before construction is completed. The interpretation defines criteria for accounting in accordance with either
IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” or IAS 18 “Revenue.” The provisions of IFRIC 15 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The adoption of IFRIC 15 did not have a material impact on the presentation of
our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2008, the IFRIC issued IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.” IFRIC 16 relates to the
application of net investment hedges. Basically, the interpretation states which risks can be defined as hedged risk and
where the hedging instrument can be held. Hedge accounting may be applied only to the foreign exchange differences
arising between the functional currency of the foreign operation and the parent entity's functional currency. The
derivative or non-derivative hedging instrument(s) may be held by any entity or entities within the group (except the
foreign operation that itself is being hedged), as long as the designation, documentation and effectiveness

requirements of IAS 39.88 that relate to a net investment hedge are satisfied. The provisions of IFRIC 16 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The adoption of IFRIC 16 did not have a material impact on
the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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In July 2008, the IASB published an amendment to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.”
The amendment "Eligible Hedged Items" explicitly allows designating only changes in the cash flows or fair value of
a hedged item above or below a specified price or other variable. The amendment sets forth the conditions for such a
partial designation. The amendment shall be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,
2009. The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.

In October 2008, the IASB published amendments to IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement"
and IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures." “Reclassification of Financial Assets” to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 in
October 2008. The amendments to IAS 39 basically relate to the reclassification of certain financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss into another category. Based on the new rules, if a reclassification is
presented, additional disclosures will be required under IFRS 7. The amendments were effective retrospectively on
July 1, 2008. The adoption of the amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 did not have a material impact on the
presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In November 2008, the IASB issued the revised standard IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards”. The revised provisions of IFRS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1,
2009. In addition, IFRS 1 has been amended in July 2009 and January 2010 adding additional exceptions for first-time
adopters. All amendments to IFRS 1 are not relevant for our financial reporting.

In November 2008, the IFRIC published IFRIC 17 “Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners.” The interpretation
relates to the timing of recognition of liabilities in connection with non-cash dividends paid (e.g. property, plant and
equipment) and how to measure them. In addition, the interpretation relates to how to account for differences between
the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the dividend payable. The provisions of
IFRIC 17 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009. The adoption of IFRIC 17 is not
expected to have a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In January 2009, the IFRIC released IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers”. The interpretation clarifies the
requirements of IFRSs for agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and
equipment (or cash to be used explicitly for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment) that the entity must then
use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or
services. The Interpretation is effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or after July 1, 2009 and
applies prospectively. Earlier application is permitted under certain circumstances. The adoption of IFRIC 18 did not
have a material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In March 2009, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures." The amendments are
entitled "Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments — Amendments to IFRS 7" and also contain minor changes
to IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts.” The amendments to IFRS 7 relate to disclosures about fair value measurements and
disclosures about liquidity risk. The disclosures about fair value measurements specify that a table must be provided
for each clas of financial instruments on the basis of a three-level fair value hierarchy. The scope of the disclosure
requirements is also expanded. A distinction is made between three measurement categories:

e Level 1: At the top level of the fair value hierarchy, fair values are determined based on quoted prices because the
best objective evidence of the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability is quoted prices in an active
market.

e [ evel 2: If the market for a financial instrument is not active, an entity can establish fair value by using a valuation
technique. Valuation techniques include using recent arm's length market transactions between knowledgeable,
willing parties, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis and option pricing models. Fair value is estimated on the basis of the results of a valuation
technique that makes maximum use of market inputs, and relies as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.
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e Level 3: The valuation techniques used at this level are not based on observable market data.
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Disclosures about liquidity risk are also clarified and expanded. For example, the maturity analysis must be
divided into disclosures about derivative and non-derivative financial liabilities. The amendments shall be applied for
financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The adoption of the amendments had a material impact on the
presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In March 2009, the IASB issued amendments to IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives” and IAS 39
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The amendments refer to the accounting treatment of
embedded derivatives for entities that make use of the reclassification amendment issued by the IASB in October

2008. The amendments clarify that on reclassification of a financial asset out of the “at fair value through profit or loss”
category all embedded derivatives have to be assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for in financial
statements. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively for annual periods ending on or after June 30, 2009. The
adoption of the amendments to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 did not have a material impact on the presentation of our results

of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In April 2009 the IASB issued a collection of necessary, but non-urgent amendments to twelve existing standards and
interpretations under its second “Annual Improvement Process” project. Unless otherwise specified, the amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010. The amendments are not expected to have a

material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In June 2009, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”. The amendments relate to the accounting
for group-settled share-based payment transactions, stating that an entity that receives goods or services in a

share-based payment arrangement must account for those goods or services irrespective of which entity within the

group settles the transaction. The amendments to IFRS 2 also incorporate guidance previously included in IFRIC 8
“Scope of IFRS 2” and IFRIC 11 “Group and Treasury Share Transactions”. As a result, the IASB has withdrawn IFRIC 8
and IFRIC 11. The amendments to IFRS 2 shall be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2010. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the presentation of our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

In October 2009, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”. The amendment
clarifies the classification of rights issues as equity or liabilities in cases where rights issues are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the issuer. As hitherto such rights issues were recorded as derivative
liabilities. The amendment requires that rights issues offered pro rata to all of an entity’s existing shareholders are
classified as equity, irrespective of the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. The amendment to IAS 32
shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2010. The amendment is not expected to have a
material impact on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In November 2009, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Until now, entities being
controlled or significantly influenced by a government were required to disclose all transactions with other entities
being controlled or significantly influenced by the same government. The amendments only require disclosures about
individually or collectively significant transactions. The amendments to IAS 24 shall be applied retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on
the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. The standard incorporates the first part of a
three-phase project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 prescribes the
classification and measurement of financial assets. The remaining phases of the project, dealing with the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities, impairment of financial instruments and hedge accounting, as well as a

further project regarding derecognition, have not yet been finalized. The IASB expects to completely replace IAS 39

by the end of 2010. IFRS 9 requires that financial assets are subsequently measured either “at amortized cost” or “at fair
value”, depending on whether certain conditions are met. In addition, IFRS 9 permits an entity to designate an
instrument, that would otherwise have been classified in the “at amortized cost” category, to be “at fair value” if that
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designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. The prescribed category
for equity instruments is at fair value through profit or loss, however, an entity may irrevocably opt for presenting all
fair value changes of equity instruments not held for trading in Other Comprehensive Income. Only dividends
received from these investments are reported in profit or loss. IFRS 9 shall be applied retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier adoption is permitted. We are currently analyzing the resulting
effects on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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In November 2009, the IASB issued “Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement”, an amendment to IFRIC 14,
which is an interpretation of IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. The amendment applies under the limited circumstances that
an entity is subject to minimum funding contributions and refers to voluntary prepayments meeting the requirements

of such contributions. The amendment permits an entity to treat the benefit of such an early payment as an asset. The
amendment has an effective date for mandatory adoption of January 1, 2011. Retrospective adoption is required. We
are currently analyzing the resulting effects on the presentation of our results of operations, financial position or cash
flows.

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments”. The
interpretation gives guidance in interpreting IFRS when an entity renegotiates the terms of a financial liability with its
creditor and the creditor agrees to accept the entity’s shares or other equity instruments to fully or partially settle the
financial liability. IFRIC 19 clarifies that the entity’s equity instruments issued to a creditor are part of the
consideration paid to fully or partially extinguish the financial liability. In addition, the equity instruments issued are
measured at their fair value. If the fair value can not be reliably measured, the equity instruments should be measured
to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the initial measurement amount of the equity instruments issued is included in the
entity’s profit or loss for the period. IFRIC 19 shall be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
July 1, 2010. The adoption of IFRIC 19 is not expected to have a material impact on the presentation of our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.
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ITEM 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

GENERAL

In accordance with the Stock Corporation Act, we have a Supervisory Board and a Management Board (together, the
“Boards”). The two Boards are separate, and according to the Stock Corporation Act, no individual may simultaneously
be a member of both Boards. The Management Board is responsible for managing our company and representing us in
our dealings with third parties. The Supervisory Board appoints and removes the members of the Management Board
and generally oversees the management of our company, but is not permitted to make management decisions.

Both the members of the Management Board and the members of the Supervisory Board owe a duty of loyalty and a
duty of care to our company and its constituents. In carrying out their duties, members of both the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board must exercise the standard of care of a prudent and diligent business person. Our
constituent interests are deemed to include the interests of our shareholders, the interests of our employees and, to
some extent, the interests of the community. The Boards must take all of these interests into account when taking
actions or making decisions. Although there is no explicit obligation to act solely in the interests of shareholders, the
Management Board is required to respect our shareholders’ rights to receive equal treatment and equal information.

Our Supervisory Board has comprehensive monitoring functions. To ensure that these functions are carried out
properly, our Management Board must, among other things, regularly report to our Supervisory Board with regard to
current business operations and future business planning, including any deviation of actual developments from
formerly reported goals. The Supervisory Board is also entitled to request special reports from the Management Board
at any time. Under German law, our Management Board is required to ensure appropriate risk management within our
company and to establish an internal monitoring system.

Pursuant to our Articles of Incorporation (Satzung), the rules of procedure for our Supervisory Board and the rules of
procedure for our Management Board contain a provision requiring the Management Board to obtain the consent of
the Supervisory Board for certain actions, including decisions or measures that fundamentally change the asset,
financial, earnings or risk situation of our company, and measures concerning the corporate structure and acquisitions
or dispositions of equity investments above a limit determined by our Supervisory Board. In addition, under the Stock
Corporation Act, the Supervisory Board is authorized to subject other actions of the Management Board to its consent.

Under German law, shareholders, like other persons, are prohibited from using their influence on us to cause a
member of our Boards to act in a way that is harmful to our company. A controlling enterprise may not cause us to
take measures disadvantageous to us unless any resulting disadvantage is compensated. An individual shareholder or
any other person exerting influence on us to cause a member of our Boards, or holders of special proxies, to act in a
way that is unfavorable to us or our shareholders is liable for damages to us and our shareholders. Board members
who have neglected their duties in taking such actions are, likewise, jointly and severally liable for damages.

As a general rule, under German law, a shareholder has no direct recourse against the members of the Management
Board or the Supervisory Board in the event that they are believed to have breached a duty to our company. Generally,
under German law, only the company has the right to claim damages from the members of the Boards. We may only
waive such damages or settle such claims if at least three years have passed and our shareholders so approve at a
shareholders’ meeting with a simple majority of the votes, provided that the opposing shareholders do not hold, in the
aggregate, one-tenth or more of our nominal share capital and do not formally express their opposition at the
shareholders’ meeting by having their opposition noted in the minutes of the meeting.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

In accordance with the Stock Corporation Act and the Co-Determination Act of 1976 (Mitbestimmungsgesetz), our
Supervisory Board consists of twenty members, ten of whom represent our shareholders and ten of whom represent
our employees. Members of the Supervisory Board may be elected for a term of up to five years and re-election is
permitted. The Chairman and the Deputy Chairman are elected by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the rules
of the Co-Determination Act.

Supervisory Board members representing our shareholders are elected at the annual shareholders’ meeting. The present
shareholder representatives were elected at shareholders’ meetings held in 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The
terms of office of the shareholder representatives expire at the end of the shareholders’ meeting at which the
shareholders discharge the Supervisory Board members in respect of the fourth financial year following the member’s
commencement of tenure of office. The financial year in which tenure of office commences is not counted for this
purpose.

Supervisory Board members representing our employees were last elected on November 4, 2008, by the employees in
accordance with the provisions of the Co-Determination Act. Employees elect ten representatives, made up of
workers, regular employees, at least one senior management employee and three union representatives. Under the laws
that governed our privatization, civil servants, who are not otherwise covered by the Co-Determination Act, are
included in these groups of employee representatives for purposes of these elections.

A member of the Supervisory Board elected by our shareholders may be removed by a shareholders’ resolution by
simple majority of the votes cast. A member of the Supervisory Board elected by our employees may be removed by a
majority of at least three-quarters of the votes cast by the relevant class of employees or union representatives who
elected the relevant Supervisory Board members in accordance with the Co-Determination Act.

The Supervisory Board is required by law to meet at least twice every six months. To achieve a quorum, at least ten of
the members of the Supervisory Board must be present or cast their votes in writing. Except in situations in which a
different majority is required by law, such as the appointment of Management Board members or the election of the
Chairman and Deputy Chairman, the Supervisory Board makes decisions by simple majority of the votes cast. If, in
the event of a deadlock, a second vote again results in a tie, the chairman of the Supervisory Board can cast the
deciding vote.
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Members of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom
The Supervisory Board met six times in 2009. No member attended less than 50% of the meetings of the Supervisory

Board. For 2009, the members of our Supervisory Board, the years in which they were appointed, the years of the
shareholders’ meetings at which their current terms expire and their principal occupations were as follows:

Prof. Dr. Ulrich LehnerMember since:

Chairman Expiration of Current Term:
Principal Occupation:
Supervisory Board
Memberships/Directorships:

Lothar Schroder Member since:

Deputy Chairman Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Jorg Asmussen Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Hermann Josef Becker Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Dr. Wulf H. Bernotat Member since:
Expiration of current term:

Principal Occupation:

April 17, 2008 (Chairman since April 25, 2008)
Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Member of the Shareholders’ Committee, Henkel
AG & Co. KGaA, Disseldorf

E.ON AG, Diisseldorf

Henkel Management AG, Diisseldorf

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG, Diisseldorf
Novartis AG, Basel, Switzerland, Board of
Directors

Dr. August Oetker KG, Bielefeld, Advisory Board
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Stuttgart

Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart
ThyssenKrupp AG, Diisseldorf

June 22, 2006

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Member of the ver.di National Executive Board,
Berlin

T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Bonn,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

July 1, 2008

Shareholders’ Meeting 2014

State Secretary in the Federal Ministry of Finance
(Bundesministerium der Finanzen), Berlin
Deutsche Bahn AG, Berlin (April until November
2009)

DB Mobility Logistics AG, Berlin (June until
November 2009)

Deutsche Gesellschaft fiir Technische
Zusammenarbeit GmbH (GTZ), Frankfurt/Main
January 1, 2008

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Member of the management Deutsche Telekom
Direct Sales and Consulting as well as Chairman of
the Group Executive Staff Representation
Committee and Executive Staff Representation
Committee, Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

None

January 1, 2010

Shareholders’ Meeting 2010

Chairman of the Board of Management, E.ON AG,
Diisseldorf
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Supervisory Board
Memberships/Directorships:

Allianz SE, Munich *

Bertelsmann AG, Giitersloh

E.ON Energie AG**, Munich, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

E.ON Ruhrgas AG**, Essen, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

E.ON Sverige AB**, Malmo, Sweden, Chairman of
the Board of Directors

E.ON US Investments Corp.**, Delaware, USA,
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Metro AG, Diisseldorf *

(*listed company outside of the E.ON group)
(** mandates within the E.ON group)
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Hans Martin Bury

Josef Falbisoner

Dr. Hubertus von
Griinberg

Lawrence H. Guffey

Ulrich Hocker
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Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:
Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

2002

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Chairwoman of the Central Works Council at
Group Headquarters,

Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn

None

Shareholders’ Meeting 2008

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Managing Partner, Hering Schuppener
Strategieberatung fiir Kommunikation GmbH,
Diisseldorf (from April 1, 2009)

Managing Director, Nomura Bank (Deutschland)
GmbH,

Frankfurt/Main (until March 31, 2009)

None

1997

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Chairman of the Bavarian District of the Union
ver.di

PSD-Bank e.G., Munich, Augsburg office

2000

Shareholders’ Meeting 2011

Serves as member of several supervisory boards
ABB Ltd., Ziirich, Switzerland, President of the
Board of Directors

Allianz-Versicherungs AG, Munich

Continental AG, Hanover, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

(until March 2009)

Schindler Holding AG, Hergiswil, Switzerland,
Administrative Board

2006

Shareholders’ Meeting 2012

Senior Managing Director, The Blackstone Group
International Ltd., London

Axtel Ote, San Pedro Gaza Garcia, Nuevo Leon,
Mexico

Cineworld Corp., London, UK (until November
2009)

TDC AS, Copenhagen, Denmark

Paris Review, New York, USA

2006

Shareholders’ Meeting 2012

Manager in Chief of Deutsche Schutzvereinigung
fiir Wertpapierbesitz e.V.

(DSW), Diisseldorf

Arcandor AG, Essen, (until October 2009)
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Supervisory Board
Memberships/Directorships:

Member since:
Expiration of Current Term:
Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board
Memberships/Directorships:

E.ON AG, Diisseldorf

Feri Finance AG, Bad Homburg,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Gartmore SICAV, Luxembourg

Phoenix Mecano AG, President of the
Administrative Board

ThyssenKrupp Stainless AG, Duisburg (until
September 2009)

2002

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Chairman of the Central Works Council Deutsche
Telekom Geschiftskunden, Bonn

PSD Bank RheinNeckarSaar e.G.,

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
T-Systems Business Services GmbH, Bonn (until
April 2009)
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Hans-Jiirgen Kallmeier Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Sylvia Kiihnast Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Waltraud Litzenberger Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Michael Loffler Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Prof. h. c. (CHN),
Dr.-Ing. E.h. Dr.
Ulrich Middelmann

Member since:

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Expiration of Current Term:

October 15, 2008

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Chairman of the Central Works Council, T-Systems
International GmbH,

Frankfurt/Main

None

Shareholders’ Meeting 2007

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Consulting function to the Central Works Council,
T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Hanover

None

1999

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Chairwoman of the Group Works Council and the
European

Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn
PSD-Bank eG, Koblenz (until June 2009)

1995

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

Member of the Works Council of Deutsche
Telekom Netzproduktion GmbH, Bonn, Technical
Infrastructure Branch Office, Central/Eastern
District

None

January 1, 2010

Shareholders’ Meeting 2010

Former Deputy Chairman of the Board of
Management, ThyssenKrupp AG,

Duisburg and Essen

Commerzbank AG *, Frankfurt

E.ON Ruhrgas AG, Essen

Hoberg & Driesch GmbH, Diisseldorf, Chairman of
the Advisory Board

LANXESS AG *, Leverkusen

LANXESS Deutschland GmbH, Leverkusen
ThyssenKrupp Acciai Speciali Terni S.p.A.**,
Terni, Italy ThyssenKrupp

(China) Ltd.**, Beijing, People’s Republic of China
ThyssenKrupp Elevator AG**, Diisseldorf
ThyssenKrupp Marine Systems AG**, Hamburg
ThyssenKrupp Materials International GmbH**,
Diisseldorf

ThyssenKrupp Nirosta GmbH**, Krefeld
ThyssenKrupp Steel Europe AG**, Duisburg
(*listed company outside of the ThyssenKrupp

group)
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Member since:
Expiration of Current Term:
Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board
Memberships/Directorships:

(**mandates within the ThyssenKrupp group)
October 1, 2008

Shareholders’ Meeting 2014

Chairman of the Managing Board KfW,
Frankfurt/Main

DEG - Deutsche Investitions- und
Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH*, Cologne (since
October 2009)

Deutsche Post AG, Bonn

KfW IPEX-Bank GmbH*, Frankfurt/Main (since
October 2009)

ProHealth AG, Munich

(*mandates within the KfW group)
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Michael Sommer Member since:

Expiration of Current Term:

Principal Occupation:
Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Dr. h.c. Bernhard
Walter

Member since:
Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Expiration of Current Term:

2000

Shareholders’ Meeting 2013

President of the Trade Union Council, Berlin
Deutsche Postbank AG, Bonn, Deputy Chairman of
the Supervisory Board

KfW, Frankfurt/Main, Board of Supervisory
Directors

1999

Shareholders’ Meeting 2011

Former Speaker of the Management Board,
Dresdner Bank AG, Frankfurt

BilfingerBerger AG, Mannheim, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

Daimler AG, Stuttgart

Henkel AG & CO KGaA, Diisseldorf

Hypo Real Estate Holding AG, Munich, Deputy
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until August
2009)

The following individuals resigned from the Supervisory Board during 2009:

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang =~ Member since:
Reitzle

Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Prof. Dr. Wulf von
Schimmelmann

Member since:
Principal Occupation:

Supervisory Board

Memberships/Directorships:

Expiration of Current Term:

Expiration of Current Term:

2005

December 31, 2009

Chairman of the Management Board, Linde AG,
Munich

Continental AG, Hanover (since September 2009),
Chairman of the Supervisory Board (since October
2009)

KION Group GmbH, Wiesbaden (until December
2009)

The BOC Group plc.*, Guildford, UK

(*mandate within Linde group)

Shareholders’ Meeting 2006

December 31, 2009

Former Chairman of the Management Board,
Postbank AG, Bonn

accenture Corp., Irving, Texas, USA

BAWAG P.S K. AG, Vienna, Austria, Chairman of
the Supervisory Board

(until October 2009)

Deutsche Post AG, Bonn, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board

maxingvest ag, Hamburg

Western Union, Denver, USA (since July 2009)
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KfW is a state-owned bank. The Federal Republic of Germany holds 80% of KfW’s share capital, and the German
federal states hold the remaining 20%. As of December 31, 2009, KfW holds a stake of approximately 30.5% in
Deutsche Post AG. The Federal Ministry of Finance is a ministry of the Federal Republic. Among our Supervisory
Board members in 2009, Mr. Becker, Ms. Brandl, Mr. Holzwarth, Mr. Kallmeier, Ms. Kiihnast, Ms. Litzenberger and
Mr. Loffler are employees of Deutsche Telekom Group companies.

The shareholder representatives currently on our Supervisory Board are: Mr. Asmussen, Dr. Bernotat (since January 1,
2010), Mr. Bury, Dr. von Griinberg, Mr. Guffey, Mr. Hocker, Prof. Dr. Lehner, Prof. h. c. (CHN) Dr.-Ing. E.h.

Dr. Middelmann (since January 1, 2010), Dr. Schréder and Dr. h. c. Walter, Prof. Dr. Reitzle and Prof. Dr. von
Schimmelmann resigned with the end of December 31, 2009.

The Supervisory Board maintains the following committees, which are governed by the Rules of Procedure of the
Supervisory Board as to their composition and responsibilities in compliance with statutory requirements:

® The General Committee is responsible for deciding the terms of the service contracts and other
contractual arrangements between Deutsche Telekom AG and the members of the Management Board. In
particular, the General Committee determines salaries and incentive compensation awards for members of
the Management Board and establishes goals for performance-based compensation plans. Members of the
General Committee are: Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner (Chairman), Jorg Asmussen, Waltraud Litzenberger and
Lothar Schroder. The General Committee met seven times in 2009. Additionally, the General and the
Finance Committees met once in 2009 for a joint meeting.
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e The Audit Committee is responsible for oversight of accounting and risk management, auditor independence,
questions regarding the issuing of the audit mandate to the auditors, the determination of auditing focal points and
the fee agreement with the auditors following approval of the auditors by the shareholders, and matters that the
audit committee of a NYSE-listed foreign private issuer is required to be responsible for pursuant to the SEC and
NYSE regulations and under U.S. law, including the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”).
The current members of the Audit Committee are Dr. h. ¢. Bernhard Walter (Chairman), Hermann Josef Becker,
Hans Martin Bury, Lawrence H. Guffey, Lothar Holzwarth and Waltraud Litzenberger. The Audit Committee met
five times in 2009.

e The Finance Committee is responsible for reviewing and consulting on complex finance and business matters
concerning Deutsche Telekom. Those matters are delegated by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, or the
Supervisory Board itself, to the Finance Committee. In addition, the Finance Committee also reviews our Annual
Reports during meetings with our auditors in advance of the meeting of the Supervisory Board relating to the
approval of our financial statements pursuant to the Stock Corporation Act. The membership of the Finance
Committee is the same as that of the Audit Committee. The Finance Committee met once in 2009. The Finance
Committee and General Committee met once for a joint meeting in 2009.

e The Personnel Committee is responsible for the personnel-related matters of Deutsche Telekom AG, in particular
with respect to staff structure and human resources development and planning. The members of this committee are:
Lothar Schroder (Chairman), Dr. Hubertus von Griinberg, Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner and Waltraud Litzenberger. The
Personnel Committee met twice in 2009.

e The Nomination Committee was established in December 2007 in accordance with the German Corporate
Governance recommendations. The Nomination Committee is responsible for nominating candidates as
shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board to be elected at the shareholders’ meeting. Members
of the Nomination Committee are the shareholder representatives of the General Committee. The
Nomination Committee prepared the Supervisory Board’s nomination of shareholder representatives who
were elected at the Shareholders’ Meeting 2009 and who are nominated for the Shareholders’ Meeting
2010.

In addition to the committees mentioned above, the Supervisory Board has a Mediation Committee. This committee’s
function is to assist the Supervisory Board by making proposals for Management Board member nominees in the
event that the two-thirds majority of employee votes needed to appoint a Management Board member is not obtained.
The current members are Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner, Dr. Hubertus von Griinberg, Waltraud Litzenberger and Lothar
Schroder. The Mediation Committee did not meet in 2009.

In addition, a special committee has been established as of January 1, 2010 to monitor the company's participation in
the spectrum auction for the fourth generation of mobile communications in Germany. The members are Prof. Dr.
Ulrich Lehner (Chairman), Waltraud Litzenberger, Lothar Schroder und Dr. h. c. Bernhard Walter.

Each of the committees of the Supervisory Board (with the exception of the Nomination Committee) has an equal
number of shareholder representatives and employee representatives. The chairman of the Supervisory Board also
serves as chairman of the General Committee. The chairman has the deciding vote in case of a deadlock on matters
voted on in the General Committee. The chairman of the Audit Committee and the Finance Committee is a
representative of the shareholders. The chairman of the Personnel Committee is a representative of the employees.
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Pursuant to our Articles of Incorporation, the Supervisory Board determines the size of the Management Board,
subject to the requirement that the Management Board must have at least two members. The Supervisory Board may
appoint a Chairman of the Management Board as well as a Deputy Chairman. The Supervisory Board appoints the
members of the Management Board for terms of up to five years, and members may be re-appointed or have their
terms extended for one or more terms of up to five years each. Under certain circumstances, such as a material breach
of duty or a bona fide vote of “no confidence” by our shareholders, the Supervisory Board may remove a member of the
Management Board prior to the expiration of that member’s term. A member of the Management Board may not deal
with, or vote on, matters relating to proposals, arrangements or contracts between himself and our company. The
Management Board takes action by simple majority, unless otherwise provided by law, as in the case of a vote on the
adoption of rules of procedure. In the event of a deadlock, the Management Board member into whose area of
responsibility the resolution falls has the deciding vote. If the resolution falls into an area that is not allocated to a
particular Management Board member, the Chairman of the Management Board has the deciding vote. The
Management Board generally meets on a weekly basis.

Members of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom

The name, age, term of office, current position and business experience of the members of our Management Board in
2009 are set forth below. The current members of the Management Board may be contacted at our registered address.

René Obermann, born in 1963, has been Chairman of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom AG since
November 13, 2006. From December 1, 2002 until November 12, 2006, he was in charge of mobile operations on the
Management Board, served as CEO of T-Mobile International and was responsible for the Mobile Communications
strategic business area. Mr. Obermann became a member of the Management Board of T-Mobile International in
June 2001, responsible for European Operations. From April 2000 until March 2002, Mr. Obermann was Chief
Executive Officer of T-Mobile Deutschland. Between April 1998 and March 2000, Mr. Obermann was Managing
Director of Sales at T-Mobile Deutschland. He started his career by setting up the company ABC Telekom, in
Muenster after completing a business traineeship with BMW AG in Munich between 1984 and 1986. In 1991, he
became Managing Partner of Hutchison Mobilfunk, successor of ABC Telecom. From 1993 to 1998, he was
Chairman of that company’s management board. Mr. Obermann was also Chairman of the former German Association
of Mobile Communication Service Providers during 1995 and 1996.

Expiration of current term: October 31, 2011

Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None

Dr. Manfred Balz, born in 1944, has been a Member of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom AG since
October 22, 2008. From April 1997 until October 21, 2008 he was Head of Deutsche Telekom’s Legal Department.
From 1974 until 1990 Dr. Balz was in charge of corporate law, insolvency law and international treaties and
organizations, with the German Federal Ministry of Justice. From 1990 until 1993 he was General Counsel of
Treuhandanstalt, the German government instrumentality for privatizing the former East German socialist economy.
From 1993 until 1997 he was a partner of the international law firm Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering, heading the firm’s
Berlin office.

Expiration of current term: October 21, 2012

Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: Arcandor AG (insolvent), Essen
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Reinhard Clemens, born in 1960, was appointed on December 1, 2007 to the Management Board of Deutsche
Telekom AG responsible for the T-Systems operating segment and as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of T-Systems
International GmbH.

He graduated with a degree in electrical engineering from the RWTH Aachen University in Aachen, Germany.

Mr. Clemens began his career as General Manager of the Association for Industry Automation in 1990. In 1994,

Mr. Clemens started his career at IBM, holding various positions in sales, service and outsourcing until he left the
company in 2001 to join Systematics AG. There he served as member of the Management Board responsible for sales.
In 2001, Mr. Clemens began working for EDS in Germany. As the Chairman of the Executive Board, he was
responsible for sales, business operations and strategy in Central and Eastern Europe.

Expiration of current term: November 30, 2012
Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None
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Niek Jan van Damme, born in 1961, has been a member of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG since
March 2009. As of July 2009 he is responsible for Germany - i. e. sales, marketing and service for fixed and mobile
communications in Germany. Furthermore he is Chairman of the T-Home Board of Management and since October
2009 Chairman of the Managing Board T-Mobile in Germany.

From January 2004 to 2009, Niek Jan van Damme was Chairman of the Managing Board of T-Mobile Netherlands
where his successes included the integration of the mobile communications and fixed-network activities of Orange
Netherlands into T-Mobile Netherlands (October 2007). In that position, he represented one of the core mobile
communications markets on the Executive Committee of the T-Mobile International group.

Niek Jan van Damme studied Economics at the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam. He started his career with Procter &
Gamble in 1986 before joining the Dutch retailer Ahold in 1993. Niek Jan van Damme was a Managing Partner at
Floor Heijn Retail from 1997 until he joined Ben Nederland, later T-Mobile Netherlands, as Director for Marketing
Communications in June 1999.

Expiration of current term: February 28, 2014
Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None

Timotheus Hottges, born in 1962, has been member of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG
responsible for Finance and Controlling since March 1, 2009.

From December 2006 until his appointment as Chief Financial Officer, he was the Group Board of Management
member responsible for the T-Home unit. In this position, he was in charge of fixed-network and broadband business,
as well as integrated sales and service in Germany. Under his leadership, T-Home became the market leader in terms
of new DSL customers and developed its Internet TV service, Entertain, into a mass-market product while at the same
time stabilizing its profitability.

After successfully implementing various cost-cutting programs at T-Home and in the European mobile
communications subsidiaries, Mr. Hottges became responsible for the Group-wide Save for Service efficiency
enhancement program. From 2005 until being appointed to the Group Board of Management, Mr. Hottges headed
European operations as member of the Board of Management, T-Mobile International. From 2000 until the end of
2004, he was Managing Director, Finance and Controlling, before becoming Chairman of the Managing Board of
T-Mobile Deutschland.

Mr. Hottges studied business administration at Cologne University, after which he spent three years with a business
consulting company, latterly as a project manager. At the end of 1992, he moved to the VIAG Group in Munich. He
became divisional manager in 1997 and, later, a member of the extended management board responsible for
controlling, corporate planning, and mergers and acquisitions. As project manager, he played a central role in the
merger of VIAG AG and VEBA AG to form E.ON AG, which became effective on September 27, 2000.

Expiration of current term: February 28, 2014
Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Miinchen (since February 2010)

Guido Kerkhoff, born in 1967, has been Member of the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom AG responsible
for Southern and Eastern Europe since March 2009. In this position, he is responsible for managing Deutsche
Telekom’s subsidiaries in Southern and Eastern Europe, which offer both fixed-network and mobile communications
services. This region includes the companies OTE (Greece), Magyar Telekom (Hungary), Slovak Telekom (Slovakia)
and T-Hrvatski Telekom (Croatia), with additional subsidiaries in Albania, Macedonia, Montenegro and Romania.
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Since April 2002, Guido Kerkhoff has held various management positions in Deutsche Telekom’s Finance department
and was Head of Group Accounting and Controlling since mid-2006.

Having graduated with a degree in Business Administration, Guido Kerkhoff began his career in the Group
Accounting department of VEW AG from 1995 through 1996. He then moved to Bertelsmann AG, where he most
recently headed up the department responsible for projects and general corporate accounting and controlling issues for
over three years.

Expiration of current term: February 28, 2014

Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None
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Thomas Sattelberger, born in 1949, has been Chief Human Resources Officer of Deutsche Telekom AG since May 3,
2007. He also held positions on the boards of management of Continental AG and Deutsche Lufthansa AG. Prior to
these positions he was responsible for various management functions at Daimler-Benz AG. His areas of focus are the
strategic orientation of human resources, corporate restructuring, education policy, international talent management
and global labor cost management. Thomas Sattelberger is a member of management committees at business schools
in various countries, is Vice President of the European Foundation for Management Development (Brussels) and
chairman of the council on university-business cooperation of the German Employers’ Federation and the German
Rectors’ Conference.

Expiration of current term: May 2, 2012
Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None

Changes to the Board of Management

Hamid Akhavan, born in 1961, has been Member of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom from

December 5, 2006 until February 14, 2010. Mr. Akhavan asked the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom in
December 2009 to terminate his position, which was not due to expire until 2011. Mr. Akhavan has been Chief
Operating Officer (COO) of the Deutsche Telekom Group since July 2009. As COO, Hamid Akhavan has continued
to remain responsible for the operation of the mobile markets in Europe. In addition his group wide responsibilities
have included Products and Innovation as well as the areas of Technology, IT and Procurement. He has been
responsible for mobile communications companies on the Board of Management of Deutsche Telekom since
December 5, 2006, when he was appointed Chief Executive Officer of T-Mobile International AG.

Hamid Akhavan was previously Chief Technology and Information Officer (CTO) on the Management Board of
T-Mobile International. Following a strategic realignment, he was also appointed CTO of the Deutsche Telekom
Group in September 2006. Mr. Akhavan has been working at T-Mobile International since September 2001 and was
appointed to the Management Board in December 2002. Before that, he was Chief Technical Officer and Chief
Information Officer at Teligent Inc., an international broadband fixed and wireless access company, and held various
positions at other technology companies. Hamid Akhavan graduated from the California Institute of Technology
(CALTECH) with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science. He received a
Master’s degree from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) in the same fields.

Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom: None

Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick, born in 1954, was Head of the Finance Department and a member of the Management Board
of Deutsche Telekom AG from January 2000 until February 28, 2009. Dr. Fick asked the Supervisory Board of
Deutsche Telekom in December 2008 to terminate his position as Chief Financial Officer, which was not due to expire
until 2012. In November 2002, he was appointed Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom
AG. From January 1, 2007 to May 2, 2007, Dr. Eick provisionally took over responsibility for Human Resources on
the Board. From June 1, 2007 to November 30, 2007, he was also acting Board member for Business Customers,
responsible for T-Systems. After studying business administration and earning a doctorate, Dr. Eick worked in various
positions for BMW AG between 1982 and 1988. From 1989 to 1991 he acted as head of Controlling at WMF AG in
Geislingen. In 1991, he became head of the Controlling, Planning and IT Division for the Carl Zeiss group. From
1993 to 1999, he held top management positions with the Haniel Group, where he was responsible for the Controlling,
Business Administration and IT Division of the strategic management holding company of Franz Haniel & Cie.
GmbH.

Other board memberships outside Deutsche Telekom until the expiration of his term: CORPUS SIREO Holding
GmbH & Co. KG, Cologne, (Chairman of the Supervisory Board); Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main
(Supervisory Board); FC Bayern Miinchen AG, Munich (Supervisory Board); STRABAG Property and Facility
Services GmbH (Supervisory Board); Thomas Cook Group plc (Group Board/Director)
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At its meeting on February 26, 2009, the Supervisory Board appointed Timotheus Hottges as the new Board of
Management member responsible for finance and Niek Jan van Damme as the new Board of Management member for
T-Home and, Sales and Service. Both appointments became effective March 1, 2009. The Supervisory Board also
established a new Board of Management department for Southern and Eastern Europe with effect from March 1, 2009
to account for the growing significance of the Southern and Eastern European region and to bundle responsibility for
the existing operations in the region. Guido Kerkhoff was selected to head this department and was appointed to the
Board of Management effective March 1, 2009.

On January 29, 2010, the Supervisory Board approved the proposal by the Board of Management to reassign Hamid
Akhavan's responsibilities on a temporary basis. Board of Management members Guido Kerkhoff and Reinhard
Clemens assumed Hamid Akhavan’s responsibilities in an acting capacity. Effective February 15, 2010, Guido
Kerkhoff assumed temporary responsibility for the Europe region (United Kingdom, Netherlands, Austria, Poland and
Czech Republic) and International Sales and Service. Reinhard Clemens, also in an acting capacity, assumed
Group-wide responsibility for the remaining COO units, such as Products & Innovation, Technology, IT and
Procurement effective the same date. On February 24, 2010 the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom approved the
proposal by the Board of Management to extend Board Member Guido Kerkhoff’s area of responsibility on a
permanent basis. As of April 1, 2010, he will assume additional responsibility for the mobile-centric companies in
Austria, the Czech Republic, the Netherlands, Poland and the United Kingdom, as well as for International Sales and
Service.
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COMPENSATION

Supervisory Board Compensation
Our Atrticles of Incorporation provide each member of our Supervisory Board with compensation comprised of:
¢ fixed annual remuneration amounting to EUR 20,000;
e short-term success remuneration; and

¢ long-term success remuneration.

The short-term success remuneration amounts to EUR 300 for each whole EUR 0.01 that the net profit per share of
Deutsche Telekom AG exceeds EUR 0.50 in the financial year for which the remuneration is paid.

The long-term success remuneration amounts to EUR 300 for every 4.0% that the net profit per share of Deutsche
Telekom AG in the second financial year (the reference year) following the measurement year exceeds the net profit
per share in the measurement year. The long-term success remuneration for a particular measurement year may not
exceed the long-term success remuneration for the year preceding that measurement year, unless the net revenues of
the Deutsche Telekom Group in the reference year exceeds the net revenues of the Deutsche Telekom Group in the
financial year preceding the measurement year.

Neither the short-term nor the long-term success remuneration payment may exceed the fixed annual remuneration
amount of EUR 20,000. Additionally, the short-term success remuneration may not exceed a total of 0.02% of
Deutsche Telekom’s unappropriated net profit reported in the approved annual financial statements of the measurement
year, reduced by an amount equivalent to 4.0% of the contributions made on the lowest issue price of the shares at the
end of the financial year.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives two times, and the Deputy Chairman one-and-a-half times, the
amount of remuneration described above.

Remuneration is increased by 0.5 times the above amounts for each membership on a Supervisory Board committee,
and by an additional 0.5 times for each chairmanship held on a Supervisory Board committee, but in no case by more
than two times the above amounts. Membership on, or chairmanship of, a committee formed pursuant to Section 27(3)
of the Co-Determination Act, as well as membership or chairmanship of the Nomination Committee, is not taken into
account.

In addition, members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket expenses and
receive an attendance fee amounting to EUR 200 for each meeting of the Supervisory Board or its committees
attended. The VAT payable on this compensation is borne by us.

Members of the Supervisory Board who are on the Supervisory Board for only part of the year receive one-twelfth of
the above remuneration for each month of membership or part thereof. The same applies to the increases in
remuneration for the Supervisory Board Chairman and Deputy Chairman, and to the increases in remuneration for
Supervisory Board committee membership or chairmanship, as set forth above.
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None of the members of the Supervisory Board has a service contract with us, or any of our subsidiaries, providing for
benefits upon termination of employment.

The annual remuneration in 2009 for members of our Supervisory Board amounted to an aggregate of EUR
817,890.00 inclusive of attendance fees (including VAT, according to Article 13 of our Articles of Incorporation).

The total remuneration in 2009 for members of our Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 1,724,389.61 (inclusive of
EUR 896,017.61 reflecting the salaries and EUR 10,482.00 reflecting the amount set aside or accrued by Deutsche
Telekom to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits in 2009 of Supervisory Board members in their capacity as
employees of Deutsche Telekom AG or its affiliated companies). Of the amount of the total remuneration, EUR
817,890.00 (including attendance fees and VAT) will be paid following the shareholders’ meeting on May 3, 2010.
135

239



Edgar Filing: DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG - Form 20-F

Table of Contents
The compensation (exclusive of VAT) of the individual members of the Supervisory Board for their services as
Supervisory Board members in 2009 was as follows:

Imputed
Fixed Long-Term
Remuneration Short-Term Remuneration
Members of the Supervisory Board 2009 Plus Attendance Fees Variable Total (net) Entitlement(1)
Jorg Asmussen 32,400.00 0.00 32,400.00 0.00
Hermann Josef Becker 42,800.00 0.00 42,800.00 0.00
Monika Brandl 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Hans Martin Bury 42,000.00 0.00 42,000.00 0.00
Josef Falbisoner 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Dr. Hubertus von Griinberg 31,400.00 0.00 31,400.00 0.00
Lawrence H. Guffey 42,600.00 0.00 42,600.00 0.00
Ulrich Hocker 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Lothar Holzwarth(2) 42,400.00 0.00 42,400.00 0.00
Hans-Jiirgen Kallmeier 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Sylvia Kiihnast 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Prof. Dr. Ulrich Lehner 73,400.00 0.00 73,400.00 0.00
Waltraud Litzenberger 64,600.00 0.00 64,600.00 0.00
Michael Loffler 21,400.00 0.00 21,400.00 0.00
Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Reitzle 20,800.00 0.00 20,800.00 0.00
Prof. Dr. Wulf von Schimmelmann 21,000.00 0.00 21,000.00 0.00
Lothar Schroder(3) 63,400.00 0.00 63,400.00 0.00
Dr. Ulrich Schroder 21,000.00 0.00 21,000.00 0.00
Michael Sommer 20,600.00 0.00 20,600.00 0.00
Dr. h.c. Bernhard Walter 62,600.00 0.00 62,600.00 0.00
Total 709,400.00 0.00 709,400.00 0.00

(1)In determining the amount to be recognized as provision it was assumed that net profit per no par value share in
2011 would equal that in 2009. Based on this assumption, each ordinary member is entitled to EUR 0.0 for the total
year for the period 2008 to 2011. Upon application of the multiplying factor, the provision amount totals
EUR 0.00.

(2)During 2009, Mr. Holzwarth received Supervisory Board compensation of EUR 3,173.33 (including VAT) from
T-Systems Business Services GmbH, Bonn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom AG, for his mandate
as a member of the Supervisory Board of T-Systems Business Services until April 1, 2009. On April 1, 2009,
T-Systems Business Services GmbH was merged into Deutsche Telekom AG.

(3)During 2009, Mr. Schroder received Supervisory Board compensation of EUR 20,706.00 (including VAT) from
T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Bonn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom AG, for his mandate as a
member of the Supervisory Board of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH.

Compensation of the Management Board

The compensation of the members of the Management Board is comprised of various components. Under the terms of
their service contracts, members of the Management Board are entitled to annual fixed and variable remuneration,
long-term variable remuneration (Mid-Term Incentive Plan, or MTIP) and fringe benefits and deferred benefits based
on company pension obligations. The structure of the compensation system and the appropriateness of compensation
for the Management Board are established and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Supervisory Board.
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Fixed remuneration, variable incentive-based remuneration and fringe benefits

Total compensation is generally two-thirds variable and one-third fixed if targets are achieved in full. The
non-performance-based components are comprised of a fixed salary, fringe benefits and pension obligations, while the
performance-based components are split into variable performance-based remuneration and a long-term incentive
component.

Fixed remuneration is determined for all members of the Management Board based on market conditions in
accordance with the requirements of the Stock Corporation Act.

The annual variable remuneration for each of the members of the Management Board is based on the achievement of
targets set by the Supervisory Board prior to commencement of the financial year. The targets comprise Group
objectives and individual objectives for each member of the Management Board, including adjusted EBITDA, free
cash-flow and adjusted net profit.

At its discretion and after due consideration, the Supervisory Board may also reward individual or all Management
Board members for extraordinary performance with a special bonus.

Based on market-oriented and industry standards, we grant all members of the Management Board additional benefits
under their service contracts, some of which are non-cash benefits, which are taxed accordingly. These benefits
mainly include the use of a car at our expense, accident and disability insurance, and maintaining a business-related
second household.

We make contributions, including the payment of related taxes, for term life insurance with standard coverage
(EUR 1.3 million) for several of our Management Board members. The related expenses are included in the Total
Compensation table below under “Other Compensation.”

Ancillary employment generally requires prior approval. Generally no additional compensation is paid for being a
member of the Management Board or Supervisory Board of other Group companies.

Arrangements in the event of termination of a position on the Management Board

Severance arrangements

The terms of the service agreements of the members of the Management Board are linked to their terms of
appointment as Management Board members. If we terminate the appointment of a member of the Board of
Management without being entitled to terminate simultaneously for cause the service agreement under civil law, the
Management Board member is entitled to a contractually determined severance payment. This severance payment is
calculated, subject to present value discounting, on the basis of the imputed remaining term of appointment in the
current term of office (up to a maximum of 36 months) and 100% of the fixed annual salary and 75% of the variable
remuneration based on an assumed 100% achievement of performance targets.

Change of control
The service agreements for the members of the Management Board do not confer any entitlements to benefits in the

event of the termination of Management Board membership as the result of a change of control of our Company.
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Severance Cap

Beginning in 2009, new contracts for Management Board members include a severance cap in the event of premature
termination without cause allowing a compensation payment which, in line with the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code, is restricted to a maximum of two year’s remuneration and may not be higher than the
compensation for the remaining period of the contract.

Post-contractual prohibition of competition

The contracts of the members of the Management Board include generally a post-employment prohibition on
competition. Unless otherwise agreed, members of the Management Board are prohibited from rendering services to
or on behalf of a competitor for one year following their departure. As compensation for this restricted period, they
receive a payment in the amount of the annual fixed compensation last received.
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Company pension entitlement

The members of the Management Board are entitled to receive a company pension from us. The pension amount is
based on final salary, which means that members of the Management Board receive a pension based on a fixed
percentage of their last fixed annual salary for each year of service rendered prior to their date of retirement. The key
features of the pension plan for members of the Management Board active in 2009 are described below.

Members of the Management Board become entitled to pension payments in the form of a life-long retirement pension
upon reaching the age of 62, and a disability pension or an early retirement pension upon reaching the age of 60
(subject to certain actuarial deductions). The amount of the pension is calculated on the basis of the eligible period of
service rendered as a member of the Management Board until the date of departure.

The annual retirement pension is comprised of a base percentage (6% for Mr. Obermann and Dr. Eick and 5% for the
remaining Management Board members) of the fixed annual salary upon termination of the service relationship
multiplied by the eligible service period expressed in years. After 10 years of Management Board membership, the
maximum percentage of the pension level is achieved (60% for Mr. Obermann and Dr. Eick and 50% for the
remaining Management Board members). Pension payments are subject to a standard annual adjustment (3% for Mr.
Obermann and Dr. Fick and 1% for the remaining members of the Management Board). In the event of a permanent
inability to work (invalidity), the respective period of service through the scheduled end of the current period of
appointment serves as the basis for the period of service eligible for calculating the pension.

Due to his U.S. citizenship and the different taxation regulations applicable in Germany and the United States, a
“pension plan substitute” was agreed with Mr. Akhavan in lieu of such a pension commitment. For each full year of
service rendered as a member of the Management Board, Mr. Akhavan will receive a compensation payment
corresponding to the pension contribution for that year. The resulting annual payment which he receives for each full
year of service rendered is recorded under “Other compensation” in the table “Management Board Total Compensation.”
Dr. Balz is not covered by the Board of Management pension entitlements described above. Dr. Balz’s pension
arrangement under his previous employment contract as General Counsel (Deutsche Telekom AG capital account
plan) remains in place. Mr. Kerkhoff and Mr. van Damme are also not covered by the pension entitlement described
above. Subject to Supervisory Board 